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04 KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBRE

FY 2020
-—7-—qu

FY 2019
—ZT—NF
BT E

HK$’ million B &7t

MREE
HK$’million B&E# 7t

Revenue =2 43,510.3 41,160.9 +6%
EBITDA* AABRFE - HE -
e 10,059.2 8,245.9 +22%
T8 R AT BRI ’
Profit before tax* RRF1 Al 2 Al 7,912.1 5,565.0 +42%
Net profit attributable to owners  Zx7A T)#58 A FE(L 4 F)
of the Company
— Underlying net profit* — E AR 4,685.8 3,415.8 +37%
— Reported net profit —BRmEARF 4,702.9 3,094 .4 +562%
Basic earnings per share BREXRRBF
- Based on underlying net profit* — DAE AR g R 5 HK$4.241 HK$3.146 +35%
- Based on reported net profit — ABRE4EFETE HK$4.257 HK$2.850 +49%
Dividend per share for the year BEREERE HK228 cents HK138 cents +65%
— Interim dividend per share —FRPHRE HK28 cents HK28 cents -
- Proposed final dividend per share  — 23 & RREIR R HK100 cents HK60 cents +67%
-P d ial final dividend T IR HARS S
roposed special final dividen —RRGHRRHIANR HKA100 cents HK50 cents  +100%
per share
Net asset value per share BEREEFE HK$50.5 HK$45.4 +11%
Net gearing FEELRE 18% 31%
Excluding: * B
©) Loss on fair value changes of investment properties with gross amount of (1) BEYMENFEEE 2 BB R ALEEE

HK$5.4 million, net amount of HK$5.2 million after share of non-controlling
shareholders and deferred tax (2019: Gain on fair value changes of
investment properties with gross amount of HK$6.3 million, net amount

of HK$1.1 million after share of non-controlling shareholders and deferred
tax).

AEETEATT - MRIEIERARREN
NEREERBERZ FREAA_T85
T(ZE—NGF  REVMEATEEZE
WD Rl AEARE =&
BRI AR AR R RS 10 B8 IR IERY B2 2
FE—B—TEAT) -

@ A share-based payment in 2019 of HK$229.2 million, net amount of ©) RZZT—NF AR E XK
HK$199.8 million after share of non-controlling shareholders and deferred —EZFABZTEST kIR
tax (2020: Nil). Hxﬁx%ﬁgfﬁfﬁ%’E&LLMIE@Z@%E

—EBATFABNTEBT(ZE=F
FmE) -

) Gain on disposal of subsidiaries in 2020 with gross amount of HK$29.8 (3) RZTZZTF - HEMBRARZWED
million, net amount of HK$22.4 million after share of non-controlling RlARE—FAENTEBT - kR
shareholders and deferred tax (2019: Nil). PR R R B D RIEER TR 2 F

B_F_AO+EBT(ZE—hF
) o
@) Written off of property, plant and equipment in 2019 with gross amount (4 —NEFE - WE - BE RREM

of HK$219.1 million, net amount of HK$122.7 million after share of non-
controlling shareholders (2020: Nil).

Non-GAAP financial measures adopted for illustrating the changes and effect
resulting from operation of business activities only
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBRE
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERERE

BUSINESS REVIEW

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Kingboard Holdings
Limited, | am delighted to report the full-year performance of the Company
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the financial year ended 31 December
2020 (the “Period under Review”).

2020 was out of the ordinary, with the outbreak of the coronavirus pandemic
and the uncertain geopolitical environment adding downward pressure to
the world economy, rendering the business environment more complex
and volatile. However, on the back of a strategy underpinning a diversified
business portfolio, the Group was able to leverage on the synergies
derived from its vertical operations, upstream through to downstream. The
management team’s forward-looking market planning and cost control efforts
also helped underscore the Group’s brilliant performance.

In a market clouded by a weak economy and waning consumption, the
electronics industry displayed decent resilience as demands for different
end-user products were gradually unleashed. The market bloom during
the second half of the year injected a further stream of momentum into the
electronics manufacturing industry. Premised on the vertically integrated
production model of the Laminates Division, the Group adopted a proactive
sales and marketing strategy to grasp the opportunities stemming from the
market rebound. Equipped with capabilities in both laminates and printed
circuit boards (“PCBs”), the Group is able to capture a satisfactory growth
in orders. Meanwhile, under the demand drive, the market was faced with
a shortage of supply. This, coupled with the Group’s product portfolio
enhancement efforts, has fuelled a steady improvement in the average prices
of our products. Both the Laminates and PCBs Divisions hence achieved
significant growth. Benefitting from the Mainland economy’s early recovery
and abating competition from imported products, product prices bounced
back rapidly and profit margins expanded. The Property Division recorded
partial recognition of sales of The Cavaridge project in Shatin, Hong Kong,
thereby boosting its contribution to the Group.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERE®mE

BUSI N ESS REVIEW (continued)

During the Period under Review, revenue of the Group increased 6% to
HK$43,510.3 million, posting an underlying net profit (excluding non-recurring
items) of HK$4,685.8 million, up significantly by 37%. The Group maintained
a robust financial position, and the Board has therefore proposed a final
dividend of HK100 cents per share and a special final dividend of HK100
cents per share, subject to approval by the Shareholders of the Company.

Turnover Breakdown by Products & & £ % 0

O

DEHARN  AEEBZ2XBELHRE
ME=thaE—FTE=+88T  EX4H
MTEREFEELREB) KB LAITRE
O+AENTREBENTEET - AEBEMBOR
MERIRR - EESEFIRIRIMBEZA100
PEAR R B R BAR S A1 0078l » IR B 2R
ARFRBCRORFEA o

FY2020
—E-EERBEE

FY2019
ZE-NFHBFE

22.8%
31.1%
Laminates PCBs Chemicals [ Properties [ Investments [ Others
BiNER ENmIAR & AR ETEmM IES ®E HEith

—EoTasy I
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERE®RE

PERFORMANCE

Laminates Division: On the back of a sound vertical production model,
the Group has established market-leading positions for its laminates and
upstream materials such as glass yarn, glass fabric and copper foil, in terms
of production scale and technological standards. The first half of the year
saw a weak demand in the electronics market, but the division demonstrated
a strong competitive edge based on its cost advantage. As the demand for
electronic products picked up approaching the second half, our orders for
laminates rose substantially, with monthly shipment volume breaking an all-
time high. Whilst demands for upstream materials grew fast, their supply did
not manage to catch up, shooting up these products’ prices and thus that
of laminates. Since the division is self-sufficient in all upstream materials,
it managed to translate the price increase of laminates into enhanced
profitability. Segment revenue (including inter-segment sales) went up by
1% to HK$16,592.9 million. Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and
amortisation (“EBITDA”) surged by 40% to HK$3,914.3 million.

PCBs Division: Despite the global economic impact of the coronavirus
pandemic, the electronics market has not been short of demand. Following
a spike in the demand for remote work in the first half of the year, sales of
computer-related products rocketed. When the Mainland economy revived
in the second half, pent-up demands for home appliances and cars were
gradually released. With a market-oriented strategy, the division successfully
capitalised on these demand changes to achieve orders and facilities
utilisation growth. Drawing on its experience in high-end, high-density inter-
connected PCBs, the division seized the opportunity to optimise its product
mix. By strengthening its in-depth cooperation with leading downstream
factories, the division made a major stride forward into the high-end and
high-value-adding market segment. Driven by increased utilisation rates
and an optimised product portfolio, the division was able to enjoy increased
profitability. Division revenue soared 10% to HK$10,551.1 million, while
EBITDA was up by 53% to HK$1,677.6 million. During the Period under
Review, the Group completed the privatisation of Elec & Eltek International
Company Limited, a subsidiary listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities
Trading Limited (“SGX”) and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”).

Chemicals Division: Capacities of the chemicals industry remained relatively
stable, with prices guided mainly by changes in demand. As the Mainland
economy returned to the growth track, domestic demand thrived and drove
up the prices of such major chemical products. Prices jumped across all our
products, in particular during the latter half of the year, with profit margins
rising significantly. The Group ceased production of coke and methanol in
Xingtai City, Hebei Province during the Period under Review, leading to a 21%
decrease in division revenue (including inter-segment sales) to HK$10,558.9
million. Nevertheless, with significant expansion in the profit margins of the
other major chemical products, EBITDA reached HK$1,543.4 million on a
13% rise.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERE®mE

PERFORMANCE (continued)

Property Division: Spurred by the partial recognition of sales of the
Cavaridge project in Shatin, Hong Kong, Kunshan Development Zone
Kingboard Yu Garden Phase 1, Qiandeng Kingboard Yu Garden Phase 4,
and Huagiao Kingboard Yu Garden Phases 3, 4 and 5 in Eastern China, the
Property Division recorded an increase in revenue by 153% to HK$8,332.1
million. EBITDA also surged 81% to HK$3,521.6 million. Sales turnover from
residential projects totalled HK$7,218.1 million, up by 238%. Rental income
amounted to HK$1,114.0 million, down by 4%, mainly owing to a slight drop
in occupancy amid the pandemic.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

The Group’s financial and liquidity position continued to be robust. As at
31 December 2020, net current assets and current ratio of the Group were
approximately HK$22,426.2 million (31 December 2019: HK$22,757.5 million)
and 1.97 (31 December 2019: 2.04) respectively.

The net working capital cycle increased from 54 days as at 31 December
2019 to 56 days as at 31 December 2020 on the following key metrics:

- Inventories, in terms of stock turnover days, was 35 days (31
December 2019: 34 days).

- Trade receivables, in terms of debtors turnover days, was 62 days (31
December 2019: 60 days).

- Trade and bills payable (excluding bills payable for acquisition of
property, plant and equipment), in terms of creditors turnover days,
was 41 days (31 December 2019: 40 days).

The Group’s net gearing ratio (bank borrowing net of bank balances and
cash divided by total equity) was approximately 18% (31 December 2019:
31%), while the proportion of bank borrowings between short term and long
term stood at 50%:50% (31 December 2019: 32%:68%). During the Period
under Review, the Group invested approximately HK$2.0 billion in acquiring
new production capacity and a further HK$2.0 billion in property construction
expenses. Backed by a highly experienced professional management
team, the Group is confident that these investments will deliver stable and
satisfactory returns to Shareholders over the long term.

EEHEEERAA
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERE®RE

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

(continued)

The Group continued to adopt a prudent financial management policy. It did
not enter into any material derivative financial instruments, nor did the Group
have any material foreign exchange exposure during the Period under Review.
The Group’s revenue, mostly denominated in Hong Kong dollars, RMB and
US dollars, was fairly matched with the currency requirements of its operating
expenses.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2020, the Group employed a global workforce
of approximately 36,000 (831 December 2019: 39,000). In addition to
offering competitive salary packages, the Group grants share options
and discretionary bonuses to eligible employees based on the Group’s
overall financial achievements and individual employee performance. The
Group’s continued success relies on a solid human resources strategy. The
establishment of the Kingboard Institute of Management has helped nurture
middle and senior managers over the years. In addition, the Group recruits
potential-filled fresh graduates from mainland China, Hong Kong and Taiwan
every year for focused training and development. The Group will continue
to carry out training for all types of talents, who will give new impetus to the
Group’s long-term development.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(@) The Group provided guarantees amounting to approximately
HK$586,022,000 (2019: HK$708,163,000) as at 31 December 2020
to facilitate mortgage bank loans applications of purchasers of the
properties that were developed by the Group.

The guarantees are given to banks with respect to loans procured by
the purchasers of properties that were developed by the Group. Such
guarantees will be released by banks upon delivery of the properties
to the purchasers and completion of registration of the relevant
mortgage properties. In the opinion of the Directors, the fair values
of these financial guarantee contracts of the Group are insignificant
at initial recognition and the Directors consider that the possibility of
default of the parties involved is remote. Accordingly, no value has
been recognised at the inception of the guarantee contracts and
at the end of the reporting period as at 31 December 2020 and 31
December 2019.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERE®mE

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (continued)

(b)

On 3 August 2011, Annuity & Re Life Ltd (the “Petitioner”), the non-
controlling shareholder of Kingboard Copper Foil Holdings Limited
(“KBCF”), presented a petition in the Supreme Court of Bermuda
(the “Petition”) in respect of KBCF against its controlling shareholders
based on a complaint that the affairs of KBCF had been and/or
were being conducted in a manner which was oppressive or unfairly
prejudicial to the Petitioner.

The controlling shareholders of KBCF were eventually successful in
defending the case following a favourable judgment by the Bermuda
Court of Appeal dated 24 March 2017. Subsequently, the Petitioner
filed an appeal with the Privy Council. Such appeal was withdrawn
by the Petitioner following a settlement agreement reached by the
Petitioner and the respondents in the Petition.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the controlling
shareholders of KBCF had purchased all of the remaining issued and
outstanding ordinary shares in the capital of KBCF and KBCF has
become a wholly-owned subsidiary of Kingboard Laminates Holdings
Limited (“KLHL").

On 1 November 2018, the Petitioner commenced an action in the
Supreme Court of Bermuda under Civil Jurisdiction 2018: No.359
against the respondents in the Petition based on purported breach of
the settlement agreement (the “Settlement Action”).

On 22 October 2020, the Group filed in an application for striking out
part of the Petitioner’s claim under the Settlement Action (the “Strike-
Out Application”). The Strike Out Application is currently listed to be
heard on 28 April 2021.

Based on the advice of the Company’s Bermuda Counsel to date,
the directors are of the opinion that the Settlement Action appears
to be intrinsically defective and that the Company has a more than
reasonable chance to succeed. Accordingly, no provision for liability
has been made in connection with this claim.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERE®RE

PROSPECTS

We teem with confidence in the Group’s development in 2021. In the first
quarter of 2021, the Group continued its strong performance at the end of
last year. According to preliminary unaudited operating data, the Group’s
turnover in the first two months increased significantly compared with the
same period last year, and its profit was several times that of the same period
last year. The management expects that the business growth momentum will
remain strong throughout the year. Grasping opportunities from the global
‘new development model’, the Group will stay steadfast to the synergistic
development of its diversified portfolio of businesses. While committed to
cost control, it is keen on achieving technology-driven momentum, bringing
every business division into a new chapter of growth. The management will
remain focused on promoting research and development, safe production,
and environmental responsibilities. With sound cash flow management
to safeguard its robust financial position, the Group has the capability to
proactively grow its market share by pursuing new development opportunities.
With a number of large-scale investment projects currently in the pipeline, the
Group anticipates its business volume to double within the next decade.

Laminates Division: The strong demands for laminates and other upstream
materials were carried through into 2021, keeping the Group’s facilities in full
capacities and sales. In the wake of further demand growth, the division has
made multiple upward adjustments to its product prices. In the future, the
division will synchronise the growth paces of production capacity and market
development. To this end, the division will increase the capacity for FR4 (epoxy
glass laminates) in Shaoguan City, Guangdong Province, 800,000 sheets per
month, in rhythm with the building of new capacities for upstream materials
including copper foil, glass yarn, glass fabric and epoxy resins. On the other
hand, taking aim at the advanced and high-value-adding market through
upgrading its thin, high-frequency, high-speed and halogen-free laminates,
the division will endeavour to seek customer accreditation and establish a
sales network to pursue higher market penetration.

PCBs Division: The electronics market is on a rapid uptrend, helped by
the demand growth for car-related products. With multiple-year experience
and comprehensive product certifications in automobile PCBs, the division
is positioned ahead of its peers in terms of product quality and delivery lead
time, helping it to reap a desirable volume of orders. The introduction of 5G
into the commercial arena will be a driving force for the imminent upgrade
and renewal demand for a widened scope of electronic products. This will
bring new growth momentum to the PCBs market. Keeping a close eye on
the pulse of market development, the division will reinforce its connection
with leading customers downstream, in fostering an upgrade in its product
mix and steadily cultivating added value into its products. Capacities at
all factories are currently at high levels. In order to meet the demand of a
constantly growing market, the division has plans to add 1.2 million square
feet of multi-layered PCBs to its monthly capacity.
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P ROS P ECTS (continued)

Chemicals Division: With crude oil prices treading a dynamic path,
and a reduction in chemicals import to China due to overseas capacities
contraction, both trends are conducive to the development of the Mainland’s
chemicals industry. As the Mainland economy recuperates step by step with
domestic demand flourishing, the price of chemical products will be further
stimulated. The division is committed to improving the use of resources
and enhancing environmental protection. It will continue to fully utilise
existing facilities on a low-carbon production model as it seeks to increase
profitability. Having ploughed its way through the years in the chemicals
industry, the Group has accumulated rich experience in the supply chain of
phenol acetone, caustic soda and acetic acid. Around these three supply
chains, the Group is mapping out various critical investment projects that will
yield handsome long-term returns.

Property Division: With the aim of expediting capital recovery, the division
will speed up the sales of the residential project in eastern China. Following
the expiration of the rent-free period for the commercial properties within the
project neighbouring the high-speed railway station in Kunshan City, Jiangsu
Province, stable rental income is expected to be generated for the division.
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On behalf of the Board, | wish to take this opportunity to extend my sincere
gratitude for the unreserved support from all Shareholders, customers, banks,
the management and staff members over the previous year.

Cheung Kwok Wing
Chairman
Hong Kong, 22 March 2021
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

EERGREEBAEBZERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. CHEUNG Kwok Wing, aged 65, BBS, is the chairman and a co-founder of
the Group. He was the chairman and a non-executive director of Elec & Eltek
International Company Limited (“EEIC”), which is a subsidiary of the Company
listed on SGX and dual-listed on the Stock Exchange until delisted on 25
September 2020 up to 1 August 2019. Mr. Cheung was the chairman and
director of Kingboard Copper Foil Holdings Limited which is the subsidiary
of the Company (listed on the SGX until delisted on 10 June 2019) up to 3
January 2012. Mr. Cheung is a director of Hallgain Management Limited, a
substantial shareholder of the Company. Mr. Cheung is the brother of Ms.
Cheung Wai Lin, Stephanie, the cousin of Mr. Cheung Kwong Kwan, the
brother-in-law of Mr. Chang Wing Yiu and Mr. Ho Yin Sang and the father of
Mr. Cheung Ka Shing. Mr. Cheung had over 13 years’ experience in the sales
and distribution of electronic components including laminates prior to the
establishment of the Group. Mr. Cheung is responsible for the overall strategic
planning of the Group and sets the general direction and goals for the Group.
Mr. Cheung won the Young Industrialist Award of Hong Kong 1993, which
was organized by the Federation of Hong Kong Industries and was described
as “far-sighted, enterprising, and having insight in the business”. Mr. Cheung
was the winner of the DHL/SCMP Hong Kong Business Award, accredited
with the Owner-Operator Award in 2006. In 2011, Mr. Cheung was awarded
the Honorary University Fellowships of The University of Hong Kong. In 2013,
Mr. Cheung was appointed as a member of the National Committee of the
Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference of The People’s Republic
of China. In 2017, Mr. Cheung was awarded the Bronze Bauhinia Star in
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region.

Mr. CHANG Wing Yiu, aged 54, is the managing director of the Group. He
is the brother-in-law of Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing and Ms. Cheung Wai Lin,
Stephanie and the uncle-in-law of Mr. Cheung Ka Shing. He joined the Group
in 1989 and has over 31 years’ experience in laminates production. Mr.
Chang graduated from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University with a higher
diploma in marine electronics. He is responsible for the Group’s phenol/
acetone plant in Yangzhou, Jiangsu province and in Huizhou, Guangdong
province. He was re-designated from a non-executive director to an executive
director of EEIC with effect from 1 August 2014.

Mr. CHEUNG Kwong Kwan, aged 56, is the cousin of Mr. Cheung Kwok
Wing and Ms. Cheung Wai Lin, Stephanie and the uncle of Mr. Cheung Ka
Shing. He joined the Group in 1988 and has been working in the PCB industry
since 1984 with particularly extensive experience in marketing components
and materials required for PCB production. Mr. Cheung is responsible for
the Group’s chemical business operations and property developments in
southern China.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES
EEREREBABZER

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. HO Yin Sang, aged 66, is the brother-in-law of Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing
and Ms. Cheung Wai Lin, Stephanie and the uncle-in-law of Mr. Cheung
Ka Shing. He joined the Group in 1989 and is responsible for the Group’s
chemical business operations in Hebei and Shanxi province.

Ms. CHEUNG Wai Lin, Stephanie, aged 50, is the sister of Mr. Cheung Kwok
Wing, the sister-in-law of Mr. Chang Wing Yiu and Mr. Ho Yin Sang, the
cousin of Mr. Cheung Kwong Kwan and the auntie of Mr. Cheung Ka Shing.
She joined the Group in 2002. Ms. Cheung was appointed as an executive
director and the vice chairperson of EEIC with effect from 1 August 2014 and
was redesignated from the vice chairperson to the chairperson of EEIC with
effect from 1 August 2019. She is responsible for the strategic planning of
EEIC. Prior to joining the Group, she worked as an administration assistant
manager in a listed company for about 5 years.

Mr. CHEUNG Ka Shing, aged 33, was appointed as an executive Director
with effect from 1 August 2014. He joined the Group in 2009 and is
responsible for the property development business of the Group in eastern
China. Mr. Cheung obtained his Bachelor of Science degree in the study of
Management with International Business at the University of London in 2009.
Mr. Cheung is the son of Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing, the nephew of Ms. Cheung
Wai Lin, Stephanie and Mr. Cheung Kwong Kwan and nephew-in-law of Mr.
Chang Wing Yiu and Mr. Ho Yin Sang.

Mr. CHEN Maosheng, aged 57, was appointed as an executive Director
on 11 January 2011. He joined the Group in 1996 and is currently the chief
financial controller of the Group in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”).
He is responsible for the management of the finance and tax matters of the
Group in the PRC. Prior to joining the Group, he worked with the finance and
economics department of the government of the PRC for 12 years. Mr. Chen
graduated from Jiangxi Finance and Economics University (formerly known
as Jiangxi Finance and Economics Institution) in 1990. He is an accountant
certified by the finance department of the government of the PRC.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES
EEREREBABZER

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. CHEUNG Ming Man, aged 64, was appointed as an independent non
executive director of the Company with effect from 1 November 2015. Mr.
Cheung has extensive experience in the performance and cultural sector. Mr.
Cheung has participated in a number of community associations, including
the Hong Kong Chinese Importers’ & Exporters’ Association (Vice Honorary
Secretary); The Hong Kong Special Administrative Region Election Committee
(First, Second and Third Election Committee Member); Deputy of the National
People’s Congress of PRC Election Committee (Ninth, Tenth and Eleventh
Election Committee Member) and was awarded the Bronze Bauhinia Star in
2010. Mr. Cheung was elected as the Hong Kong deputy to the 12th National
People’s Congress in December 2012. Mr. Cheung was an independent
non-executive director of Mei Ah Entertainment Group Limited (stock code:
00391), a company listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Dr. CHONG Kin Ki, aged 65, was appointed as independent non-executive
Director in 1 July 2016. He obtained a Bachelor of Medicine and Bachelor of
Surgery from the University of Hong Kong in 1980. He became a Fellow of the
Royal College of Surgeons of Edinburgh in 1984, a Foundation Fellow of the
Hong Kong Academy of Medicine in 1993, a Foundation Fellow of the Hong
Kong College of Surgeons in 1993. Dr. Chong has been a private medical
practitioner since 1989 and become a Registered Specialist in General
Surgery since 1993.

Mr. CHAN Wing Kee, GBM, GBS, OBE, JP, aged 74, was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director on 1 July, 2017. He received a
Bachelor’s degree in Industrial Engineering in 1970 and he has over 50
years of experience in the textiles and garment manufacturing industry. Mr.
Chan joined Yangtzekiang Garment Limited (stock code: 294), a garment
manufacturer, in 1970 as was appointed as a managing director in 1987
and has been an executive director of which since then. He is an executive
director of YGM Trading Limited (stock code: 375), a marketer and builder
of international apparel brands in Asia. He is a Standing Committee Member
of The 10th, 11th and 12th of The Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference; Deputy of the 8th and 9th National People’s Congress of China;
Member of the Selection Committee of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region; Ex-member of Commission on Strategic Development of Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region; Ex-member of Economic Council of Macau
Special Administrative Region; Ex-member of the Hong Kong Textile Advisory
Board; Committee Member of the Preparatory Committee for Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region and Advisor of Hong Kong Affairs.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES
EEREREBABZER

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

(continued)

Mr. Stanley Chung Wai Cheong, aged 51, has appointed as independent
non executive director of the Company on 31 October 2020. Mr. Chung
graduated with a Bachelor of Commerce Degree from the University of
Melbourne in 1993. He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and is a certified practicing accountant of CPA
Australia. Mr. Chung possesses over 25 years’ experience in accounting
and financial management. He had also served as the financial controller for
a number of listed companies in Hong Kong between 1997 and 2010, and
as the Chief Financial Officer in Asia for both private and public multinational
companies over the past decade. He is currently the General Manager and
Regional Finance Director of AMI Hong Kong Holdco Limited. Mr. Chung was
appointed as the financial controller and company secretary of the Company
from 1997 to 2001, and as an independent non-executive director of EEIC
from 2011 to 12 October 2020.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. LO Ka Leong, aged 47, the Company Secretary, joined the Group in
May 1999. Prior to that, he was an accountant at an international accounting
firm. Mr. Lo is a fellow member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. He holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Professional Accountancy
from The Chinese University of Hong Kong. He is in charge of the company
secretarial work of the Group. He is a non-executive director of KLHL, a
73.17% owned subsidiary listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange.
Mr. Lo has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during
the year ended 31 December 2020 in accordance with Rule 3.29 of the
Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEERE

The Directors present their annual report and the audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The activities of its principal
subsidiaries, an associate and joint ventures are set out in Notes 45, 19 and
20 respectively to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020 can
be found in the section headed “Chairman’s Statement” of this annual report,
which forms part of this Directors’ Report.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Group is exposed to various risks and uncertainties which are specific to
the Group and/or the industries in which the Group operates. These risks may
materially affect the Group’s business operations, financial condition, results
of operations and business prospects. The Group has identified the key risks
and uncertainties as follows:

Product defects

The products of the Group may contain defects that can only be detected
when the electronics systems into which they are incorporated are in use.
The Group could be exposed to significant liability claims in the event that its
products are found to be defective. While the Group has implemented sound
systems to monitor its products at various stages of its production processes,
no assurance can be given that the Group’s products are free of defects.
Any significant liability claims could have an adverse impact on the results of
operations and reputation of the Group.

Customer contracts

The Group typically enters into one-off purchase orders with its customers. As
such, the amount of purchase orders may vary significantly from time to time,
and it is difficult to forecast the amount of orders to be received by the Group
in the future. No assurance can be given that the Group’s customers will
continue to place purchase orders with it in the future in similar amounts to
prior periods, if at all. As a result, the results of operations of the Group may
vary significantly in the future.

Competitive industry

The business segments in which the Group operates are highly competitive.
No assurance can be given that the Group will be able to compete
successfully against its current competitors or emerging companies in
the future. If the Group fails to compete effectively, the Group’s results of
operations, financial condition and business prospects may be materially and
adversely affected.
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BUS' N ESS REVIEW (continued)

Principal Risks and Uncertainties (continued)

Recent global market fluctuations and economic conditions

The recent global market fluctuations and economic conditions have
adversely affected economies and businesses around the world. A slowdown
in the global economy, in particular, the PRC economy, and the impact of
COVID-19 could lead to a reduction in demand for the Group’s products and
may materially and adversely affect its business operations, financial condition
and results of operations.

The risks and uncertainties stated above are not meant to be exhaustive.
There may be other risks or uncertainties that are not known to the Group or
which may not be material now but could turn out to be material in the future.

Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group is committed to achieving environmental sustainability. The Group
endeavours to comply with the relevant laws and regulations regarding
environmental protection and adopt effective measures to achieve efficient use
of resources, waste reduction and energy saving. For instance, the in-house
manufacturing facilities of the Group operate in compliance with the relevant
environmental rules and regulations. The Group reviews its environmental
policies on a regular basis.

In accordance with Rule 13.91 and the ESG Reporting Guide contained in
Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules, the Company’s Environmental, Social and
Governance Report will be available on our website within three months from
the publication of this annual report.

Compliance with Relevant Laws and Regulations

The Group and its business operations are subject to various laws, rules and
regulations. The Company seeks to ensure adherence to such laws, rules
and regulations through various measures such as internal controls, approval
procedures, staff trainings and oversight of business operations at different
levels of the Group. The Board also monitors the Group’s policies and
practices on compliance with relevant laws, rules and regulations on a regular
basis.

So far as the Directors and senior management are aware, for the year
ended 31 December 2020, the Group has obtained the approvals, permits,
consents, licences and registrations required for its business and operations,
and there was no material breach of the relevant laws and regulations by our
Group that have a significant impact on the Group.
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BUS' N ESS REVIEW (continued)

Key Relationships with Stakeholders

The Company understands the importance of maintaining a good relationship
with its employees, customers and suppliers in order to operate in a
sustainable manner and to meet its immediate and long-term goals.

The Company strongly believes that employees are its most important
and valuable assets. In order to recognise the performance of and provide
incentives for its employees, the Group reviews its policies on remuneration
and benefits for its employees regularly to ensure that they are in line with the
market standard. The Group reviews and improves catering, residence and
recreational facilities and services to provide a pleasant living environment to
the employees regularly. The Group organises various recreational activities
for its staff to participate to maintain a close relationship with its employees.

The Company maintains sound relationships with its customers and suppliers
which enable the Group to foster long term business benefits. The Directors
and senior management of the Company endeavours to exchange business
ideas and updates of the Group with its customers and suppliers from time to
time. To maintain its competitiveness, the Group aims to deliver high quality
of products and services to its customers.

During the year, there was no material and significant dispute between the
Group and its employees, customers or suppliers.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020 are set out in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss on page 71.

An interim dividend of HK28 cents per ordinary share amounting to
HK$309,618,000 in aggregate respectively was declared to the Shareholders
during the year. The directors recommend the payment of a final dividend of
HK100 cents and special final dividend of HK100 cents per ordinary share
respectively to the Shareholders on the register of members of the Company
on 1 June 2021, being the record date for determining the entitlement of
Shareholders to the proposed final dividend and special final dividend,
amounting to HK$1,105,792,000 and HK$1,105,792,000 respectively, in
aggregate, and the retention of the remaining profit in the Company.

For the final dividend in respect of year ended 31 December 2020 proposed
by the Directors and subject to the approval by the Shareholders in
the forthcoming annual general meeting, please refer to Note 12 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has a dividend policy, the objective of which is to allow
the Shareholders to participate in the Company’s profits whilst retaining
adequate reserves to sustain the Group’s future growth. The declaration,
form, frequency and amount of dividend paid by the Company must be in
accordance with relevant laws and regulations and subject to the articles of
association of the Company. In deciding whether to declare any dividend,
the Board will take into account a number of factors, including the financial
results, the distributable reserves, the operations and liquidity requirements,
and the current and future development plans of the Company. The Board
will review the dividend policy of the Company as appropriate from time to
time.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of the movements in investment properties of the Group during the
year are set out in Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

INVESTMENTS

As at 31 December 2020, the Group held in aggregate approximately
HK$7,865 million investments in securities instruments, representing 8%
of the total asset of the Group as at 31 December 2020. These securities
investment consist of mostly securities listed on Main Board of the Stock
Exchange and bonds issued mainly by companies listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange. The Group acquired its securities instruments through
on-market purchases. The Group will from time to time monitor the price
movement of prices in securities and bonds and may adjust its investment
portfolio as and when appropriate.
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INVESTMENTS (continued) ?ﬁﬁ(%ﬁ)

The following table sets out the important investments held by the Group TEREBEAEFN —_E-_ZFE+-_A=+—H
as at 31 December 2020. None of the value of the following or any other BEZBEERE - BEREHKR - KATUT
securities investments of the Company was on standalone or aggregate basis ST EMtESFRENEEOAREBL AT S
5% or more of the total assets of the Company as of the end of the reporting NN TR EERIS%E A L -

period:

Fair value
as at % to the Bond
Number of %of  Investment 31 December Group's interestfor  Gain (loss)  Unrealised
Name of investments bondheld  bonds held cost 2020 total assets theyear ondisposal gain (loss)

R-B-%%

t=2R
i a2 St-A fA5H AEE  HERE RER
f58E  RHEAR & WATE #EEASL  EHAE (B8) Wi/ (58
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 000
TR BT Tirn TEn TEn T

Bonds listed on Singapore Exchange Securties Trading 2 EEERATR/A (BT L7 -
Limited (*SGX-ST") by Country Gerden Holdings Limited (355 : 2007 R# ML E5 2 R

(HK stock code: 2007) BRAR(HRS)) LH %
fixed coupon interest 7.125% per annum and BREETABECETREE 3ERA

maturity date in January 2022 “5-°%-§ 20,500 4.8% 159,431 168,951 0.2% 18,458 46,659 9,520

Bond listed on SGX-ST by Guangzhou R8F BMEMLERDERAARBRA LR

Propertes Co., Ltd. (HK stock code: 2777): TRARSE - o717 ) RER s Lo 5% «
() fixed coupon rate of 5.875% per annum and i BEEESSTEZETES

maturity date in February 2023 TR -E-=F-fEH 38,000 7.6% 285,485 261,412 0.3% 5,702 (67,713) (24,405)
(i) fixed coupon rate of 8.75% per annum and i) AEFE8TEZERES -

maturity date in January 2021 TR =—F-—F-REH 12,04 24% 93,708 97,766 0.4% 8,244 16,500 4,058
(i) fixed coupon rate of 7% per annum and i) BREETEZERES

maturiy date in Apri 2021 e St 26,000 4.3% 202,800 202,832 0.2% 17,943 21 3
(i) fixed coupon rate of 8.875% per annum and () EEEE8STEZETES

maturity date in September 2021 TR-E--FNRHH 18,500 9.3% 144,232 148,740 0.2% 11,482 16,583 4,508
() fixed coupon rate of 12.375% per annum and () AEFE12375EZEFRES -

maturity date in November 2022 TH-Z--F+-FHE 100,000 21.8% 780,000 801,287 0.9% 13,487 - 21,287
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I NVESTM ENTS (continued)

All of Country Garden Holdings Company Limited (stock code: 2007) (“CGH”),
and Guangzhou R&F Properties Co., Ltd (stock code: 2777) (“GRFP”) are
principally engaged in the properties sector.

Based on the announcements of CGH dated 20 September 2018, the senior
notes (“CGH January 2022 Senior Notes”) were issued by CGH in September
2019, and due in January 2022. The CGH January 2022 Senior Notes
are listed on the SGX-ST and carry an interest of 7.125% per annum and
interests are payable semi-annually. The proceeds from the CGH January
2022 Senior Notes were intended to be used mainly for refinancing CGH’s
existing offshore indebtedness.

According to the announcement of annual results for the year ended 31
December 2020 of CGH, as at 31 December 2020, its group’s net gearing
ratio increased from 46.3% that as at 31 December 2019 to 55.6%.

EEHEEERAA
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| NVESTM ENTS (continued)

Based on the announcements of GRFP dated 13 November 2017, 4 January
2019, 18 April 2018, 19 September 2018 and 12 November 2020: (i) the
senior notes (“GRFP February 2023 Senior Notes”) were issued by GRFP in
November 2017, and due in February 2023. The GRFP February 2023 Senior
Notes are listed on the SGX and carry an interest of 5.875% per annum and
interests are payable semi-annually. The proceeds from the GRFP February
2023 Senior Notes were intended to be used to refinance debt and for
general corporate purposes of GRFP; (ii) the senior notes (“GRFP January
2021 Senior Notes”) were issued by GRFP in January 2019, and due in
January 2021. The GRFP January 2021 Senior Notes are listed on SGX and
carry an interest of 8.75% per annum and interests are payable semi-annually.
The proceeds from the GRFP January 2021 Senior Notes were mainly for
offshore refinancing; (iii) the senior notes due April 2021 (“GRFP April 2021
Senior Notes”) were issued by GRFP in April 2018, and due in April 2021. The
GRFP April 2021 Senior Notes are listed on the SGX and carry an interest of
7% per annum and interests are payable semi-annually. The proceeds from
the GRFP April 2021 Senior Notes were intended to refinance debt and for
general corporate purposes, (iv) the senior notes due September 2021 (“GRFP
September 2021 Senior Notes”) were issued by GRFP in September 2018,
and due in September 2021. The GRFP September 2021 Senior Notes are
listed on the SGX and carry an interest of 8.875% per annum and interests
are payable semi-annually. The net proceeds from the GRFP September 2021
Senior Notes were mainly for offshore refinancing; and (v) the senior notes
due November 2022 (“GRFP November 2022 Senior Notes”) were issued by
GRFP in November 2020, and due in November 2022. The GRFP November
2022 Senior Notes are listed on the SGX and carry on interest of 12.375%
per annum and interests are payable semi-annually. The net proceeds from
the GRFP November 2022 Senior Notes were mainly for refinancing medium
to long-term debt that will be due within one year.

According to the announcement of annual result for the year ended 31
December 2020 of GRFP, the net debt to total equity ratio of GRFP
decreased to 130% at 31 December 2020 from 199% at 31 December 2019.
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I NVESTM ENTS (continued)

For further information of the business and financial performance of the
above companies, please refer to the report and announcements referred
in the above paragraphs. Please also refer to the respective publications of
the above companies from time to time for updates on their prospects and
performances. The report and announcements referred above do not form
part of this annual report and do not constitute any publication issued by, or
any opinion, advice or view of, the Company or any of the Directors.

The Group’s Investment Strategy for These Investments

By leveraging our experience in sales and rental properties, our major
investments have focused mainly on the securities instruments of issuers
engaging in the properties sector. Our investment objectives is to generate
stable additional interest income.

PROPERTIES, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in properties, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in Note 15 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements during the year in the issued share capital of the
Company are set out in Note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.
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TAX RELIEF BB R

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to ARBW AL - BREAFE AR mE
Shareholders by reason of their holding of Company’s shares. S TR ALIE o

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF fBE - HESERA QT Z
SHARES RS

During the year, the Company purchased 2,016,000 Shares on the Stock RER BTN FRA-T++HEKZ-ZTZ
Exchange for an aggregate consideration of HK$44,948,120 before expenses TERAZTRABTHNARRARRBFRG
pursuant to the share buy-back mandate approved by our shareholders at the EREBBEBLRRGOORE  RNAGRER
annual general meeting held on 27 May 2019 and 25 May 2020. The bought- FTLA 42 (B 44,948,120 L (KT F XX ) B[
back Shares were subsequently cancelled. The purchase was effected by the 2,016,000/ 817 - BEEA RN EBEW T -
Board for the enhancement of shareholder value in the long term. Details of EFeETHEEARERESRREEB -FH
the shares purchases are as follows: BRI, BRI

Purchase consideration per share
BREBEERE
Highest Lowest No. of shares Aggregate

Date of purchase price paid price paid purchased consideration
BE A it & sE It RIEE BERMEHE TR E
HK$ HK$ HK$
PETT PBTT BT

9 January 2020 24.85 24.20 500,000 12,314,450
—EZFEF—ANA

30 March 2020 17.82 17.62 580,000 10,297,830
—E-ZTF=A=+H

2 April 2020 17.76 17.76 29,500 523,920
—E-TFMA=H

12 June 2020 20.25 19.80 300,000 6,006,220
—E-ZTFXA+=H

3 November 2020 26.40 26.35 300,000 7,918,775
—EZFTF+—A=H

9 November 2020 25.75 25.70 306,500 7,886,925
—E-ZF+—ANH

Total 2,016,000 44,948,120
4t
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
SHARES (continued)

During the year, the Group has, by way of a voluntary conditional cash offer,
purchased 49,289,543 ordinary shares of EEIC with an aggregate sum of
HK$875,382,000. EEIC was listed on the main Board of SGX and main board
of the Stock Exchange. Following the abovementioned purchase, EEIC was
delisted from the Official List of SGX and Stock Exchange on 25 September
2020.

Please refer to the joint announcement of the Company and EEIC dated 3
April 2020 and the announcement of EEIC dated 6 and 18 August 2020 and 1,
4, 21 and 24 September 2020 for details.

During the year, apart from the above, there was no purchase, sale or
redemption by the Company, or any of subsidiaries, of its listed securities.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE
COMPANY

The Company’s reserves available for distribution to Shareholders as at 31
December 2020 comprised the retained profit of HK$53,443,000 (2019:
retained profit of HK$150,435,000).

In addition to the retained profits of the Company, the share premium and the
special surplus account of the Company are also available for distribution to
Shareholders provided that the Company will be able to pay its debts as they
fall due in the ordinary course of business immediately following the date on
which any such distribution is proposed to be paid.

At 31 December 2020, the sum of the retained profits and the share premium
of the Company amounted to approximately HK$6,619,303,000 (2019:
HK$6,717,287,000).
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DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS

The directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing (Chairman)

Mr. Chang Wing Yiu (Managing Director)
Mr. Cheung Kwong Kwan

Mr. Ho Yin Sang

Ms. Cheung Wai Lin, Stephanie

Mr. Cheung Ka Shing

Mr. Chen Maosheng

Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. Cheung Ming Man

Dr. Chong Kin Ki

Mr. Leung Tai Chiu

Mr. Chan Wing Kee

Mr. Stanley Chung Wai Cheong

(resigned on 31 October 2020)
(appointed on 31 October 2020)

At the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company, each of
Mr. Chang Wing Yiu, Mr. Cheung Ka Shing and Mr. Chen Maosheng,
being executive Directors and Dr. Chong Kin Ki and Mr. Stanley Chung
Wai Cheong, being independent non-executive Directors, will retire from
directorship by rotation and will be eligible for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company in accordance with Article 82 and
Article 92 of the Company’s articles of association. Mr. Chang Wing Yiu, Mr.
Cheung Ka Shing and Mr. Chen Maosheng, being executive Directors, and
Dr. Chong Kin Ki and Mr. Stanley Chung Wai Cheong, being independent
non-executive Directors, will offer themselves for re-election.

Biographical details of the above Directors are set out in the section “Directors’
and Senior Management’s Biographies”.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company has a service contract which is not terminable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES

At 31 December 2020, the interests of the Directors and their associates
in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (“SFQO”)), as recorded in the register maintained by the
Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers, were as follows:

Long position
(a) Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each of the Company (“Shares”)

e
4
b3
o]
at
a
B
alj

ESzRER

RZZEZZTF+_A=+—8 EEREZZ
BEATRARAREEHEZE(ERLES R
IR IR ([ LR RG] D EXVED) 2B D -
HERNHEST - EEARRREES LY
BIRPIFE35216FE 2 BrLMATACE 2 e » 3k
BREBELETETAEEETESFZSNRETH
EAEARRE R ST

=3}
(@ FAASKREEAEBTZLBER(R
%)

Approximate
percentage of

Number of the issued
issued share capital
Name of Director Capacity Shares held of the Company
{54 A
e RT BBRITRAE
EEpE RS R BB ZERNBED
Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing (Note 1) Beneficial owner/interest of spouse 8,924,405 0.8071%
sREIE S A (M) EnlEAA TR
Mr. Chang Wing Yiu (Note 2) Beneficial owner/Interest of spouse 9,087,228 0.8218%
BB S A (M E2) EnlEAA TR
Mr. Cheung Kwong Kwan Beneficial owner 4,457,000 0.4031%
REESLE BnEBA
Mr. Ho Yin Sang (Note 3) Beneficial owner/Interest of spouse 4,186,700 0.3786%
fa] A S A4 (M 5E3) EnlEAA TR
Ms. Cheung Wai Lin, Stephanie (Note 4)  Beneficial owner/Interest of spouse 2,339,000 0.2115%
sRiEE L (FiEE4) EnlEAA TR
Mr. Cheung Ka Shing Beneficial owner 1,941,000 0.1755%
REKEE BnEBA
Mr. Cheung Ming Man Beneficial owner 35,000 0.0032%
SRERGUE A BanEBA
Dr. Chong Kin Ki Beneficial owner 200,000 0.0181%
JrEREE A BnEBA
Mr. Chan Wing Kee Beneficial owner 285,000 0.0258%
BRI SE A4 BanEBA

—EoEsss EE
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES EEzRHOEZ®

(continued)
Long position (continued) RE®
(a) Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each of the Company (“Shares”) (a) ANBEREEIABITZEER (TR
(continued) @7 1) (%)
Notes: Bt 5T
1) Out of the 8,924,405 Shares, 8,638,905 Shares were held by Mr. Cheung 1) MR% 8924405kl th B - H A
Kwok Wing and 285,500 Shares were held by his spouse. 8,638,005 /% i {7 Jh RGRBISR o E AN A
#4 + M285,5000% 8% 17 A 8 AL E3
Ho
2 Out of the 9,087,228 Shares, 8,416,488 Shares were held by Mr. Chang 2 R % 9,087,228 fF & & - H
Wing Yiu and 670,740 Shares were held by his spouse. 8,416,488/ ik {7 Jh R B KB L E AR A
BH - 670,740 81 Al KA (B%
5o
) Out of the 4,186,700 Shares, 3,312,500 Shares were held by Mr. Ho Yin 3) % 4,186,700 iRk fh & # - H A
Sang and 874,200 Shares were held by his spouse. 3,312,500/% B 17 Ty R AT 3 A S E AR A
g+ M874,2008% /%17 A 1 AL (B35
I
(4) Out of the 2,339,000 Shares, 2,319,000 Shares were held by Ms. Cheung (4 7% 2,339,000 % % h & - H A
Wai Lin, Stephanie and 20,000 Shares were held by her spouse. 2,319,000/ & {5 Jh AR EE X AR A
A  M20,0008% 817 Al 7 H A B35
5o
(b)  Share options of the Company (“Share Options”) (b) ALTERE(HERED

Interest in
underlying Shares
pursuant to the

Name of Director Capacity Share Options
TR HE IR

Esng ERMEE REBRGHER

Mr. Ho Yin Sang Beneficial owner 1,500,000

Al e A BEmEA A

Mr. Cheung Ka Shing Beneficial owner 1,520,000

SRR A BEmiEA A
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES EERHO#EHR
(continued)
Long position (continued) REW®
(c) Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each (“KLHL Shares”) in KLHL, a (c) AAFFZEREHNBL AR EEER
non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company EREEIIBIZEER(EEERE
AR 1)
Approximate
percentage
Number of of the issued
issued KLHL share capital
Name of Director Capacity Shares held of KLHL
e B17T IHEEEER
EERER BRITRAE
Esng EaME ROEE ZEBHNBE DL
Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing (Note 1) Beneficial owner/Interest of spouse 6,939,500 0.2224%
SREI S S A (BT EET) Ena A/ iBEx
Mr. Chang Wing Yiu (Note 2) Beneficial owner/Interest of spouse 15,532,500 0.4978%
sk R S A (FfEE2) Ena A ieEx
Mr. Ho Yin Sang (Note 3) Beneficial owner/Interest of spouse 5,200,000 0.1667%
faI 3R A S A (P ES) Ena A TiBE
Mr. Cheung Kwong Kwan Beneficial owner 2,000,000 0.0641%
REELE Em=EAA
Mr. Cheung Ka Shing Beneficial owner 2,379,000 0.0763%
SRR E Em=EAA
Ms. Cheung Wai Lin, Stephanie Beneficial owner 2,000,000 0.0641%
SRIBEA T+ Em=EAA
Note: iz -
(1) Out of the 6,939,500 KLHL Shares, 6,459,500 KLHL Shares were held (1) 7 7%6,939,500 f% 2B E B iR H &
by Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing and 480,000 KLHL Shares were held by his s H 6,459,500 8% 1255 TE B AR AL 1D
spouse. ThERBE & S ERAFEE 480,000
R BB BRIk B A LB -
©) Out of the 15,532,500 KLHL Shares, 14,732,500 KLHL Shares were ©) 5% 15,632,500 % 22 E TE B IR AR 10 &
held by Mr. Chang Wing Yiu and 800,000 KLHL Shares were held by his s H 14,732,500 BB RE BRI D
spouse. ThE Bk e S A AR AR5+ 800,000
R EREERIR D BB AR BRE -
@) Out of the 5,200,000 KLHL Shares, 4,200,000 KLHL Shares were held by @) 5% 5,200,000 A% 35 T E AR A 19 &
Mr. Ho Yin Sang and 1,000,000 KLHL Shares were held by his spouse. o H 4,200,000 f% i E FE B iR

BTy RAERAELERNARTE M
1,000,000 % 3 5 14 @ A A% 1) Al e E A
BFE -

—E-TFEFR
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES EEzRHOEZ®

(continued)
Long position (continued) REW®
(d) Non-voting deferred shares of HK$1 each in the share (d) AAFFZEREHNBL AR EEER
capital of Kingboard Laminates Limited, a non-wholly owned BRAARATFEREEI1B T ZER
subsidiary of the Company EREIEIE AR 1
Number of
non-voting
deferred
Name of Director Capacity shares held
(Note)
I ER R
Espng RERtE ELEROEE
(F5E)
Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing Beneficial owner 1,904,400
SREIER E=BAA
Mr. Chang Wing Yiu Beneficial owner 423,200
sk S A EmBEAA
Mr. Cheung Kwong Kwan Beneficial owner 846,400
REELE Em=BAA
Mr. Ho Yin Sang Beneficial owner 529,000
Al A S A EmBEAA
Note:  None of the non-voting deferred shares of Kingboard Laminates Limited are MEE : AEBMEREREEERERARZ
held by the Group. Such deferred shares carry no rights to receive notice AR SRR o :ZFIRLTERMD A &
of or to attend or vote at any general meeting of Kingboard Laminates Hft#s AT U B SE A B IR A PR A RIE(AT AR
Limited and have practically no rights to dividends or to participate in any RAGRERNHFERREAG RS %
distribution on winding up. Z=2REF] I8 H WERAR B BB AR

ERERD IR EERET -

Other than as disclosed above, none of the Directors nor their B EEIN  R-T-_TF+ -8
associates had any interests or short positions in any shares, =1+—H MESEEAREIBEALT
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its RARR S EEMEEEE(E&EEF
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) = R HIEIRHIEXVER) 2 F AR, ~ 48
as at 31 December 2020. Further details of the share options of the AR ESTEEEAERKER -
Company and its subsidiaries and the Directors’ interests in them are BRARRT RENE R T ERE R
available in the section headed “Share Options” in and note 32 to the EENEPHREFEES  ERARE
consolidated financial statements of this Report. [BEARHE | — B0 LA AR B BT TS AR KRBT 5E
32 -
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SHARE OPTIONS

Particulars of the share option schemes of the Company, and EEIC and KLHL
(including their vesting and exercise period) are set out in Note 32 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Under the Scheme of the Company, on 16 September 2020 and 30
November 2020, an aggregate of 2,650,000 share options were exercised
at the exercise prices of HK$17.304 per share with closing market price
of HK$26.75 and HK$30.10 on the immediately preceding business days
respectively and weighted average closing prices of HK$26.25 and HK$29.64
on the immediately preceding five business day respectively.

The following table discloses movements in the Share Options under the
Scheme during the year:

e
4
b3
o]
at
a
B
alj

BRAE

AAR - RFIZEREEEERBREEF
BREELRBHRITES) SR GREMBIRE
MIEE32 ©

REA A RIHIEHE] - Z-ZFNA+NH
MZFEZFF+—AH er A & #2,650,0001%
BRECIREIRN7.3048 THTTEBEITE -
MR EFEITE ARG L BB EZ BRI —
fi& BT ED R £26.757%8 7T &230.107%8
TL AT R BRI TE S 5 A26.2558 7T
29,6478 7T °

TREBZ A TEABRERFAZE

Outstanding Outstanding
as at as at
1 January Granted Exercised 31 December
2020 during the year during the year 2020
Q — 7 —% E E/\‘\:g:gq—:
~A-B +=A=+-8
ie RATE RERRH RERTTE ie§ RATHE

Category 1: Directors S ES
Mr. Ho Yin Sang RAESLAE 1,500,000 - - 1,500,000
Ms. Cheung Wai Lin, Stephanie REBLLT 1,750,000 - (1,750,000) -
Mr. Cheung Ka Shing KRBT 1,980,000 - (460,000 1,520,000
5,230,000 - (2,210,000) 3,020,000
Category 2: Employees EoM BB 440,000 - (440,000) -
Total for all categories FIERERI& T 5,670,000 - (2,650,000) 3,020,000

Under the Scheme of KLHL, on 11 September 2020, 18 September 2020,
14 October 2020, 10 November 2020 and 23 November 2020, an aggregate
of 39,000,000 KLHL share options were exercised at the exercise price of
HK$8.39 per share with closing market prices of HK$10.30, HK$10.84,
HK$12.32, HK$11.62 and HK$12.60 on the immediately preceding business
days respectively and weighted average closing prices of HK$10.72,
HK$10.52, HK$11.11, HK$12.39 and HK$12.39 on the immediately
preceding five business day respectively when the KLHL options were
exercised.

RIBEEBEERNTE  RZZE=FFNA
+—B 22 ZFhA+N\H  ZZEZTF
+A+mE - 2 =TF+—A+BERZEZ
ZF+—H=+=H ' 4 %39,000,00013 & H
BB IR B C X SRS8.30 8 T TTF (BT
> MREERTEREEEREREZ BRT—
& 2 A # U (B 5 5 /&10.307 7T ~ 10.8478
JC ~ 12,3287 « 11.628 7L X 12.608 7T X AT R
A& nEFEHKTED R A10.7287T « 10.52
BT 11187~ 12,3980 & 12.39/8 7T °

-%

—EEFIR



34

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEWRE

SHAR E O PTlO N S (continued)

The following table discloses movements in KLHL Share Options during the
year:

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

B )

TREEZEEERBEENFN2EE

Outstanding Outstanding
as at as at
1 January Granted Exercised 31 December
2020 during the year during the year 2020
R=B=%F
—A—H
i RATHE RERRH RERATHE
KLHL Directors and employees BEREREERES 39,000,000 - (39,000,000) -
Total et 39,000,000 - (39,000,000 -

Save as disclosed, no share option was exercised during the year under
review. There was no share option granted, cancelled or had lapsed under
the Company’s or its subsidiaries share option schemes during the year
under review.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Other than the options as disclosed above, at no time during the year was
the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable
the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENT OR
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Connected Transactions” in this
report and in Note 44 to the consolidated financial statements, (a) there is no
transaction, arrangement or contract of significant subsisting during or at the
end of 31 December 2020 in which a Director or a an entity connected with
a Director is or was materially interested, either directly or indirectly; (b) there
is no contract of significance between the Company or any of its subsidiaries,
and the controlling shareholder of the Company or any of its subsidiaries;
(c) there is no contract of significance for the provision of services to the
Company or any of its subsidiaries by the controlling shareholder of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries.

B ANNUAL REPORT 2020

B EXHBEEIN - REEFE AR
1T » RRABREK B LR 2 BRETEET
REBEFEANLEZL - EHBRESRBEE
KB o

BERODNEZ ZZH

B EXCRBRBRAES - ARBREEMMEL
AIRFREAEERE2 BT ERZE - &
EREAFEBAARR B ST EMEAERE
Bin kB s o

BEARE  ZHHEN

BAREBERS | —BRGEEMEREME
YAFTRBEES (B ERBE_T_FF+ =
A=+ —RLEFEARFRIDARERMESK
HESAHECERERIMERAEERNER
ZERZS ~ ZHHAH + (D)ARBSHE(EMA
EIIEPNGIL N R R S Bl = N ok
PRAXRETSLEERAH) ¢ (C) AR Bl sl H AFAAIFT S
RAZIEBRBERBETIERALN - KAAR
Bl E AP B A R ER AR -
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

At 31 December 2020, the register of substantial Shareholders maintained
by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO shows that, other than
the interests disclosed above in respect of certain Directors, the following
Shareholders had notified the Company of relevant interests or short positions
in the issued share capital of the Company.

Name of shareholder Capacity

IR A

Rt E

Hallgain Management Limited (“Hallgain”) Beneficial owner

(Note) (F45E) BaEBAA
FMR LLC Investment manager
WEKE
Fidelity Purition Trust Investment Manager
WEKE

(] The letter “L” denotes a long position.

Note:  As at 31 December 2020: (i) no shareholder of Hallgain was entitled to exercise, or
control the exercise of, directly or indirectly, one-third or more of the voting power at
general meetings of Hallgain, and Hallgain and its directors were not accustomed to
act in accordance with any shareholder’s direction; and (i) Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing,
being a Director, was also a director of Hallgain.

Other than as disclosed above, the Company had not been notified of any
other relevant interests or short positions in the issued share capital of the
Company as at 31 December 2020 which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO,
or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under Section 336 of the SFO.

e
4
b3
o]
at
a
B
alj

FERR

RBARRBIZES M EGIIFEB6IHATFE
ZEZREAMMALE  R-E-FF+ R
=t—B  TIBRR(EXMEEETEEZ#E
wRIN B MG ARRRERARR D BITHRA
THAZAAESRER -

Approximate
percentage

Number of of the issued
issued share capital
Shares held of the Company
524 RAF]
e 1T ERITRA
BRHBEE ZHHE D
438,943,500 (L) 39.69%
110,740,321 (L) 10.01%
88,588,921 (L) 8.01%
L [LIFRKRR -

ek : REZZZZE+=—A=+—08 : ()i EHallgaini%
REERHallgainlR R N G170 sk B # sk 1=
FITTE =9 —3 A E 2 FRAHE - MHallgain & E
EEWNMEERIBEAREETTE - R()ES
SREIER S 4 TR AHallgain s EE o

Br LalRFEESN AR EENEN —T
FEFT A=+ BZARRDHETRATR
EREH RO SEXVIE2 K3 H 2 HEA
AARRWE 2EMEMAEERRER @ X
RIBE 5 K HIE GHIF33615R E AR RIARF
Z Btk (R R AERE s sA A

—EoEsss EE
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has adopted the principles of
good corporate governance and complied with the applicable code provisions
as set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules throughout the year ended 31 December
2020, save for the deviation that independent non-executive Directors are not
appointed for specific terms pursuant to paragraph A.4.1 of the CG Code.

For further information on the Group’s corporate governance practices during
the year, please refer to the Corporate Governance Report in this annual
report.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

On 3 January 2020, Golden Concept Development Limited, a non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company entered into a preliminary sale and
purchase agreement (the “Sale and Purchase Agreement”) with Mr. Zhang
Guanghui, for the sale of an apartment under the Cavaridge Project. The
transaction constituted as a non-exempt connected transactions (which are
also related party transactions) within the meaning of Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

The following table sets out the information of the property to be sold under
the Sale and Purchase Agreement:

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

ERER

BEERA BEMFATESAIFREBELERE
AT AT EEIRST A IFEEA 41 BRI E
EHMREZREBER I ARBABE_TZ
EET A=+t B LFEADKRRFEE
ERRAFET EWRAMEI4BT 2 b EE
JaSTRIFTESI Z 8 A P RMESC -

FRASREFANEEEAEANEZFE
ALHARFERAZEEERRS

FEXS

MRZZF-ZEF-HA=H AREBPF2ENBR
ARIEERARARERERTEMHEERLSE
BEET—HABIL-ENFEREGH(E
Bl ) - X SBRETRAE4ARMRIE
W NERERER S (R R TR S)

TREIIREEEREFLEZMERNER

Major connected relationship
with the Company

BENRZEEBERR

Mr. Zhang Guanghui
an executive Director

RIS

Note:  The sale of the apartment under The Cavaridge Project includes also residential car
parking space.

In 2020, the Group had the following non-exempt continuing connected
transactions (which are also related party transactions) within the meaning of
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules:

B ANNUAL REPORT 2020

Brother of Mr. Cheung Kwong Kwan, 2,233

HITESREERLENDS

Saleable size Consideration

A EE A RE
(sa.ft.) (HK$)
(FFAR) (A7T)
44,716,000

(Note)

(B5E)

MR BREEEA TZABHERSREEEFEM -

—E-TF - AEBABUT ETHEBIE14AE
Fr AR NERRIFERER S (NBREH
R
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(@

KHL/Hallgain Purchase Framework Agreement

On 25 October 2019, the Company and Hallgain (controlling
shareholder of the Company) entered into a purchase framework
agreement (the “KHL/Hallgain Purchase Framework Agreement”)
pursuant to which the Group agreed to purchase certain materials
for the production of PCBs such as copper balls and drill bits from
Hallgain and its subsidiaries (the “Hallgain Group”) from 1 January
2020 to 31 December 2022. Under the KHL/Hallgain Purchase
Framework Agreement, the amount of materials to be purchased is
not fixed but is to be determined and agreed between the parties
from time to time. The actual quantity, specification and price (with
reference to the prevailing market price) of the materials under the
KHL/Hallgain Purchase Framework Agreement will be subject to the
individual orders placed by the Group with the Hallgain Group.

The transactions contemplated under the KHL/Hallgain Purchase
Framework Agreement constituted continuing connected transactions
for the Company pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules on
the basis that Hallgain is a substantial Shareholder and hence a
connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules.

The annual cap and the actual transaction amount of the transactions
contemplated under the KHL/Hallgain Purchase Framework
Agreement for the year ended 31 December 2020 are set out in
the table below. Details of the KHL/Hallgain Purchase Framework
Agreement were disclosed in the Company’s joint announcement
dated 25 October 2019.

BHEHEERRAF

BERX S @)

(@

E“ﬁ%/Haugainﬁﬁﬁff@Hﬁ%
ZE-AFTAZTHA AR
Hallga|n($ Al 2= Hxl&%)uT_ﬂ%
Eﬁ[ S ([ BB EE HallgainiE B
EEBZE]) Bl AEERERZ
T-_ZTF—F— Eﬁff::¢+_

B =+ —HMmHallgain X £ E A
(THaIIgain;‘%J)Eﬁ%’iﬁlﬂﬂ?&iﬁﬂﬁﬁi
ENRIZERAE T - REZES
E,HallgainfiE BIER K% - BHEZ
MEBEEWIEEE - MEHEFTL T TE
BERRE - BEEE HallganBE
ERBZIE T MBI EREE - A8 K
B (2ERTME) BRTAEBER
Hallgain& B £ 2 B BIET E i 5E e

A HallgainBEZ/EE - BIE TR

BlARRBZBEAL - BUREE LR

ElJ%‘l‘lAE EEEE HallgainEE1E
BHBBBE TN 2 X HERARRA 2 HER

BEEE Hallgain EEIELHHE
ZREBE_ET-_EF+-_A=1+—8
HFEZFELREERZISERNT
* o BEEE Hallgaini SERE 3
ZHBEERARTAMAE-Z—hE+
AZ+REBZHBARNEREE -

—Zz-z£4xR
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b)

KLHL/Hallgain Supply Framework Agreement

On 25 October 2019, KLHL and Hallgain entered into a supply
framework agreement (the “KLHL/Hallgain Supply Framework
Agreement”) pursuant to which the KLHL Group agreed to supply
copper and laminates to the Hallgain Group from 1 January 2020
to 31 December 2022. Under the KLHL/Hallgain Supply Framework
Agreement the amount to be supplied is not fixed but is to be
determined and agreed between the parties from time to time. The
actual quantity, specification and price (with reference to the prevailing
market price) of the products under the KLHL/Hallgain Supply
Framework Agreement will be subject to the individual orders placed
by the Hallgain Group with the KLHL Group.

The transactions contemplated under the KLHL/Hallgain Supply
Framework Agreement constituted continuing connected transactions
for the Company pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules on
the basis that Hallgain is a substantial Shareholder and hence a
connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules, and KLHL
is a subsidiary of the Company.

The annual cap and the actual transaction amount of the transactions
contemplated under the KLHL/Hallgain Supply Framework Agreement
for the year ended 31 December 2020 are set out in the table below.
Details of the KLHL/Hallgain Supply Framework Agreement were
disclosed in the Company’s joint announcement dated 25 October
2019, and KLHL's circular dated 21 November 2019.

B  ANNUAL REPORT 2020

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

BERX S @)

(b)

2 NEE R, Hallgainft FEAEZ 17

R-Z—-NE+A-+EE  &EEE
RE3Hallgaing] M4 EAE 2R e ([ @208
EER,HallgainftEIEZRRRZ D) - &
It BEBEEREERERN-_Z=-F
F—A—RAZET-_—_F+-HA=+—
A AHallgain s E 4t fE i & B mEiR
1R 4% 2 5E 18 B R Hallgain ft fE 1E 22
W BEEZHEEXIEETE M2
HEHNATREERRAE - @ 8HEE
R Hallgainft BIERHZE T 2 E M
EFREE  RERER(BBHTME)
#$18 FHallgainfk B ) g5 1E E Rk &
YEH ZERIETEME

MAHallgain B Z/E « 1RIF LT3R
BlARRRIZBEAL MEBEEIR
BlAARRZHBAR - HIBE TR
AIF14A% - @EEERHallgainftfE
ERBHFETZRSERARRZIFE
BERS) -

HOEME IR, Hallgainft FEAE 28 13 3578
TZRGBEE_EF+_A=+—
AEFEZFELREERRZEHN
T - @BEER,HallgainftEES
HHEZFBERARRBHAZT L
FTHAZ+RAZHAEREF  URE
SEEERN _Z—-NF+—F-+—H
RPN HREE o
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(c)

KLHL/Hallgain Purchase Framework Agreement

On 25 October 2019, KLHL and Hallgain entered into a purchase
framework agreement (the “KLHL/Hallgain Purchase Framework
Agreement”) pursuant to which the KLHL Group agreed to purchase
materials for production of laminates such as drill bits and machineries
from the Hallgain Group from 1 January 2020 to 31 December
2022. Under the KLHL/Hallgain Purchase Framework Agreement,
the amount to be purchased is not fixed but is to be determined and
agreed between the parties from time to time. The actual quantity,
specification and price (with reference to the prevailing market
price) of materials under the KLHL/Hallgain Purchase Framework
Agreement will be subject to the individual orders placed by the KLHL
Group with the Hallgain Group.

The transactions contemplated under the KLHL/Hallgain Purchase
Framework Agreement constituted continuing connected transactions
for the Company pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules on
the basis that Hallgain is a substantial Shareholder and hence a
connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules, and KLHL
is a subsidiary of the Company.

The annual cap and the actual transaction amount of the transactions
contemplated under the KLHL/Hallgain Purchase Framework
Agreement for the year ended 31 December 2020 are set out in
the table below. Details of the KLHL/Hallgain Purchase Framework
Agreement were disclosed in the Company’s joint announcement
dated 25 October 2019 and KLHL’s circular dated 21 November
2019.

BHEHEERRAF

BERX S @)

()

B NEER,HallgainiE BiEZ 1%

R-Z—-NE+A-+EE  &EEE
R E3Hallgains] 3 i EAE 2R % ([ @08
FER,HallgainfB BIERWE ) @ &
It BEBEEREERERN-_Z=-F
F—A—RAZET-_—_F+-HA=+—
H M Hallgain& [ i & #E R #RE S
SEBREROME - BIZZERE
R/ HallgainfE BEER 1 - ©SHEEZ
HEWIEETF - MEHFTHH TEET
FRE - @8EER,HallgainiE B1E
@B E T2 EREE - RIS RE
B(2ERTME)BERTEERERS
& [AHallgain & B EH 2 [ERIET E i E °

MAHallgain B Z/E « RIF LR
BARRRIZBEAL  MEBEEIR
BlAARRZHMBAR » HIBE TR
BIZE14AE - @ERER Hallgaini$ &
ERBHFETZRSERARRZIFE
BERS) -

BIEEER, HallgainfE EIE28 1A
TZ2RGBE_T_FF+-_A=+—
AEFEZFELREERRZEHN
T - @BEERHallgainlE BiES
HHEZFBERARRBHAZT L
FHAZ+RAZHAEREREBHEE
RRZZE—NF+—AZ+—HZBEX
I -

—Zz-z£4xR
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

The annual caps and actual transaction amounts of the continuing connected
transactions disclosed above for the year ended 31 December 2020 are set
out in the table below.

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

BERX S @)

TR EXFBRBEZBE—T_FF+ A
=t REFENBERERZ2FELERR

ERR ST -

Amounts Annual caps
K] FELR
HK$’000 HK$’000
THERT FHET
(i) Purchase of copper balls and drill bits from () ZA&EERE 2 EEE Hallgain 601,436 610,000
the Hallgain Group by the Group under BEEELHEAHalganE@EE
the KHL/Hallgain Purchase Framework 3R K2 $E0E
Agreement
(i) Sales of coppers and laminates to the (i) EEEEREEREEEREER 315,451 568,000
Hallgain Group by the KLHL Group under HallgainfH FEAE 28 7732 (M Hallgain£& (2]
the KLHL/Hallgain Supply Framework & i K B SR AR
Agreement
(i) Purchase of drill bits and machineries from (i) ZETEBiREBIRIEEEHEER, 213,809 345,000
the Hallgain Group by the KLHL Group Hallgain# & 128 173 5% [MHallgain & [
under the KLHL/Hallgain Purchase fEE AR i Es
Framework Agreement

The amounts of the above transactions did not exceed the corresponding
annual caps for the financial year ended 31 December 2020 as announced
by the Group.

The independent non-executive Directors had reviewed the above continuing
connected transactions and confirmed that the transactions have been
entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group, on
normal commercial terms, according to agreement governing them and that
the terms thereof and the relevant annual caps thereto are fair and reasonable
and in the interests of the Company and the Shareholder as a whole.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s continuing
connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits
or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice
Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under
the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. The auditor has issued an unqualified letter containing
the auditor’s findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected
transactions for the year ended 31 December 2020 disclosed by the Group
from pages 36 to 40 of this annual report in accordance with Listing Rule
14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided
by the Company to the Stock Exchange. The auditors has confirmed that
nothing has come to its attention that causes it to believe that the continuing
connected transactions entered into by the Group for the year ended 31
December 2020:

(@) have not been approved by the board;

(b) were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the pricing
policies of the Group;

() were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with the
relevant agreements governing the transactions; and

(d) have exceeded the cap.
The Directors confirm that the Company has complied with the disclosure

requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect
of transactions during the year ended 31 December 2020.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group does not have any plans for material investments and capital assets
as at the date of this report.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the
Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merits, qualifications and
competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the Remuneration
Committee, having regard to the Company’s operating results, individual
performance and comparable market statistics.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to
Directors and eligible employees. Details of the scheme are set out in Note 32
to the consolidated financial statements.

The remuneration paid to a senior management (excluding the directors)
during the year ended 31 December 2020 was within the following band:

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED
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32
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FTEREEE(TRBES) ZHWNTUATE
:

Number of senior

management
ESREEEAY

HK$2,000,001 or above

2,000,001 T3k A 1

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND
DISPOSALS

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group did not have any other material
acquisitions and disposal of subsidiaries, associated companies or joint
ventures for the year ended 31 December 2020.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles
of association although there are no restrictions against such rights under
company laws in the Cayman Islands.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company and to the knowledge
of the Directors, as at the date of this annual report, there was a sufficient
public float of the Company’s issued shares as required under the Listing
Rules.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

According to the articles of association of the Company, every Director,
agent, auditor, secretary or other officer for the time being and from time to
time of the Company (and the personal representatives of those persons, as
the case may be) shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets
and funds of the Company against all actions, proceedings, costs, charges,
expenses, losses, damages or liabilities incurred or sustained by him in or
about the conduct of the Company’s business or affairs or in the execution or
discharge of his duties, powers, authorities or discretions, including, without
prejudice to the generality of the foregoing, any costs, expenses, losses or
liabilities incurred by him in defending (whether successfully or otherwise) any
civil proceedings concerning the Company or its affairs in any court whether
in the Cayman Islands or elsewhere.

Appropriate insurance covering for the Directors’ and senior management’s
liabilities arising out of activities of the Group has been arranged by the
Company.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the aggregate sales or purchases attributable to the Group’s
five largest customers combined or suppliers combined were less than 30%
of the Group’s sales or purchases respectively.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the share option scheme of the Company, no equity-linked
agreement was entered into by the Group, or existed during the year under

review.

AUDITOR

A resolution will be submitted to the annual general meeting to re-appoint
Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Cheung Kwok Wing
CHAIRMAN

22 March 2021
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The Board recognises the importance of corporate governance practice of a
listed company. It is in the interest of the stakeholders and shareholders for
a listed company to operate in a transparent manner with the adoptions of
various self-regulatory policies, procedures and monitoring mechanisms and
a clear definition of accountability of directors and management.

The Company complied with the code provisions as set out in the CG Code
throughout the year ended 31 December 2020, save for the deviation from
paragraph A.4.1 of the CG Code since the independent non-executive
Directors are not appointed for a specific term. Notwithstanding the aforesaid
deviation, all the Directors (including the independent non-executive Directors)
are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the Company’s annual
general meeting in accordance with the Company’s articles of association.
As such, the Company considers that steps have been taken with a view to
ensure that the Company’s corporate governance practices are in line with
the principles of the CG Code.

In addition to applying the principles in the CG Code, which is mandatory
in nature, the Board also observes certain recommended best practices
(“Recommended Best Practices”) contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules and has adopted certain Recommended Best Practices which are
suitable to the Company’s current situation. The Board will continuously
enhance the corporate governance standard of the Company by reference to
the Recommended Best Practices whenever suitable and appropriate.

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors on terms no less exacting than the required
standard of the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”).
Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, each Director has confirmed
that he or she has complied with the required standard set out in the Model
Code and the code of conduct regarding Director’s securities transactions
adopted by the Company throughout the year ended 31 December 2020.
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DIRECTORS

The Board

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Group
and is entrusted with the responsibility to supervise the management
of the business and the affairs of the Group. The Group has adopted
internal guidelines in setting forth matters that require the Board'’s
approval. Apart from its statutory responsibilities, the Board approves
the Group’s strategic plan, annual budget, key operational initiatives,
major investments and funding decisions. It also reviews the Group’s
financial performance, identifies principal risks of the Group’s business
and ensures implementation of appropriate systems to manage these
risks. Daily business operations and administrative functions of the
Group are delegated to the management.

The Board meets regularly and as warranted by particular
circumstances. Notices and agendas are prepared by the Company
Secretary as delegated by the Chairman of the Board and distributed
to the Board members within reasonable time before the meetings.
Relevant meeting papers are also sent to Directors well before the
meetings, informing them of the background and giving explanation
on matters to be brought before the Board. All Directors are given the
opportunity to include matters in the agendas for Board meetings. To
ensure the Directors make decisions objectively and in the interests of
the Company, the Company’s articles of association provide that any
Director shall abstain from voting on any resolutions in which he or his
associates is/are materially interested nor be counted in the quorum
of the meeting. Draft and final versions of the minutes of Board
meetings are sent to all Directors for their comment and records
respectively within a reasonable time after the Board meetings and
are kept by the Company Secretary.
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A. DIRECTORS (continued)

The Board (continued)

During the year under review, the Board had held four meetings
and the Company held an annual general meeting. The Directors’
attendance at Board meetings, Board committees’ meetings and the
general meeting was as follows:

Board
Meeting
Ezg

g3

Number of Meeting R EE 4
Executive Directors BiTES
Cheung Kwok Wing (Chairman) RER(ZE) 4
Chang Wing Yiu (Managing Director) SiR(ESLE) 4
Cheung Kwong Kwan REE 4
Ho Yin Sang fRAE 4
Cheung Wai Lin, Stephanie REE 4
Cheung Ka Shing REK 4
Chen Maosheng R 4
Independent non-executive Directors B FHTES
Cheung Ming Man RAK 4
Chong Kin Ki e 4
Leung Tai Chiu 2ER(R-Z-2F

(resigned on 31 Qctober 2020) TA=+-AE) 3
Chan Wing Kee Bk 4

Stanley Chung Wai Cheong
(appointed on 31 October 2020)

Note:

ERE(N-F-Z%
TA=Zt+-BEZA)

General meeting refers to the Company’s annual general meeting held on 25 May

2020.
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The Board (continued)

The Directors have observed the importance of directing and
supervising the Company’s affairs at a more regular interval. After
consulting all Directors, Board meetings have been preliminarily
scheduled to be held at quarterly interval and no less than four times
in the coming year.

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in D.3.1
of the CG Code.

During the year under review, the Board met once to review the
Company’s corporate governance policies and practices, training
and continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management, the Company’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements, the compliance of the Model
Code and the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.

Division and responsibilities

During the year under review, the Board was headed by the Chairman
whose role differs from that of the Managing Director of the Company.
The roles of the Chairman and Managing Director were segregated
and are not exercised by the same individual.

The duties of the Chairman include (but not limited to) the following:

o scheduling meetings that enable the Board to perform
its duties and responsibilities and to ensure all key and
appropriate issues are discussed by the Board in a timely
manner without interfering the Company’s operations;

o preparing meeting agenda after consultation with the
Managing Director;

° exercising control over quality, quantity and timeliness of the
flow of information between Management and the Board and
to ensure decisions are made on a fully informed basis by the
Directors; and

o assisting in ensuring compliance with the Listing Rules and
the Company’s guidelines on corporate governance.

The Managing Director was mainly responsible for the overall strategic
planning and day-to-day management of the Group.
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DI RECTO RS (continued)

Board composition

The Board currently comprises eleven members, seven of whom are
executive Directors and four of whom are independent non-executive
Directors who are expressly identified in all corporate communications
that disclose the names of the Directors. One of the independent non-
executive Directors possesses appropriate professional qualifications
(or accounting or related financial management expertise) as required
by the Listing Rules. The composition of the Board as of the report
date is as follows:

Executive Directors

Cheung Kwok Wing (Chairman)
Chang Wing Yiu (Managing Director)
Cheung Kwong Kwan

Ho Yin Sang

Cheung Wai Lin, Stephanie

Cheung Ka Shing

Chen Maosheng

Independent non-executive Directors

Cheung Ming Man

Chong Kin Ki

Leung Tai Chiu (resigned on 31 October 2020)

Chan Wing Kee

Stanley Chung Wai Cheong (appointed on 31 October 2020)

Ms. Cheung Wai Lin, Stephanie is the sister of Mr. Cheung Kwok
Wing. Mr. Cheung Kwong Kwan is a cousin of Mr. Cheung Kwok
Wing and Ms. Cheung Wai Lin, Stephanie. Mr. Chang Wing Yiu and
Mr. Ho Yin Sang are brothers-in-law of Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing and
Ms. Cheung Wai Lin, Stephanie. Mr. Cheung Ka Shing is the son
of Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing, the nephew of Ms. Cheung Wai Lin,
Stephanie and Mr. Cheung Kwong Kwan and the nephew-in-law of
Mr. Chang Wing Yiu and Mr. Ho Yin Sang.

During the year under review, the independent non-executive
Directors were not appointed for specific terms but are subject to
retirement by rotation and are eligible for re-election. The Board
considers that although such arrangement deviates from paragraph
A.4.1 of the CG Code, sufficient measures have been taken to ensure
that the Company’s corporate governance practices are no less
exacting than those in the CG Code.
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Board composition (continued)

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence
as required under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board also
considers that the independent non-executive Directors remain
independent.

The Board comprises Directors who collectively provide core
competencies, sales and marketing experience and technical
knowledge in laminates, printed circuit boards, property developments
and chemical products, administration and management experience
in the PRC factories, financial and accounting skills. The Company
believes that the current Board with a balance of skills and experience
is appropriate for effective decision making, taking into account the
nature and scope of the operations of the Company.

Appointment, re-election and removal

The Company’s articles of association set out a formal, considered
and transparent procedure for the appointment of new Directors to
the Board. Any Director appointed by the Board either to fill a casual
vacancy or as addition to the Board, shall retire and be eligible for
re-appointment at the next following general meeting (in the case
of filing a casual vacancy) or annual general meeting (in the case of
an additions to the Board) after appointment. The appointment of
Directors are not fixed for a specified term, but at every annual general
meeting one-third of the directors, including the Chairman, shall be
subject to retirement by rotation and re-appointment by Shareholders.
The Directors appointed by the Board who are subject to retirement
and re-appointment as mentioned above shall be taken into account
in calculating the total number of Directors for the time being but shall
not be taken into account in calculating the number of Directors who
are to retire by rotation. All Directors eligible for re-appointment shall
have their biographical details made available to the Shareholders to
enable them to make an informed decision on their re-appointment.
Any appointment, resignation, removal or re-designation of Director
shall be timely disclosed to the Shareholders by announcement and
the reasons given by the Director for his resignation shall be included
in the announcement.

Responsibilities of Directors

The Company and the Board require each Director to keep abreast of
his responsibilities as a director of the Company and of the conduct,
business activities and development of the Company. Every Director
is required to devote sufficient time and involvement in the affairs of
the Board and the material matters of the Company and to serve
the Board with such degree of care and due diligence given his own
expertise, qualification and professionalism.
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Responsibilities of Directors (continued)

Every newly appointed Director shall receive a comprehensive, formal
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his appointment. All
Directors shall be updated and briefed on continuing professional
development as is necessary to ensure that they have a proper
understanding of the operations and the business of the Company
and that they are fully aware of their responsibilities under the
applicable laws and regulations. The Board has a procedure for
Directors, either individually or as a group, in the furtherance of their
duties, to take independent professional advice, if necessary, at
the Company’s expenses to enable and facilitate the Directors to
make well considered decisions. Appropriate insurance coverage for
Directors’ and officers’ liability has been arranged against possibility of
legal action to be taken against the Directors and the management.

According to A.6.5 of the CG Code, Directors should participate in
appropriate continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to
the Board remains informed and relevant.

During the year under review, the Directors also participated in the
following trainings:
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Attending or participating in
the briefing session/seminars/
programmes relevant to

the business/directors’ duties

HE 'ﬁ“ﬁi‘ﬁ_ BER/
Name of Directors ESRENENE BAE
Executive Directors HWITES
Cheung Kwok Wing (Chairman) RER(EE) v
Chang Wing Yiu (Managing Director) kg (EFEE) v
Cheung Kwong Kwan REE 4
Ho Yin Sang A% 4
Cheung Wai Lin, Stephanie wiEE 4
Cheung Ka Shing REK, v
Chen Maosheng 55321 4
Independent non-executive Directors BAUFRITES
Cheung Ming Man REAH 4
Chong Kin Ki THEREH 4
Leung Tai Chiu (resigned on 31 October 2020) REBR-_Z-ZTFTA=T—HEA) -
Chan Wing Kee BRKAE v
Stanley Chung Wai Cheong (appointed on 31 October 2020)  &EE(N-ZE-ZE+A=+—AEZT) v

The Directors confirmed that they have complied with A.6.5 of the CG
Code on Directors’ training for the year ended 31 December 2020.

Mr. Leung Tai Chiu was resigned as director before the sessions/
seminars/programmes held by the Company, but has participated in
other trainings and development in relation to directors’ duties.

ExmR BE_ZT_ZTF+_A
=t+—RALEE  REFCETEHES
Fil 2 BEEIATRIFA6.50%

BRAERARRRREN & BER
e/ EMBTEARESR  BRELS
S E A B E E A ARBI A0S R
& e

]

—Zz-z£4xR



52

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

1o 3

BERWmE

DI RECTO RS (continued)

Supply of and access to information

The management of the Company has an obligation to furnish the
Board with complete, adequate and appropriate information in
such form and such quality in a timely manner so as to enable them
to make an informed decision and to discharge their duties and
responsibilities as Directors of the Company. All the Directors are
given separate and independent access to the Company’s senior
management.

All the Directors are given separate and independent access to
the Company Secretary, whose role includes ensuring that Board
procedures are observed and followed, and that applicable rules and
regulations are complied with. The Company Secretary attends all the
meetings of the Board and Board committees and is responsible for
drafting minutes and keeping minutes records which can be accessed
by any Director for inspection.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The level and make-up of remuneration and disclosure
The Board has set up a remuneration committee (the “Remuneration
Committee”) which comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Dr. Chong Kin Ki (Chairman), Mr. Stanley Chung
Wai Cheong and Mr. Cheung Ming Man as at the date of the report.
The role of the Remuneration Committee is to formulate policies
and procedures for determining the remuneration of Directors and
senior management and other remuneration related matters. The
Remuneration Committee is set up with written terms of reference
which set out clearly its duties and authorities delegated by the Board,
including the following duties:

o formulate the framework or Board policy for determining
the remuneration of the Company’s Board and senior
management. The objective of such policy should ensure
that members of the senior management of the Company are
provided with appropriate incentives to encourage enhanced
performance and are, in a fair and reasonable manner,
rewarded for their individual contributions to the success of
the Company;
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

The level and make-up of remuneration and disclosure

(continued)

° recommend specific remuneration packages including, where
appropriate, allowances, bonuses, benefits in kind, incentive
payments, and share options, if any, for each executive
Director and the Managing Director and such other members
of senior management as it is designated to consider;

° recommend targets for any performance-linked pay schemes
operated by the Company, taking into account remuneration
and employment conditions within the industry and in
comparable companies; and

° recommend to the Board the remuneration of independent
non-executive Directors (including non-executive Directors,
if any), taking into account factors such as effort, time spent
and responsibilities.

When recommending the remuneration package for each individual
Director, the Remuneration Committee will consider his qualification
and experience, specific duties and responsibilities assigned to
him by the Board and the prevailing market packages available for
similar position. The emoluments of the Directors on a named basis
for the year under review is set out on pages 161 to 165 in Note
11 to the financial statements. Review and comparison in terms of
Directors’ emoluments package and net profits of the Group are
made from time to time with comparable listed industrial companies
with similar capitalisation to the Group. Considering all such factors,
the Remuneration Committee would make recommendation on the
remuneration package for each Director after consultation with the
Chairman.

During the year under review, the Remuneration Committee had
convened two meetings during which the Remuneration Committee,
among other things, assessed the performance, and determined
the remuneration policy and packages for all Directors and senior
management.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
Company’s account which gives a true and fair view of the financial
position of the Group. The Company deploys appropriate and
sufficient resources to prepare unaudited half-yearly account and
audited yearly account. Senior management is required to present
and explain the financial reporting and matters that materially
affect or may have material impact on the financial performance
and operations of the Company to the Audit Committee and the
Board and respond to the queries and concerns raised by the Audit
Committee and the Board to their satisfaction. The statement of the
auditor of the Company about their reporting responsibilities on the
financial statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on
pages 64 to 70 of this annual report.

Risk Management, Internal Control and Responsibility
of the Board

The Board acknowledges its accountability to the risk management
and internal control systems and its responsibility to review the
effectiveness of the systems. The Board also clarifies that the systems
are purported to manage, but not eliminate, the risk of failure to
fulfil business objectives, and can only provide reasonable but not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

Management is responsible for setting the appropriate tone from
the top, performing risk assessment, and owning the design,
implementation and maintenance of internal control. Essential to such
risk management and internal control systems are well defined policies
and procedures that are properly documented and communicated to
employees.

The Group has in place a system of internal controls, the key elements
of which are as follows:

° formal policies and procedures are in place, including the
documentation of key processes, procedures and rules
relating to the delegation of authorities. These allow the
monitoring of controls and restrict the unauthorised use of the
Group assets;

o experienced and suitably qualified staff take responsibility for
important business functions. Annual appraisal procedures
have been established to maintain standards of performance;

. monthly business and financial reports are prepared, providing
relevant, timely, reliable and up-to-date financial and other
information; budget variances are investigated as appropriate;
and

° an internal audit function, which reports directly to the Audit
Committee, is in place to determine whether the above
procedures are properly carried out.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)

Risk Management, Internal Control and Responsibility
of the Board (continued)

The Group has established an internal audit department to review
the financial condition, operational condition, risk management,
compliance control and internal control of the Group. For 2020, the
Board has conducted a review on the effectiveness of the above
internal control system of the Group including financial, operational
and compliance controls and risk management and will conduct
such review at least once a year, so as to ensure the Shareholders’
investment and the Group’s assets are properly safeguarded. The
Board is satisfied that, based on the information supplied, coupled
with its own observations and with the assistance of the Audit
Committee, the present internal controls and risk management
processes are satisfactory, effective and adequate for the nature and
size of the Group’s operations and business.

In addition to the internal control system, the Board has established
an internal audit team that reports directly to the Audit Committee.
The internal audit team will independently audit various functions,
operations and systems that exist in the Company according to
their weight of significance to the Company as well as the priority
list recommended by the Audit Committee. The internal audit team
will prepare an internal audit report highlighting the deficiencies and
weaknesses in existing audit functions, operations and systems for
discussion by the Audit Committee and the Board, and based on
these findings the Board will instruct the senior management to take
appropriate corrective and improvement actions.
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C. ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)

Audit Committee

The Board has established the Audit Committee with specific written
terms of reference setting out duties, responsibilities and authorities
delegated to them by the Board. The major duties and responsibilities
of the Audit Committee include the following:

o review with the external auditor, the audit plan;

° review with the external auditor, their evaluation of the system
of internal accounting controls;

o review the scope and results of the internal audit procedures;

° review the statement of financial position and statement of
profit or loss of the Company and the consolidated statement
of financial position and statement of profit or loss of the
Group and submit them to the Board;

o nominate persons as auditor;

° review with the internal and external auditors their findings on
their evaluation of the Company’s system of internal controls
for the purpose of assisting the Board in developing policies
that would enhance the controls and operating systems of the
Company; and

o review connected transactions and examine the adequacy

of internal controls of the Group as part of the standard
procedures.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)

Audit Committee (continued)

The Audit Committee assists the Board to fulfil its oversight role
over the Group’s risk management and internal control functions
by reviewing and evaluating the effectiveness of our overall risk
management and internal control systems at least annually.

The Group’s risk management and internal control systems is
embedded within our business processes so that it functions as
an integral part of the overall operation of the Group. The systems
comprises a comprehensive organisation structure with assignment
of definite accountabilities and delegation of corresponding authorities
to each post. Based on our organisation structure, a reporting system
has been developed including reporting channels from division heads
of business units to the Board.

The risk management and internal control systems and accounting
system of the Group are aimed at identifying and evaluating
the Group’s risk and formulate risk mitigation strategies, and to
provide reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against
unauthorised use or disposition, transactions are executed in
accordance with management’s authorisation, and the accounting
records are reliable for preparing financial information used within the
business for publication, maintaining accountability for assets and
liabilities and ensuring the business operations are in accordance with
relevant legislation, regulations and internal guidelines.

The Group has a defined organisational structure with clearly defined
lines of responsibility and authority. Each department is accountable
for its daily operations and is required to report to executive Directors
on a regular basis. Policies and procedures are set for each
department, which includes establishing and maintaining effective
policies to enhance risks identification to which the Group is exposed
and taking appropriate actions to manage such risks, establishing a
structure with defined authorities and proper segregation of duties;
monitoring the strategic plan and performance; designing an effective
accounting and information system; controlling price sensitive
information; and ensuring swift actions and timely communication
with our stakeholders.

Procedures and Controls over Handling and Dissemination of
Inside Information

With respect to the procedures and internal controls for the handling
and dissemination of inside information, the Group has internal policy
and procedures which strictly prohibit unauthorised use of inside
information and has communicated to all staff; the Board is aware
of its obligations to announce any inside information in accordance
with the Listing Rules and conducts the affairs with reference to
the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information” issued by the
Securities and Futures Commission in June 2012. In addition, only
Directors and delegated officers can act as the Group’s spokesperson
and respond to external enquiries about the Group’s affairs.
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C. ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)

Audit Committee (continued)

The duties of the Audit Committee include reviewing the scope and
results of the audit and its cost effectiveness, and the independence
and objectivity of the Company’s auditor, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu.
The Audit Committee will review the independence of the Company’s
auditor, the resources and adequacy of the internal audit function,
at least once a year. Where the auditor also supplies non-audit
services to the Company, the Committee will keep the nature and
extent of such services under review, seeking to balance between the
maintenance of objectivity and value for money. During the year under
review, the fees paid/payable to the Company’s auditor in respect of
audit and non-audit services provided by the Company’s auditor to
the Group were as follows:

Nature of services PRIEMHEE
Audit services ZEPRTS
Non-audit services FERZEARTS

()  Tax services (i)
(i)  Other services (comprising compliance review, (i)
internal control review and ESG report)

%5 AR 75

The Audit Committee has undertaken a review of all the non-
audited services provided by the Company’s auditor and concluded
that in their opinion such services did not affect the independence
of the auditor. The Board has appointed an accountant to be
responsible for the accounting and financial matters of the Group
and the Audit Committee has free access to the accountant and
senior management of the Group and to any financial and relevant
information which enables them to discharge their audit committee
function effectively and efficiently. Besides internal assistance being
available, the Audit Committee may request for assistance and
advice from external auditor as and when it considers necessary
at the expenses of the Company. The Audit Committee shall meet
with external auditor without the presence of executive Directors to
discuss the Group’s financial reporting and any major and financial
matters arising during the year under review at least once a year.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)

Audit Committee (continued)
In addition, the Audit Committee is authorised:

. to investigate any matter within its written terms of reference;
o to have full access to and co-operation by the management;
° to have full discretion to invite any Director or executive officer

to attend its meetings; and

. to have reasonable resources to enable it to discharge its
functions properly.

The Board will ensure that the members of the Audit Committee
are appropriately qualified to discharge their responsibilities and at
least one member has accounting and related financial management
expertise or experience. The Audit Committee comprises three
independent non-executive Directors as at the date of this report,
namely Mr. Stanley Chung Wai Cheong (Chairman), Dr. Chong Kin Ki
and Mr. Cheung Ming Man.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee had performed the
following works:

o review of the scope of audit work;

° review and discussion of the annual financial results and
report in respect of the year ended 31 December 2019 and
interim financial results and report for the six months ended
30 June 2020 and discussion with the management of the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group;

° discussion and recommendation of the re-appointment of the
external auditors; and

. review of the internal control, financial reporting and risk
management systems of the Group.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee had convened
three meetings.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

Management function

The Company’s articles of association set out matters which are
specifically reserved to the Board for its decision. Executive Directors
normally meet on an informal basis every two weeks and participate
in senior management meetings on a regular basis to keep abreast of
the latest operations and performance of the Group and to monitor
and ensure the management carry out the directions and strategies
set by the Board correctly and appropriately. Clear instructions are
given to the management as to the matters which should bring to the
attention and be determined by the Board on behalf of the Company.

Board committees

The Board has set up three Board committees, namely Audit
Committee, Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee,
each chaired by a different independent non-executive Director, to
assist the Board in discharging functions specific to each committee.
Each Board committee has its own written terms of reference
setting out the principles, procedures and arrangements which are
substantially the same as those for the Board.

The Nomination Committee comprises three members who are
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Cheung Ming Man
(Chairman), Dr. Chong Kin Ki and Mr. Stanley Chung Wai Cheong as
at the date of this report. According to the written terms of reference
of the Nomination Committee, the major responsibilities of the
Nomination Committee include:

° regularly review the structure, size and composition of the
Board and make recommendations to the Board with regard
to any adjustments that are deemed necessary;

° review whether or not an independent non-executive Director
is independent for the purpose of the Listing Rules on an
annual basis;

° identify and nominate for the approval of the Board,

candidates to fill board vacancies as and when they arise;

o assess the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and the
contribution by each individual Director to the effectiveness of
the Board; and

° re-nominate a Director as an independent non-executive
Director, if applicable, having regard to his contribution and
performance
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD (continued)

Board committees (continued)

During the year under review and up to the date of this report, the
Nomination Committee had convened two meetings during which,
among other things, considered which should retire by rotation
pursuant to the Company’s articles of association and the CG Code.
The Nomination Committee had resolved that Mr. Chang Wing Yiu,
Mr. Cheung Ka Shing and Mr. Chen Maosheng, being executive
Directors and Mr. Chong Kin Ki and Mr. Stanley Chung Wai Cheong,
being independent non-executive Directors, shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company. Mr. Chang Wing Yiu, Mr. Cheung Ka Shing and Mr.
Chen Maosheng, being executive Directors and Mr. Chong Kin Ki and
Mr. Stanley Chung Wai Cheong, being independent non-executive
Directors, will offer themselves for re-election. During the meetings
of the Nomination Committee, it had considered the policy for the
nomination of Directors, and the process and criteria adopted by
the Nomination Committee to select and recommend candidates for
directorship.

It had also reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board
to ensure that it has a balance of expertise, skills and experience
appropriate to the requirements of the business of the Company and
assessed the independence of all the independent non-executive
Directors. All the above-named Directors were nominated by the
Nomination Committee to stand for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company.

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy in accordance with
the CG Code. The policy aims to achieve diversity on the members of
the Board. In designing the Board’s composition, a number of aspects
would be considered, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service.

D.

BHEHEERRAF

EEERINER

EEZEEWH)
REEEERBEARE AL - 17
LEBEREMARE  (Hhaef)=
BRERBAD R ZEHSRMBI R %
BRTARERICESLE - 25
BERABBHNITE FEAREE - R
KRBk 50 A R PR 155 2% 4t A DA R IB ST 3RS T
EEUDHBARBESLEANED
FEERRBEASHERE - hITE
BEBREE - RRK S ERBREE S
EURBY T E R BB RS
BEAEBBREE -CRAZECE
SR HOERERRAVEE &
IREE B eRIE R E ERA AR
FTER A E BT R o

REZEENCRNEFERE  HARE
KA - BREEGDAARAERS
PR ERAF - WL RERIEEF
& MEHEPTE B IEMITESR 2B
1o b AEETRIRERZE GRS
RARREERRAFAGERET -

EXgCREBOEEATARMNESS
ZEBEK - BRENERSERTENK
BEZTL - EFFTEFENASTMA
i - BEEZELE  BEATER
Rl Filk - UERHBESS - Bk
HELR - BEE - MBRMEY -

—Zz-z£4xR



62

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

it S

BERWmE

COMMUNICATION WITH
SHAREHOLDERS

The Board endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with
Shareholders. All Directors are encouraged to attend the general
meetings to have personal communication with Shareholders. In
annual general meeting, Chairman of the Board and the chairman of
each committee are required to attend and answer questions from
Shareholders in respect of the matters that they are responsible
and accountable for. The external auditor is also required to be
present to assist the Directors in addressing any relevant queries
by Shareholders. The Company has also set up a public relations
website which enables the Shareholders and public to post their
questions, comments and opinions in relation to the Group to the
Board.

The Company’s annual general meeting (“AGM”) and extraordinary
general meeting (“‘EGM”) provide good opportunities for Shareholders
to air their views and ask Directors and management questions
regarding the Company. All Shareholders receive the annual
report, circulars and notices of AGM and EGM and other corporate
communications. The notices are also published on the Company’s
website at www.kingboard.com. Separate resolutions are required
at general meetings on each distinct issue. Each Shareholder is
permitted to appoint a proxy to attend and vote in his stead.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, separate resolutions
are proposed at Shareholders’ meetings on each substantial issue,
including the election of individual Directors, for Shareholders’
consideration and voting. Besides, pursuant to the Company’s
articles of association, Shareholder(s) holding not less than one-tenth
of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings may request the Company to convene an EGM by
sending a written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary.
The objects of the meeting must be stated in the written requisition.

Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company for putting
forward any enquiries or proposals to the Board. Contact details are as
follows:
Address: 23/F, Delta House

3 On Yiu Street

Shek Mun

Shatin, N.T.

Hong Kong

Fax: (852) 2691 0445/2691 5245
Email: enquiry@kingboard.com

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholder(s) must deposit and send
the original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or
enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address and provide their
full name, contact details and identification in order to give effect
thereto. Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required by
law.

During the year under review, the Company has not made any
changes to its articles of association.

An up to date version of the Company’s articles of association is
available on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s
website. Shareholders may refer to the Company’s articles of
association for further details of their rights.

All resolutions put forward at Shareholders’ meetings will be voted
by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and the poll voting results will
be posted on the websites of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company (www.kingboard.com)
immediately after the relevant general meetings.
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Deloitte.

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Kingboard Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “the
Group”) set out on pages 71 to 272, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity
and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes
to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2020,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

FARETER

BHEHEERRAF

FREETEE )

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BRNFSFOMHRARETSRETERE

Assessment of net realisable values of properties held for development (“PHD”)

AHEFRRME(FRRYE D WTE2RFE

We identified the assessment of net realisable values of PHD as
a key audit matter due to the significance of the amounts and
judgements involved in estimating their net realisable values
and the future costs to completion of the PHD.

The carrying value of the Group’s PHD amounted to HK$19.8
billion as at 31 December 2020. The Group’s PHD are all
situated in Hong Kong and the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC”).

As disclosed in Notes 4 and 26 to the consolidated financial
statements, the net realisable values of the PHD are
determined by reference to the estimated future selling prices.
The future selling prices are estimated by reference to the
recent selling prices of similar properties in the same project
or relevant locations. In addition, the management estimates
the future costs to complete the PHD by reference to the
actual development costs incurred and the completion status.
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Our procedures in relation to the assessment of net realisable
values of PHD included:

. Evaluating the reasonableness of the costs recognised
in PHD, on a sample basis, by obtaining the direct
confirmations from independent qualified surveyors in
respect of the costs incurred and the completion status;

° Assessing the appropriateness of the estimated future
selling prices of the PHD, on a sample basis, by comparing
them to recent transaction prices of similar properties
in the same project or relevant locations, based on
our knowledge of the property markets of the relevant
locations; and

o Evaluating the reasonableness of the estimated future
costs to completion of the PHD, on a sample basis,
based on the actual development costs incurred and the
completion status of the properties of the Group with the
adjustments, taking into account the current market data
and the past history of the similar projects.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

FREETEE )

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

HRESE

Valuation of investment properties

REWENGE

We identified the valuation of investment properties as a key
audit matter due to the inherent level of subjective judgements
and complex estimates required in determining the fair values.

The Group’s investment property portfolio comprises
commercial, residential and industrial properties located
in Hong Kong, the PRC and the United Kingdom, which
was stated at fair value of HK$20.1 billion, accounting for
approximately 21.5% of the Group’s total assets as at 31
December 2020 with a loss on fair value change of HK$5.4
million recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss for the year then ended.

As further disclosed in Notes 4 and 14 to the consolidated
financial statements, in estimating the fair values of these
investment properties, the Group engaged a professional
independent valuer (the “Valuer”), to carry out the valuation.
The management provided information to the Valuer and
the Valuer established and determined the appropriate
technique and inputs to the valuation model. The significant
unobservable input of the approach is the price per square
metre of comparable properties. Changes in the comparable
properties adopted may result in a significant increase or
decrease in fair values.
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Our procedures in relation to the management’s valuation of
investment properties included:

o Evaluating the competence, capability, and objectivity of
the Valuer;
o Understanding the key assumptions applied to the

valuation based on available market data and evaluating
their reasonableness; and

o Assessing the reasonableness of the price per square
metre of comparable properties and information used by
the Valuer and the management in the valuation model,
including adjustment factors for location and other
individual factors such as road frontage, size of property
and facilities, on a sample basis, in order to assess the
appropriateness, completeness and accuracy of these
inputs and comparing the comparable properties adopted
with fair market unit price.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the annual report,
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but
to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our
agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents
of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless
law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent auditor’s
report is Tsang Chi Wai.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

22 March 2021
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
mERER

For the year ended 31 December 2020 BHE =T -TF+-A=+—HILFE

b
J
at
@
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el

2020 2019
—EDERF —ZT-NF
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’'000
FaaE FET FBT
Revenue BEEE 5 43,510,274 41,160,851
Cost of sales and services rendered SHE IR AR A (31,283,450) (32,146,545)
Gross profit FEF 12,226,824 9,014,306
Other income, gains and losses HaU A - Y25 R 7 96,969 (98,519)
Distribution costs DA (1,165,401) (1,185,765)
Administrative costs TR AN (1,992,291) (2,194,975)
(Loss) gain on fair value changes of BEAVEFABSE EmTA
equity instruments at fair value ZAHEES (EE) K&
through profit or loss (978,285) 40,920
Gain on disposal of debt HERAFEFAEMEE
instruments at fair value a2 B TAZ e
through other comprehensive income 106,245 142,140
(Loss) gain on fair value changes of WEYMENTEESZ 14
investment properties (B1E) W (5,437) 6,263
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HERB ARz W 35 29,776 -
Finance costs BhE KA 8 (457,179) (752,001)
Share of results of joint ventures N ANCI S 77,868 93,867
Share of result of an associate NI E (2,673) 51,677
Profit before taxation R AL A 7,936,416 5,122,913
Income tax expense FriSifsz 9 (2,108,063) (1,353,933
Profit for the year F N F 10 5,828,353 3,768,980
Profit for the year attributable to: REE G EIEHE -
Owners of the Company ZNNGIESYEDN 4,702,884 3,094,421
Non-controlling interests RIS 1,125,469 674,559
5,828,353 3,768,980
Earnings per share FRRER 13
_ Basic A HK$4.257385T  HK$2.850/ 7T
- Diluted —H#E HK$4.2528 7t  HK$2.849/8 7T
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
meafnREMEEKER

For the year ended 31 December 2020 BE =T -TF+-A=+—HILFE

2020 2019
—g-85  —T-NF

HK$’000 HK$'000
Fi#% SRCTE

Profit for the year F g 5,828,353 3,768,980

Other comprehensive income (expense) for the year KN4 /ZH i1 2 EH 5 (FT55)
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss: T &WEHHDEEER7ER -

Translation reserve: P 5 fE 4
Exchange differences arising from ENEZ2REEmMEEZ
translation to presentation currency b 5 Z=RE 3,658,394 (472,420)
Investment revaluation reserve: WA B
Fair value loss on equity instruments at fair BAFEFAEMEEREZ
value through other comprehensive income EnTEZ A FHERE (162,918) (1,206)
Property revaluation reserve: MESLRHE
Gain on revaluation of properties, plant and ME - BMEMREERS
equipment upon transfer to investment B YRR E U
properties - 24,211
3,495,476 (449,415)
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to ERAEWE IS
profit or loss: B2 HA
Investment revaluation reserve: WE B
Fair value (loss) gain on debt instruments BAFEFARMEE
at fair value through W BB ITAZ
other comprehensive income AEE(BEE) W (38,148) 786,356
Reclassify to profit or loss upon disposal of HERA AT AEAM
debt instruments at fair value through FHRWEZEFITA
other comprehensive income MEMHEEER (106,245) (142,140)
Translation reserve: P& W e
Exchange differences arising from AT EIMbEEmMEL Z
translation of foreign operations N ER 13,268 41,538
(131,125) 685,754
Other comprehensive income for the year AEEHMEER 3,364,351 236,339
Total comprehensive income for the year AEEEEW BT 9,192,704 4,005,319
Total comprehensive income AEE2EEE
for the year attributable to: HEEBFE(R DR
Owners of the Company RATFEBA 7,804,070 3,244,353
Non-controlling interests FEFE IS RE S 1,388,634 760,966
9,192,704 4,005,319
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

mEM BRI

At 31 December 2020 R=Z=ZTF+=-_A=+—H

EEHEEBERA

2020
—?—7q£

HK$’000
TR

Gl

2019
—hEF
HK$'000
TET

Non-current assets ERBEE

Investment properties KEME 14 20,053,947 19,082,748
Properties, plant and equipment ME - R NERE 15 14,576,075 14,800,958
Right-of-use assets FRAEEE 16 1,736,680 1,692,326
Goodwill [EES 17 2,670,528 2,670,528
Intangible assets mREE 18 54,360 60,840
Interests in an associate REtE R T 2 s 19 369,314 397,950
Interests in joint ventures RELREZHED 20 2,609,520 2,536,434
Equity instruments at fair value through RN EFF AR 2 21

profit or loss EaT A 3,327,715 2,366,024
Equity instruments at fair value through BRAFESAREMER

other comprehensive income Was o Em T A - 162,918
Debt instruments at fair value through BAFEFARMEE 22

other comprehensive income WEHZEBRTA 1,741,763 7,016,503
Loan receivable R E = 23 - 600,000
Entrusted loans ZHER 27(a) 398,241 465,859
Deposits paid for acquisition of BEYE  BEREHR

properties, plant and equipment BEMEZBENTE

and investment properties 150,858 611,724
Deferred tax assets RIENIBE E 24 2,667 2,539

47,691,668 52,467,351
Current assets MEEE

Inventories FE 25 3,010,897 2,962,386
Properties held for development FERY 26 19,842,807 21,115,592
Trade and other receivables and B 5 R H M FERER 27(a)

prepayments TR FRIE 8,953,048 8,771,416
Bills receivables RN EE 27(b) 3,768,013 4,085,752
Loan receivable R E = 23 600,000 -
Equity instruments at fair value through BAFEFABEZ 21

profit or loss EmITHE 2,333,796 491,397
Debt instruments at fair value through BAFER AR MEE 22

other comprehensive income Wz EFTEA 461,584 866,041
Taxation recoverable AJ Y E R IE 18,468 18,227
Bank balances and cash RITEBNIES 27(c) 6,568,857 6,256,964

45,557,470 44,567,775
e

e
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e MBI K

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

2020 2019
—_ ? —= ﬂE — = _j-LEF
HK$’000 HK$ (00[0]
FHET BT
Current liabilities Pk IN=NE
Trade and other payables B 5 REMBENER 28 6,538,122 5,841,173
Bills payables F%E INEZ 28 377,036 359,920
Contract liabilities AHIAaE 28 3,789,029 6,374,105
Dividend payable F’Eﬁﬂx 2 1,930,710 -
Taxation payable e TR IE 1,880,064 1,369,201
Bank borrowings |ITEE 29
— amount due within one year ——FRB|E 7 HIE 8,612,099 7,862,991
Lease liabilities HEAE 30 4,212 2,906
23,131,272 21,810,296
Net current assets mEEEFE 22,426,198 22,757,479
Total assets less current liabilities BERBERRDEE 70,117,866 75,224,830
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Deferred tax liabilities BT IBAE 24 690,621 697,954
Bank borrowings H|ITEE 29
— amount due after one year ——F BBz 8 8,618,747 16,546,918
Lease liabilities HEaE 30 9,792 10,308
9,319,160 17,255,180
60,798,706 57,969,650
Capital and reserves AR A R b
Share capital REA 31 110,579 110,576
Reserves & 55,754,324 50,077,989
Equity attributable to owners RRaEE AEMLERS
of the Company 55,864,903 50,188,565
Non-controlling interests FEIZERR A A 33 4,933,803 7,781,085
Total equity EARERE 60,798,706 57,969,650
The consolidated financial statements on pages 71 to 272 were approved EREeR T F=-A-+_HBHEEK

and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 22 March 2021 and are 1 T EE %71 1272E2,m/\ IS mE - WA K

signed on its behalf by: NNESREER
Cheung Kwok Wing Chang Wing Yiu
REIS BRIk R
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
EE =
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Bl

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEERRBR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 BHE =T -TF+-A=+—HILFE

s of the Company

based Special I Non-
Share Share s surplus i evauaion  Trandlation  Retained controling Total
capltal  premium reserve £ Teserve pofs~ Sub-fofdl interests equity

E I
HK$000 HKS 000

ThT

Balance at 1 January 2019 RZE-hE
-A-H&% 108315 6,074903 1,911 - 10504 1213203 266370 1728844 (300431) (143033 36472309 47332985 7300286 54633271

Proft for the year ERET - - - - - - - - - - 3004421 3094421 674559 3,768,980
Fairvalue gain on deot instuments— ATEHAEMZE

atfa value trough ha7BEIEL

oher comprehensive income DB - - - - - - - - o - - BANT 16189 7636
Reclassify to proft orloss upon disposal Bt ERATE AR

of debt instruments at fair value PElEERIA

through other comprehensive income - N HEZ R - - - - - - - - (11179 - - (11799 (30347 (142140)
Fairvalue oss on equiy instuments at -~ AT B AEMRE

fairvlue through other Wiz ERIEY

comprehensive ncome NVESE - - - - - - - - 839) - - 639) (%68 (128

(3ain on revaluation of propertis, 0% BRRAEERE
plant and equipment upon transferto - FENEEH B

investment properties - - - - - - 24211 - - - - 4211 - 24211
Bxchange dffeences aisng fom R EZ2 6

tranglaion to presentation cureny  MASZEREE - - - - - - - - - (430284 - (430284 (42136 (472420)
Bxchange difeences aisng fom R E5MtiE%

translation of foregn operations fEs7ESEE - - - - - - - - R AV - W1 p59Y) 4153

Total comprehensive income (expense)  AEE2ENE (R
for the year ] - - - - - - 24211 - G186 (386,155 3004421 3244353 760966 4005319

Issue of new shares fom exerciseof T EERE

share options gHRE 2383 517,105 - (107134 - - - - - - RIS S
Recogniton of equity-settled FINEREEHRR
share-based payments (Note 32) FaRR(HHR) - - - 1R - - - - - - - 1R85 %H0 2924
Final dhvidend for the year ended HECR-/E42R
31 December 2018 Note 12) Zt-RLLEE?
KEBaHED) - - - - - - - - - - (188207)  (798.207) - (788.207)
Inferim dividend for the yearended ~ EZ-F-hE+-F
31 December 2019 (Note 12) =t-RItEEZ
TERE () - - - - - - - - - - [3s208 (303209 - 3320
Acquistons of adcitional nterestsin -~ WEMBAFIENES
subsidaries (Note 45(0)) (Ht45(0) - - - - - - - 10,258 - - - 10,268 (424874 (414,616)
Disposal of partl inerests in HENMBELTIER
a subsiclary (Note 45(0)) (Hiztast) - - - - - - - 15649 - - - 156492 372765 529,267
Capital contribution from non-controling - B2 F3EERRE
shareholders of a subsidiary HEE - - - - - - - - - - - - 18000 128000
Dividends paid to non-controling FHFHEBAZ
shareholders of subsidiaries SRR RS - - - - - - - - - - - - lHs2een g2
Repurchase and cancelition of BERHEEER
ordiary shares e (K1) (2 s (13811 - - - - - - - - (0 - a0
Transfers o resere B - - - - - X0 - - : - ) - ) )
2060 M09 [3g1) 25491 I o7 . CORE) B7TY I (66BN
Balance at 31 December 2019 RZE-NE

tZA=T-BNEH 10576 6566852 (119000 25491 10504 147290 280581 1895594 121445 (29,188 40245570 50188565 7,781,085 57969650

—EoTasy I



76 KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REERBER

Attributable to owners of the Company
ARAREARG
Share-
Capital based  Special Property Investment Non-
Share Share redemption payments  surplus  Statutory revaluation  Goodwill revaluation Translation  Retained controlling
capital  premium  reserve  reserve  account  reserve  reseve  reserve  reserve reserve profits  Sub-total interests

5 HRGYR ) nE RE FER
kx  R#EE BERE GREE  BBEE  teBE  EGEE  BERE  EHRE ENRE  REE it E&
HK$000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS000  HK$000
TR TEn  TEn  TEn  TEn TR T TR TR TR TER  TEn  TEn
(Notea)  (Noteh)  (Notec)  (Noted)
(Wifa)  (Wib) (W)  (W&d)

Balanoe at 1 January 2020 Wo-EE-f-Az
B 110576 6566852 (11,900 25491 10504 1472950 280581 10895394 121445  (529,188) 40,245,570 50,188,565 7,781,085 57,969,650

Proft for the year FRER - = = o o - - - - - 4702884 4702084 1125460 5828353
Fairvalue loss on cebtinstuments —— RATEHAEMEE

atfa value trough ha7BEIEL

other comprehensive income NTEsE = = = = = = = - (1) = - 1617)  (16531)  (38,149)
Reclassify to proft orloss upon disposal Bt ERATER AR

of debt instruments at fair value PEkEERIA

thvough other comprenensiveincome &A% - - - - - = = - g = - T (51T (106245
Fairvalue oss on equity instruments at -~ AT B AEMRE

fairvlue through other W&ZBRIEL

comprehensive ncome NTEsE - - - - - - - - (161,062 - - (161060 (18%)  (162,918)
Exchange differences arising from Rigz2HE%

tranglaion to presentation curency  MASZERER - - - - - - - - - 3,354,050 - 3354050 304344 3,656,304
Exchange diferences arising fiom T

ranslaton of oreign operations fEsZERER - - - - - - - - - 1258 - 1258 5 13,268

Total comprehensive (expense) income  A£E2 8 (%)
for the year eyt - - - - - - - - (65407) 37366593 4702884 7804070 1,388,634 9,192,704

Issue of new sheres from exercise of

share options 265 57,505 - (1914 - - - - - - - 45,856 - 45,856
Final dvidend for the year ended
31 December 2019 Note 12) +-ALEEZ

KBk (k) - - = = = = = = = - (662430)  (662430) - (662430)
Specil fnal dividend for he year ended  EZ-F-AE+-F
31 December 2019 (Note 12) “H-ALEEZ

- - - - - - - - - - (652,025 (552,025 - (552,025)

Interim vidend for the year ended HE-Z-TETC
31 December 2020 Note 12) t-ALEEZ

TERE () - - - - - - - - - - (300618 (30961 - [309618)
Acquistions of adcitional nterestsin -~ WEMBAFIENES
subsidaries (Note 451b) (Hsk4st) - - - - = = - (604,567) = = - (604567 (1675312 (2219879)
Disposal of asubsiclary (Note 35~ HE-FEIHEAT

(Hi3E350) - - - - - - - - - - - - 56 5526
Captal redemption fiom non-controling £ ~EHBA TR
shargholders of a subsiciary RREDER
(note 45(0) (Ht45(0) - - - - = = = = = = = - (398,400)  (358,400)
Dividends paid to non-controling FHTHERTZ
sharefolders of subsidaries FERRE RS - - - - - - = = = = = = (2257500 (2257,500)
Repurchase and cancelation of BOREELER
ordinary shares (Note 31) (HizEa1) (262 (s8407) 13811 - - - - - - - - (494 - (4048
Translers to resenve ERTHE - - - - - 419 - = = - (A6e,149) = = c

3 092 1881 (11 - - (604567 5 - (1992220) 12T (4285916) (6363640

Balance at 31 December 2020 i3

toAzt-RAzE8 110579 6,565,860 1911 13577 10504 1941099 280581 1,291,027  (143962) 2,837,405 42,956,232 55864908 4,933,803 60,798,706
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REERBER

Notes:

Special surplus account represents the difference between the nominal amount of
the shares issued by the Company and the nominal amount of the issued share
capitals of the subsidiaries which were acquired by the Company under the Group
reorganisation in 1993.

Statutory reserve comprises statutory fund, which is non-distributable, represents
capitalisation of retained profits of certain subsidiaries established in the People’s
Republic of China (“PRC”) for capital re-investment in these subsidiaries and funds
shall be used to (i) make up prior year losses or (i) expand production operations.

The property revaluation reserve of the Group represents the gain on revaluation of
certain properties of the Group for own use as a result of transfer of those properties
from properties, plant and equipment to investment properties.

Goodwill reserve represents the effects of changes in ownership in certain
subsidiaries when there is no change in control.
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78 KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
mERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2020 BE =T -TF+-A=+—HILFE

2020 2019
—E-Z —E-NEF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FEx FAET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES RETTE
Profit before taxation [ Bl Vs A 7,936,416 5,122,913
Adjustments for: FHEE
Share of results of joint ventures i E (77,868) (93,867)
Share of result of an associate N ES 2,673 (61,677)
Depreciation of properties, ME - BEREEZITE
plant and equipment 1,636,392 1,880,145
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 47,041 44,849
Amortisation of intangible assets B A R 6,480 3,960
Impairment loss on trade receivables, HE FEWRSERZ
net of reversal BEEE - fOBREE 13,797 183,210
Finance costs B E R A 457,179 752,001
Interest income on bank balances, RITER - TR RREERK
deposits, entrusted loans and FEWE SR 2 F B U A
loan receivable (126,975) (120,720)
Loss (gain) on fair value changes of BAEFG AEGS ER
equity instruments at fair value TRZ RN EZSEEE
through profit or loss (Mzm) 978,285 (40,920)
Gain on disposal of debt instruments at HERAFEFARMEE
fair value through other Wz BT Az W
comprehensive income (106,245) (142,140)
Loss (gain) on fair value changes of REMENTFEEEZEIE
investment properties (Wezs) 5,437 (6,263)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HENBARZWE 35 (29,776) -
Write down of inventories WEEFE 7,556 181,093
Loss on disposal and written off of HERBHEDE  BEK&
properties, plant and equipment Bl 91,624 228,249
Share-based payments ARt 2 AT R = 229,234

Operating cash flows before movements KRt EE L E A2 KL

in working capital BeReE 10,842,016 8,170,067
Decrease in inventories FERL 117,881 472,461
Decrease (increase) in properties held FERWER D ()

for development 2,064,767 (2,416,214)
Decrease (increase) in trade and B 5 R E R AR R R TR

other receivables and prepayments RIERA (3 00) 329,891 (113,5622)
Decrease in bills receivables FEMW =R 524,926 450,489
Increase in equity instruments at BATERABEZ #Em

fair value through profit or loss T E#Em (908,727) (29,526)
Decrease (increase) in debt instruments at 1R A FET AEM R EZ

fair value through other comprehensive BT ERD(Gm)

income 113,164 (151,596)
Increase (decrease) in trade and B 5 R E A FET BRI A O 2)

other payables 709,530 (726,879)
Decrease in bills payables ENEBRL (3,711) (55,505)
(Decrease) increase in contract liabilities EHBECED)EM (2,707,086) 3,121,405
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

RERETRER

EEHEEERAA

2020
—7—7$

HK$’000
FET

2019
—FNF
HK$’000
TABT

Cash generated from operations IR TR TS IE S 11,082,651 8,721,180
Other income taxes paid EMBBFEH (1,259,416) (834,786)
PRC Land Appreciation Tax (“LAT”) paid B %1 B + 18 E R
(Mg ER ) (298,390) (523,748)

Hong Kong Profits Tax paid EREERSH (25,153) (71,839)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING BEEE TSRS FE

ACTIVITIES 9,499,692 7,290,811
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REZE
Net purchase of equity investments at RAFERAERZ

fair value through profit or loss HERIRENEE R (2,873,648) (1,495,441)
Purchase of debt investments at fair value ~ BEE iR AP EHAHEME2E

through other comprehensive income W EIRE (1,574,660) (1,589,896)
Purchase of properties, plant and BEWE  BEMRE

equipment (1,467,796) (2,098,742)
Deposits paid for acquisition of properties, & EW% - HE REER

plant and equipment and investment KEMEZENE®

properties (150,858) (611,724)
Payments for right-of-use assets FREEEMNR (52,177) (92,787)
Proceeds from disposal or on maturity of ~ H&ER A E AEMEE

debt instruments at fair value through Wz ZEF‘I,E:(_}Z@JE?@)

other comprehensive income Fr 18 FXIE 7,102,545 3,600,136
Proceeds from disposal of properties, H %%¥ JFKF‘% P&

plant and equipment Fri5 508 1,119,779 305,119
Net cash inflow arising on disposal of HENBRARIMELEZ

subsidiaries FHEEMA 35 288,936 -
Repayment received on entrusted loans ZEERBWER 100,095 127,458
Interest received BUFLE 81,293 120,720
Dividend received from a joint venture Bl —MEEaEa FIRE 80,319 75,302
Proceeds from disposal of HEFREEEMSHRIEA

right-of-use assets 59,607 -
Dividend received from an associate B —fEEg g AR E 51,131 184,043
Net cash outflow arising on acquisitions WEEHI B AR EL 2 FRERH

of subsidiaries 34 = (1,445,540
Loan to an independent third party BT BIE=EX - (600,000)
Purchase of investment properties EEIREYE = (39,190)
Proceeds from disposal of HEFBEEEMSHIE

right-of-use assets = 1,116
NET CASH FROM (USED IN) RETBHE (A RLBE

INVESTING ACTIVITIES 2,764,566 (3,554,426)
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80

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERETRER

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

2020 2019
—E-= —E—NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
FINANCING ACTIVITIES RMEEE
New bank borrowings raised FIBRITEE 10,313,336 10,344,987
Repayment of bank borrowings BRETEE (17,545,764) (13,470,267)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEREaE (3,245) (2,342)
Dividend paid on ordinary shares Bk E R B (1,214,455) (1,061,413)
Dividends paid to non-controlling S FHE A E) 2 IR R 2 A% B
shareholders of subsidiaries (636,408) (452,667)
Interest paid BFE (552,875) (849,201)
Consideration paid for acquisition of U BE B BB N B BASME RS TS B
additional interests in subsidiaries (2,607,089) (414,616)
Proceeds from the partial disposal of HEWB AT ERTERIE
a subsidiary - 529,257
Proceeds from exercise of share options of {T{EARA R L—REHB AR Z
the Company and a subsidiary BB R E TS P 373,066 412,354
Payment on repurchase of shares Bl 8§ AR 19 15 3k (44,948) (39,089)
Capital (redemption) contribution from M A R 2 FEIERR IR (8 ) & 58
non-controlling shareholders of
a subsidiary (358,400) 128,000
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING RMEEBTRARESRE
ACTIVITIES (12,276,782) (4,874,997)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND RERESEENWAL FE
CASH EQUIVALENTS (12,524) (1,138,612)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FHAZHRERBELSEY
THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 6,256,964 7,473,324
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE EREEHTE
RATE CHANGES 324,417 (77,748)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRZESRRSEEY
AT THE END OF THE YEAR, BRITHESBRERES
REPRESENTING BANK
BALANCES AND CASH 6,568,857 6,256,964
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BHEHEERRAF

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020 BHE =T -TF+-A=+—HILFE

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Kingboard Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a public limited
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands and its shares are listed
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”). The addresses of the registered office and
principal place of business of the Company are disclosed in the
“Corporate Information” section of the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company and the principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in Note 45.

The principal activities of its subsidiaries are the manufacture and
sales of laminates, printed circuit boards (“PCBs”), chemicals,
magnetic products, property development and investments and
investment business.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$”), which the directors of the Company (“Directors”)
considered it is more relevant for the users of the consolidated
financial statements.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective

for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the “Amendments to
References to the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards” and
the following amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time,
which are mandatorily effective for the annual period beginning on or
after 1 January 2020 for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements:

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKAS 8

Definition of Material

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

—REH
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ERBARFHERANHLH )2
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20201 A1 B3k 2 &Rt FEHAR A
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AR DURBURE FITEIRE ¢

FRGEREIRE ARERNER
BB GRS

(1EETA)

ERMERWEIR  AREFOER
(1EETA)

BB R IRER R B

FoFk - HB G
#ERIZE395% K2
BB T E R
ENGACCHIRS)

—Zz-z£4xR



82

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RARMEE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STAN DARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective

for the current year (continued)

Except as described below, the application of the “Amendments
to References to the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards”
and the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year had no material
impact on the Group’s financial positions and performance for the
current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these

consolidated financial statements.

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8

“Definition of Material”

The Group has applied the Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS
8 for the first time in the current year. The amendments provide
a new definition of material that states “information is material if
omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be expected to
influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial
statements make on the basis of those financial statements, which
provide financial information about a specific reporting entity.” The
amendments also clarify that materiality depends on the nature or
magnitude of information, either individually or in combination with
other information, in the context of the financial statements taken as a

whole.

The application of the amendments in the current year had no impact

on the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

PRk MY

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STAN DARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective

for the current year (continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKFRS 3 “Definition
of a Business”

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the
current year. The amendments clarify that while businesses usually
have outputs, outputs are not required for an integrated set of
activities and assets to qualify as a business. To be considered a
business, an acquired set of activities and assets must include,
at a minimum, an input and a substantive process that together
significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs.

The amendments remove the assessment of whether market
participants are capable of replacing any missing inputs or processes
and continuing to produce outputs. The amendments also introduce
additional guidance that helps to determine whether a substantive
process has been acquired.

In addition, the amendments introduce an optional concentration
test that permits a simplified assessment of whether an acquired
set of activities and assets is not a business. Under the optional
concentration test, the acquired set of activities and assets is not
a business if substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets
acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable asset or group of
similar assets. The gross assets under assessment exclude cash and
cash equivalents, deferred tax assets, and goodwill resulting from the
effects of deferred tax liabilities. The election on whether to apply the
optional concentration test is available on transaction-by-transaction
basis.

The amendments had no impact on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group but may impact future periods should the
Group make any acquisition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE M RARMEE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO 2,
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments
to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 17
Amendments to HKFRS 3
Amendments to HKFRS 9,

HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendment to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Amendments to HKFRSs

Insurance Contracts and the
related Amendments?

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework?

Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform — Phase 2°

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture?

Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions*

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

Property, Plant and Equipment —
Proceeds before Intended Use?

Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfiling a Contract?

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2018-20202

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020

5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

Except for the amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below, the
Directors anticipate that the application of all other new and
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amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE I ERARMIEE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO 2.
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STAN DARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continued)
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New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet 2 M85 1B 18 R 4 AV FT 18 | R 18
effective (continued) A EBMERHRER(E)

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and BBV EHBRERNFIR BEEETE
HKFRS 16 “Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 2” RIZE39%% ~ BRI KR MERFETH -

ERMBRBEAEIRRERYER
BREAE16F (B R RREEY

R el 32
Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and AN RMERIFEIR BEGE
HKFRS 16 “Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2” relate to the AIZE395 « BB B HMAERH7E -
modification of financial assets, financial liabilities and lease liabilities, BB IEHRERFE A BB SR
specific hedge accounting requirements and disclosure requirements WAERIF16R BT A A & HE AL
applying HKFRS 7 “Financial Instruments: Disclosures” to accompany BB DATEREENS
the amendments regarding modifications and hedge accounting. REERIE7THRIMBETE : #8828
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. Modification of financial assets, financial liabilities o BKEE B ABEREEEE
and lease liabilities. A practical expedient is introduced for 2B o ZFIEEI AL N ERR
modifications required by the reform (modifications required EH 2 B (AR R EERER
as a direct consequence of the interest rate benchmark BB W IRAOE 5 R o B
reform and made on an economically equivalent basis). These B2 E) - SIARITHEEZ
modifications are accounted for by updating the effective 5 o ZENE B BENERF
interest rate. All other modifications are accounted for E2HAAR - HprasEal
using the current HKFRSs requirements. A similar practical FRRIT BB RREAE
expedient is proposed for lessee accounting applying HKFRS KARR o ZFERIAEZEAE
16 B ISR ERIFE 165K - B

Az ERERAEUITH
25

. Hedge accounting requirements. Under the amendments, o HHEHER - RIBEZFER]
hedge accounting is not discontinued solely because of the R e MR ER R E
interest rate benchmark reform. Hedging relationships (and EWF ML - EOPRIR(RAE
related documentation) are required to be amended to reflect RS ) B TASET » AR
modifications to the hedged item, hedging instrument and BE - ¥R TEREEE 2K
hedged risk. Amended hedging relationships should meet B) o (BR] 18 2 ¥R ARIETT A IR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

PR aR M

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STAN DARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective (continued)
Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and
HKFRS 16 “Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 2” (continued)

. Disclosures. The amendments require disclosures in order
to allow users to understand the nature and extent of risks
arising from the interest rate benchmark reform to which the
Group is exposed to and how the entity manages those risks
as well as the entity’s progress in transitioning from interbank
offered rates to alternative benchmark rates, and how the
entity is managing this transition.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group has several London Interbank
Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) and Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate
(“HIBOR”) bank loans which will or may be subject to interest rate
benchmark reform. The Group expects no significant gains or losses
should the interest rate benchmark for these loans change resulting
from the reform on application of the amendments.

Amendments to HKAS 1 “Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current” and related amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)

The amendments provide clarification and additional guidance on the
assessment of right to defer settlement for at least twelve months
from reporting date for classification of liabilities as current or non-
current, which:

° specify that the classification of liabilities as current or non-
current should be based on rights that are in existence at the
end of the reporting period. Specifically, the amendments
clarify that:

(i) the classification should not be affected by
management intentions or expectations to settle the
liability within 12 months; and

(ii) if the right is conditional on the compliance with
covenants, the right exists if the conditions are met at
the end of the reporting period, even if the lender does
not test compliance until a later date; and
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE I ERARMIEE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STAN DARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 “Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current” and related amendments to Hong Kong

Interpretation 5 (2020) (continued)

° clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the option of
the counterparty, result in its settlement by the transfer of the
entity’s own equity instruments, these terms do not affect
its classification as current or non-current only if the entity
recognises the option separately as an equity instrument

applying HKAS 32 “Financial Instruments: Presentation”.

In addition, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 was revised as a consequence
of the Amendments to HKAS 1 to align the corresponding wordings

with no change in conclusion.

Based on the Group’s outstanding liabilities as at 31 December 2020,
the application of the amendments will not result in reclassification of

the Group’s liabilities.

Amendments to HKAS 16 “Property, Plant and Equipment -

Proceeds before Intended Use”

The amendments specify that the costs of any item that were
produced while bringing an item of property, plant and equipment to
the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating
in the manner intended by management (such as samples produced
when testing whether the relevant property, plant and equipment is
functioning properly) and the proceeds from selling such items should
be recognised and measured in the profit or loss in accordance
with applicable standards. The cost of the items are measured in

accordance with HKAS 2 “Inventories” (‘HKAS 2”).

The application of the amendments is not expected to have significant

impact on the financial position and performance of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RARMEE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STAN DARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 37 “Onerous Contracts - Cost of

Fulfilling a Contract”

The amendments specify that, when an entity assesses whether
a contract is onerous in accordance with HKAS 37 “Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets”, the unavoidable costs
under the contract should reflect the least net cost of exiting from
the contract, which is the lower of the cost of fulfilling it and any
compensation or penalties arising from failure to fulfil it. Costs of
fulfilling the contract include incremental costs and an allocation of
other costs that relate directly to fulfiling contracts (for example, an
allocation of the depreciation charge for an item of property, plant and

equipment used in fulfilling the contract).

The amendments are applicable to contracts for which the Group has
not yet fulfilled all its obligations as at the date of initial application.
The application of the amendments is not expected to have significant

impact on the financial position and performance of the Group.

Amendments to HKFRSs “Annual Improvements to HKFRSs

2018-2020”

The annual improvements make amendments to the following

standards.

HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (“HKFRS 9”)

The amendment clarifies that for the purpose of assessing whether
modification of terms of original financial liability constitutes substantial
modification under the “10 per cent” test, a borrower includes only
fees paid or received between the borrower and the lender, including
fees paid or received by either the borrower or the lender on the

other’s behalf.

HKFRS 16 “Leases” ("HKFRS 16”)

The amendment to lllustrative Example 13 accompanying HKFRS 16
removes from the example the illustration of reimbursement relating to
leasehold improvements by the lessor in order to remove any potential

confusion.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have significant

impact on the financial position and performance of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE I ERARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. HMEVBRREREE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL REESTBER
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial 31 ZEUBBRREREE
statements
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared IREVBIRERIREE SRR
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For RGN EBMBERBRERNR
the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial B RRHELEPBHREME -
statements, information is considered material if such iMERER A BB E
information is reasonably expected to influence decision FEFAHERT  AZEER
made by primary users. In addition, the consolidated financial WRBEE o 1IN - 416 IR
statements include applicable disclosures required by the REBHRES EHRAN E
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock MR REE R ARG 2 #EA
Exchange (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies HEEHTE ©
Ordinance.
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared bR G BTISERER TR IR S0 P AN R4
on the historical cost basis except for investment properties wE T BRAE
and certain financial instruments, that are measured at fair it RERERR  REMER
values at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the ETEmIAARATEE -

accounting policies below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the JBE S R AN — AR BNV E G K AR
consideration given in exchange for goods and services. BT HAREN AT ERTE -
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an NHEZNFTEAEMIS2HEE
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction MRERFRZSFHEEERK
between market participants at the measurement date, M EEEEAIT ZER -
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or Mm% ER A EEE RN
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating 1SRRI AR A R B A ET
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into REFTEEXBEZATER -
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market rEE@ZRZSMH2EER
participants would take those characteristics into account FrERHEESBEEERA
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. EREZEENBEZRE - NiZ
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in SHRAMBRERPIETER, 3
these consolidated financial statements is determined on WEAGR AN BRI EERE
such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions TE AT RIERRIN - BRES
that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment” B R B R AE R S 25% [ LARR (D 72
(“HKFRS 2”), leasing transactions that are accounted for in NI (T BB SRR AERISE
accordance with HKFRS 16, and measurements that have 255 1) &EA 2 AR D TR
some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as R5 -~ IEREBN S RRERE
net realisable value in HKAS 2 or value in use in HKAS 36 16 AR ZHER S - AR
“Impairment of Assets” (“HKAS 36"). N ERFEFELAELZ ERIIE

AFEZERE - PINELR
SHERIELS 2 MR BFENE
e EHERIE 365 AR ]
(B BEHERIFEI6H) 2 (£
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RARMEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial

statements (continued)
A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments and investment properties which
are transacted at fair value and a valuation technique that
unobservable inputs is to be used to measure fair value in
subsequent periods, the valuation technique is calibrated so
that at initial recognition the results of the valuation technique
equals the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements
are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE I ERARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting polices

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
from the date the Group gains control until the date when the
Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in
line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

3.2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RARMEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting polices (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)
Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries
upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not
result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are
accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts
of the Group’s equity and the non-controlling interests are
adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiaries.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity
and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if any)
are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
and is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate
of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair
value of any retained interest and (i) the carrying amount of
the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary
attributable to owners of the Company. All amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that
subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e.
reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category
of equity as specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE I ERARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting polices (continued)

Business combinations or asset acquisitions

Optional concentration test

Effective from 1 January 2020, the Group can elect to
apply an optional concentration test, on a transaction — by-
transaction basis, that permits a simplified assessment of
whether an acquired set of activities and assets is not a
business. The concentration test is met if substantially all of
the fair value of the gross assets acquired is concentrated in a
single identifiable asset or group of similar identifiable assets.
The gross assets under assessment exclude cash and cash
equivalents, deferred tax assets, and goodwill resulting from
the effects of deferred tax liabilities. If the concentration test is
met, the set of activities and assets is determined not to be a
business and no further assessment is needed.

Asset acquisitions

When the Group acquires a group of assets and liabilities
that do not constitute a business, the Group identifies and
recognises the individual identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed by allocating the purchase price first to
investment properties which are subsequently measured
under fair value model and financial assets/financial liabilities
at the respective fair values, the remaining balance of the
purchase price is then allocated to the other identifiable assets
and liabilities on the basis of their relative fair values at the
date of purchase. Such a transaction does not give rise to
goodwill or bargain purchase gain.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RARMEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting polices (continued)

Business combinations or asset acquisitions (continued)
Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of
the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in
profit or loss as incurred.

Except for certain recognition exemptions, the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed must meet the
definitions of an asset and a liability in the “Framework for
the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements”
(replaced by the “Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting” issued in October 2010).

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except
that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or
liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements are
recognised and measured in accordance with HKAS
12 “Income Taxes” and HKAS 19 “Employee Benefits”
respectively;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE I ERARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting polices (continued)
Business combinations or asset acquisitions (continued)
Business combinations (continued)

liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-
based payment arrangements of the Group entered
into to replace share-based payment arrangements of
the acquiree are measured in accordance with HKFRS
2 at the acquisition date (see the accounting policy
below);

assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held
for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations”
are measured in accordance with that standard; and

lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the
present value of the remaining lease payments (as
defined in HKFRS 16) as if the acquired leases were
new leases at the acquisition date, except for leases
for which (a) the lease term ends within 12 months
of the acquisition date; or (b) the underlying asset is
of low value. Right-of-use assets are recognised and
measured at the same amount as the relevant lease
liabilities, adjusted to reflect favourable or unfavourable
terms of the lease when compared with market terms.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RARMEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting polices (continued)
Business combinations or asset acquisitions (continued)
Business combinations (continued)
Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the
net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed as at acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the
net of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount
of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair
value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if
any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as
a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the
relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation
are initially measured at the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets or at fair value.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at
cost as established at the date of acquisition of the business
(see accounting policy above) less accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (“CGUs”")
(or groups of CGUs) that is expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination, which represent the lowest level
at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management
purpose and not larger than an operating segment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE I ERARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting polices (continued)

Goodwill (continued)

A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually or more frequently
when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. For
goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the
CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been allocated
is tested for impairment before the end of that reporting
period. If the recoverable amount is less than its carrying
amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill and then to the other assets
of the unit on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount
of each asset in the unit (or group of CGUs).

On disposal of the relevant CGU or any of the CGU within
the group of CGUs, the attributable amount of goodwill is
included in the determination of the amount of profit or loss
on disposal. When the Group disposes of an operation within
the CGU (or a CGU within a group of CGUs), the amount of
goodwill disposed of is measured on the basis of the relative
values of the operation (or the CGU) disposed of and the
portion of the CGU (or the group of CGUS) retained.

The Group policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an
associate and a joint venture is described below.

Investments in an associate and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but
is not control or joint control over those policies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RARMEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting polices (continued)
Investments in an associate and joint ventures (continued)

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to
the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of an associate and joint
ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting. The
financial statements of an associate and joint ventures used
for equity accounting purposes are prepared using uniform
accounting policies as those of the Group for like transactions
and events in similar circumstances. Under the equity method,
an investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s
share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income
of the associate or joint venture. Changes in net assets of
the associate/joint venture other than profit or loss and other
comprehensive income are not accounted for unless such
changes resulted in changes in ownership interest held by the
Group. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate or
joint venture exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate
or joint venture (which includes any long-term interests that,
in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate or joint venture), the Group discontinues recognising
its share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised
only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate or joint venture.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE I ERARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting polices (continued)
Investments in an associate and joint ventures (continued)

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted
for using the equity method from the date on which the
investee becomes an associate or a joint venture. On
acquisition of the investment in an associate or a joint
venture, any excess of the cost of the investment over the
Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which
is included within the carrying amount of the investment.
Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the
investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in
profit or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence
that the interest in an associate or a joint venture may be
impaired. When any objective evidence exists, the entire
carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is
tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single
asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value
in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying
amount. Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated to
any asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying
amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment
loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent
that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently
increases.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint
venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the
transactions with the associate or joint venture are recognised
in the Group’s consolidated financial statements only to the
extent of interests in the associate or joint venture that are not
related to the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RARMEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting polices (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers
The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of the
following criteria is met:

° the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

° the Group’s performance creates or enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

o the Group’s performance does not create an asset

with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE I ERARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting polices (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

The revenue of the Group arising from sales of laminates,
PCBs and chemicals is recognised at a point in time. Under
the transfer-of-control approach in HKFRS 15 “Revenue
from contracts with customers” (“HKFRS 15”), revenue from
these sales is recognised when customer acceptance has
been obtained, which is the point of time when the goods
are delivered based on the agreed shipping terms and the
location specified by the customers, and when the customer
has the ability to direct the use of these products and obtain
substantially all of the remaining benefits of these products.

The revenue of the Group arising from sales of properties
in the ordinary course of business is recognised at a point
in time when the customer obtains control of the respective
properties.

Revenue from hotel accommodation and service income from
drilling services are recognised over time, as the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided
by the Group’s performance as the Group performs.

Revenue from property investment and licence fee income
will be accounted for accordance with HKFRS 16, whereas
dividend income and interest income from investments will be
accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 9.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods, properties or services to a customer for
which the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RARMEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting polices (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress
towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation
Output method
The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on output method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of direct measurements of
the value of the goods or services transferred to the customer
to date relative to the remaining goods or services promised
under the contract, that best depict the Group’s performance
in transferring control of goods or services.

Existence of significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the
promised amount of consideration for the effects of the
time value of money if the timing of payments agreed (either
explicitly or implicitly) provides the customer or the Group
with a significant benefit of financing the transfer of goods or
services to the customer. In those circumstances, the contract
contains a significant financing component. A significant
financing component may exist regardless of whether the
promise of financing is explicitly stated in the contract or
implied by the payment terms agreed to by the parties to the
contract.

For contracts where the period between payment and transfer
of the associated goods, properties or services is less than
one year, the Group applies the practical expedient of not
adjusting the transaction price for any significant financing
component.

For advance payments received from customers before
the transfer of the associated goods, properties or services
in which the Group adjusts for the promised amount of
consideration for a significant financing component, the Group
applies a discount rate that would be reflected in a separate
financing transaction between the Group and the customer at
contract inception. The relevant interest expenses during the
period between the advance payments were received and the
transfer of the associated goods and services are accounted
for on the same basis as other borrowing costs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

3.

PRk MY

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting polices (continued)
Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of

time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date
of initial application or arising from business combinations,
the Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a
lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception,
modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate.
Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and

conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee
Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of
the non-lease components, including contract for acquisition
of ownership interests of a property which includes both
leasehold land and non-lease building components, unless

such allocation cannot be made reliably.

The Group applies practical expedient not to separate non-
lease components from lease component, and instead
account for the lease component and any associated non-

lease components as a single lease component.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RARMEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting polices (continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases of leased properties that have a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option. Lease payments on short-term
leases are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or
another systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

o the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

° any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group

in dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by the
terms and conditions of the lease.

Except for those that are classified as investment properties
and measured under fair value model, right-of-use assets are
measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of
lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE I ERARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. HMENBBMEREHELE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL REESTTHE
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting polices (continued) 3.2 FESHEBEW®B)

Leases (continued) HE(E)

The Group as a lessee (continued) HKEFERETN ()

Right-of-use assets (continued) FREEEGE)

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the REBERNGE BRI KRDES

definition of investment property or inventory as a separate line HE 250 A HFEIREMESTT

item on the consolidated statement of financial position. Right- ETENFEREEE - TEKE
of-use assets that meet the definition of investment property MESFETENERBREED
or inventory are presented within “investment properties” and B2 AEIIREME IR FERE

“properties held for development” respectively. L7 E4I

Refundable rental deposits RO ERS

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS BN REA SRS IRER

9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair BB TSR AERI SR ARR - AP

value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease NERRNFEE - VLT HER

payments and included in the cost of right-of-use assets. AP EMNFHBEER AEIINEE
FIE - Wrt AEREEEKA
A o

Lease liabilities HEBE

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises REERKBE - NEBILRZHE

and measures the lease liability at the present value of REWHEEFIERERRRFTE

lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating THEBE - WHEER SR R

the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the NET  IAEEeFERHEER

incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement AR B RSN R ERE
date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily NREIRE -

determinable.

The lease payments include: HENREIE

. fixed payments (including in-substance fixed . EFENR(BREEE MR
payments) less any lease incentives receivable; (& TE < 3R ) IR (T fr] FE UL AR

(-

. variable lease payments that depend on an index or a . BT 48 sk b F M E /Y
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the AIEBEENRK KRB
commencement date; HER W) IA P A fE &hsk it

R E
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RARMEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting polices (continued)
Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
Lease liabilities (continued)
o amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

° payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to
terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)
whenever:

° the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

° the lease payments change due to changes in market
rental rates following a market rent review, in which
cases the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using the
initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE I ERARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting polices (continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate
lease if:

o the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
and

o the consideration for the leases increases by an

amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the
circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability based
on the lease term of the modified lease by discounting the
revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the
effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities
by making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-
of-use asset. When the modified contract contains a lease
component and one or more additional lease or non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the
modified contract to each lease component on the basis of
the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RARMEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting polices (continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as
finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is
classified as a finance lease. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases and licence fee income
are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over
the term of the relevant lease and licence agreement. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset,
and such costs are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term except for investment properties
measured under fair value model.

Rental income and licence fee income which are derived from
the Group’s ordinary course of business are presented as
revenue.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to
fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional
lease payments from lessees.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

3.

PRk MY

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting polices (continued)
Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessor (continued)
Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that were not
part of the original terms and conditions are accounted for
as lease modifications, including lease incentives provided

through forgiveness or reduction of rentals.

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease
as a new lease from the effective date of the modification,
considering any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating
to the original lease as part of the lease payments for the new

lease.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/

or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at fair values,
adjusted to exclude any prepaid or accrued operating lease

income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are included in profit or loss in the

period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected from
its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of
the property (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is
included in the profit or loss in the year in which the item is

derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RARMEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting polices (continued)

Properties held for development

Properties held for development which are intended to
be sold upon completion of development are classified
as current assets. Except for the leasehold land element
which is measured at cost model in accordance with the
accounting policies of right-of-use assets, properties held for
development are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on a specific identification basis
including allocation of the related development expenditure
incurred and where appropriate, borrowing costs capitalised.
Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for
the properties less estimated cost to completion and costs
necessary to make the sales.

The Group transfers properties held for development to
investment properties when there is a change of intention
to hold the properties to earn rentals or/and for capital
appreciation rather than for sale in the ordinary course of
business, which is evidenced by the inception of an operating
lease to another party. Any difference between the fair value
at the date of transfer and its previous carrying amount is
recognised in profit or loss.

The Group transfers properties held for development for sale
to properties, plant and equipment when there is a change of
intention to hold the properties for the Group’s own use rather
than for sale in the ordinary course of business. Its previous
carrying amount of the properties becomes the deemed cost
upon transfers to properties, plant and equipment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

3.

PRk MY

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting polices (continued)
Properties, plant and equipment

Properties, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are
held for use in the production or supply of goods or services,
or for administrative purposes (other than freehold land
and properties, plant and equipment under construction as
described below). Properties, plant and equipment are stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent

accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Freehold lands are not depreciated and are measured at cost

less subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

Properties, plant and equipment in the course of construction
for production, supply or administrative purposes, are carried
at cost less any recognised impairment loss. Costs include
any costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the
location and condition necessary for it to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management and, for
qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance
with the Group’s accounting policy. Depreciation of these
assets, on the same basis as other property assets,
commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.

If a property becomes an investment property because its
use has changed as evidenced by end of owner-occupation,
any revaluation increase arising from revaluation of property,
plant and equipment is recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in revaluation reserve, except
to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease of the
same asset previously recognise in profit or loss, in which
case the increase is credited to profit or loss to the extent
of the decrease previously charged. A decrease in net
carrying amount arising on revaluation of property, plant and
equipment is recognised in profit or loss to the extent that it
exceeds the balance, if any, on the revaluation reserve relating
to a previous revaluation of that asset. On the subsequent sale
or retirement of a revalued asset, the attributable revaluation

surplus is transferred to retained profits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RARMEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting polices (continued)
Properties, plant and equipment (continued)

Artwork are stated at cost less impairment loss, if any. No
depreciation is provided as the artwork are held primarily for
office aesthetics with no intention to sell and are high value
paintings with indefinite useful lives and estimated residual
values of not less than their costs.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets
(other than freehold land, artwork and properties, plant and
equipment under construction) less their residual value over
their estimated useful lives using the straight-line method.
The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

An item of properties, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item
of properties, plant and equipment is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3.

PRk MY

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting polices (continued)
Licenced properties, plant and equipment

Licenced properties, plant and equipment (included in
properties, plant and equipment) held to earn licence fee
income are stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation

and any accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised as to write off the cost of items of
licenced properties, plant and equipment less their residual
values over their estimated useful lives using the straight-
line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values
and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate

accounted for on a prospective basis.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised separately from goodwill and are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is

regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired
in a business combination with finite useful lives are reported
at costs less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets

that are acquired separately.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when
no future economic benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an
intangible asset, measured as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are
recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are determined on a weighted
average method. Net realisable value represents the estimated
selling price for inventories less all estimated costs of

completion and costs necessary to make the sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RARMEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting polices (continued)
Impairment on properties, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and intangible assets other than goodwill
At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its properties, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and intangible assets with finite useful lives to
determine whether there is any indication that these assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of properties, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount individually, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the CGU to which the asset belongs.

In testing a CGU for impairment, corporate assets are
allocated to the relevant CGU when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of cash generating
units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis
can be established. The recoverable amount is determined
for the CGU or group of CGUs to which the corporate asset
belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount of the
relevant CGU or group of CGUSs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset (or a CGU) for which the estimates of future cash
flows have not been adjusted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE I ERARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting polices (continued)

Impairment on properties, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and intangible assets other than goodwill
(continued)
If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated
to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset (or a CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to
a CGU, the Group compares the carrying amount of a group
of CGUs, including the carrying amounts of the corporate
assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to that
group of CGUs, with the recoverable amount of the group
of CGUs. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment
loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-
rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the
unit or the group of CGUs. The carrying amount of an asset
is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of
disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and
zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise
have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the
other assets of the unit or the group of CGUs. An impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a CGU or a group of CGUs) is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount,
but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a CGU or
a group of CGUs) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RARMEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting polices (continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s
functional currency (foreign currencies) are recognised
at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried
at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the
fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations
are translated into the presentation currency of the Group
(i.e. HKS) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period. Income and expenses are translated at the
average exchange rates for the period. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity under the heading of translation
reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is a disposal of
the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a
foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an interest in a joint
arrangement or an associate that includes a foreign operation
of which the retained interest becomes a financial asset), all of
the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of
that operation attributable to the owners of the Company are
reclassified to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE I ERARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting polices (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that
does not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary,
the proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences
are re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are not
recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals
(i.e. partial disposals of associates or joint arrangements
that do not result in the Group losing significant influence or
joint control), the proportionate share of the accumulated
exchange differences is reclassified to profit or loss.

Exchange differences relating to the retranslation of the
Company’s net assets in RMB to the Group’s presentation
currency (i.e. HK$) are recognised directly in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in translation
reserve. Such exchange differences accumulated in the
translation reserve are not reclassified to profit or loss
subsequently.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation before
1 January 2005 is treated as non-monetary foreign currency
items of the acquirer and reported using the historical cost
prevailing at the date of acquisition.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation on
or after 1 January 2005 are treated as assets and liabilities of
that foreign operation and translated at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Exchange
differences arising are recognised in other comprehensive
income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RARMEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting polices (continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sales, are added to the cost
of those assets until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after the
related asset is ready for its intended use or sale is included
in the general borrowing pool for calculation of capitalisation
rate on general borrowings. Investment income earned on
the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or
for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the
Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they become receivable. Such
grants are presented under “other income, gains and losses”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

3.

PRk MY

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting polices (continued)
Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans,
state-managed retirement benefit schemes and the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes are recognised as an
expense when employees have rendered service entitling

them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit

in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after

deducting any amount already paid.

Share-based payments
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to the Directors and employees of the

Group

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and
others providing similar services are measured at the fair value

of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into consideration
all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-
line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s
estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with
a corresponding increase in equity (share-based payments

reserve).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RARMEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting polices (continued)
Share-based payments (continued)
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions (continued)

Share options granted to the Directors and employees of the
Group (continued)

At end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimates
of the number of options that are expected to vest based on
assessment of all relevant non-market vesting conditions.
The impact of the revision of the original estimates during the
vesting period, if any, is recognised in profit or loss, such that
the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a
corresponding adjustment to share-based payments reserve.
For share options that are vest immediately at the date of
grant, the fair value of the share options granted is expensed
immediately to profit or loss.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit before tax because of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group'’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE I ERARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting polices (continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised
for all deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit. In addition, the deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arisen from the initial
recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
an associate and interests in joint ventures, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated
with such investments and interests are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RARMEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting polices (continued)
Taxation (continued)
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the
carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be
recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption is
rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment
property is depreciable and is held within a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment property over
time, rather than through sale, except for freehold land, which
is always presumed to be recovered entirely through sale.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use
assets and the related liabilities, the Group first determines
whether the tax deductions are attributable the right-of-use
assets or the lease liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE I ERARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting polices (continued)

Taxation (continued)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 requirements to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
separately. Temporary differences on initial recognition
of the relevant right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are
not recognised due to application of the initial recognition
exemption. Temporary differences arising from subsequent
revision to the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities, resulting from remeasurement of lease
liabilities and lease modifications, that are not subject to
initial recognition exemption are recognised on the date of
remeasurement or modification.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied to the same taxation entity by the same taxation
authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is
included in the accounting for the business combination.

EEHEEERAA

FESHBER®E)

BE(E)

REENREBEREEaEZE
ERGME  AEBESLEHAE
EERHEAEIHAEATEY
ETEERISE125 2 HE © AR FE
AiaERER R - M SHERE
BEAEEEMEESBENTSR
TR 2 R 58 - IR E8R](E
AREERMEREREE &
FrrEHEaERAEETEE
B R E R (T EARTIRER

) REHAERETEH
HERAR °

BIEITHERET AT 5 BN EAT
THEERABHIEaERE - B
B[F — B AR AR — TS B RS
Bl 2 Fristia R - ARER
HEENBEN IR -

W%&LLHEFE STERR M
EEI Z \EAﬁfmiE”& EED/UIETK
ﬂ% siER. 2 IH B AR - 7R
BERT - BVHARIEERIB N E D
B E 2R ﬁﬁ&ﬁ&ﬁ
BEmER - EEBAIBER
IR E AR IR SR
18 - BIIEF B AREBE
SERES o

—Zz-z£4xR



124

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RARMEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting polices (continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when
a group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of
financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance
with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets
and financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected
life of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.

Interest income from debt instruments at fair value through
other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) and dividend income
from equity instruments which are derived from the Group’s
ordinary course of business are presented as revenue. Interest
income from bank balances and deposits are included in
other income, gain and losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE I ERARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting polices (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial asset
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to

cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at FVTOCI:

° the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both selling and
collecting contractual cash flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RARMEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting polices (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial asset
(continued)
All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL, except that at initial recognition of a financial asset the
Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes
in fair value of an equity investment in other comprehensive
income (“OCI”) if that equity investment is neither held for
trading nor contingent consideration recognised by an
acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3
“Business Combinations” applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

° on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of
short-term profit-taking; or

° it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as
a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that are required to be measured at the amortised cost
or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE I ERARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting polices (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial asset

(continued)
(i) Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost and debt instruments
subsequently measured at FVTOCI. Interest income
is calculated by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset,
except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired. For financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the
next reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-
impaired financial instrument improves so that the
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following
the determination that the asset is no longer credit-

impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RARMEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting polices (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial asset
(continued)
(ii) Debt instruments classified as at FVTOCI

Subsequent changes in the carrying amounts for debt
instruments classified as at FVTOCI as a result of
interest income calculated using the effective interest
method, and foreign exchange gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss. All other changes
in the carrying amount of these debt instruments
are recognised in OCI and accumulated under the
heading of investment revaluation reserve. Impairment
allowances are recognised in profit or loss with
corresponding adjustment to OCI without reducing
the carrying amounts of these debt instruments.
When these debt instruments are derecognised, the
cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in
OCl are reclassified to profit or loss.

(iii) Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI, are
subsequently measured at fair value with gains and
losses arising from changes in fair value recognised
in OCI and accumulated in the investment revaluation
reserve; and are not subject to impairment
assessment. The cumulative gain or loss will not be
reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the equity
investments, and will be transferred to retained profits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE I ERARMIEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting polices (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial asset
(continued)

(i)

Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI
(continued)

Dividends from these investments in equity
instruments are recognised in profit or loss when the
Group’s right to receive the dividends is established,
unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery
of part of the cost of the investment. Dividends are
included in revenue.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated
as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period, with any fair value
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net
gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any
dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and
is included in the “Gain (loss) on fair value changes of
equity instruments at FVTPL”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RARMEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting polices (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets
The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets (including trade
receivables, other receivables, bills receivables, entrusted
loans, loan receivable, debt instruments at FVTOCI and bank
balances) and financial guarantee contracts which are subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of
ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”)
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to
result from default events that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting date. Assessments are done based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at the
reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. The ECL on these assets are assessed individually
and/or collectively based on appropriate groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE I ERARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting polices (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk
In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

° an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the financial instrument’s external (if
available) or internal credit rating;

. significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit default
swap prices for the debtor;

° existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RARMEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting polices (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
(i) Significant increase in credit risk (continued)
° an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk of financial
assets has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more than
30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the
reporting date. A debt instrument is determined to
have low credit risk if i) it has a low risk of default, ii) the
borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term and iii) adverse
changes in economic and business conditions in the
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the
ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations. The Group considers a debt instrument to
have low credit risk when it has an internal or external
credit rating of “investment grade” as per globally
understood definitions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE I ERARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting polices (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (continued)
For financial guarantee contracts, the date that
the Group becomes a party to the irrevocable
commitment is considered to be the date of initial
recognition for the purposes of assessing impairment.
In assessing whether there has been a significant
increase in the credit risk since initial recognition of
financial guarantee contracts, the Group considers
the changes in the risk that the specified debtor will
default on the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

(ii) Definition of default
For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account
any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE M RARMEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting polices (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about the following events:
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significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider;

it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE I ERARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting polices (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(iv) Write-off policy
The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, for example, when the counterparty has
been placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off
may still be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.

V) Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the
exposure at default. The assessment of the probability
of default and loss given default is based on historical
data and forward-looking information. Estimation of
ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted
amount that is determined with the respective risks of
default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RARMEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting polices (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
V) Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is
required to make payments only in the event of a
default by the debtor in accordance with the terms
of the instrument that is guaranteed. Accordingly, the
ECL is the present value of the expected payments to
reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it incurs less
any amounts that the Group expects to receive from
the holder, the debtor or any other party.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables are
considered on a collective basis taking into
consideration past due information and relevant credit
information such as forward looking macroeconomic
information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

° Past-due status;
o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
° External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure the constituents of each group continue to
share similar credit risk characteristics.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE I ERARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting polices (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

W)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised cost
of the financial asset.

Except for investments in debt instruments that
are measured at FVTOCI and financial guarantee
contracts, the Group recognises an impairment gain
or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments by
adjusting their carrying amount, with the exception
of trade receivables, where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance
account. For investments in debt instruments that are
measured at FVTOCI, the loss allowance is recognised
in OCI and accumulated in the investment revaluation
reserve without reducing the carrying amount of
these debt instruments. Such amount represents
the changes in the investment revaluation reserve in
relation to accumulated loss allowance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RARMEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting polices (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Derecognition of financial assets
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in a debt instrument
classified as at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously
accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve is
reclassified to profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which
the Group has elected on initial recognition to measure at
FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in
the investment revaluation reserve is not reclassified to profit
or loss, but is transferred to retained profits.
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139 BHEHEERRAF

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE I ERARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. HMENBBMEREHELE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL REESTTHE
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting polices (continued) 3.2 FESHEEW®H)
Financial instruments (continued) SRMITAE)
Financial liabilities and equity THEELR D
Classification as debt or equity (v Fnliobax )
Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial 1,5 BREETERAENZTHERN
liabilities or equity in accordance with the substance of the ARk EsmBERERTAEY
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial E%ﬁﬁ”*ﬁﬁi B ESER -

liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments EETHE
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual W T A ABRANEEEERG
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its (B EERaE) 2E M
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are B o NARIBEITHER T AR
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. W BR BT 1S B B B ST A AR
Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is CEANEES IS TAEEE
recognised and deducted directly in equity and recognised in PERMERRING - N ERE
capital redemption reserve. No gain or loss is recognised in @ﬁﬁfﬁﬁﬁw MEREE - b
profit or loss on purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the C BT RN R B F R
Company’s own equity instruments. IEE’\TE & T SR (] Uit 2 X S
B
Financial liabilities at amortised cost REHER AT EN SR AE
Financial liabilities including trade and other payables, bills CRBERIEE S REMENE
payables and bank borrowings are subsequently measured at o ENEBMEITEERA
amortised cost, using the effective interest method. BRI 2k KR iR 3 ARG
2.

—Zz-z£4xR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RARMEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting polices (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the
issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder
for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make
payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt
instrument. Financial guarantee contracts liabilities are initially
measured at their fair values. It is subsequently measured at
the higher of:

(i) the amount of the loss allowance determined in
accordance with HKFRS 9; and

(ii) the amount initially recognised less, where
appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised over
the guarantee period.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

PRk MY

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in Note 3, the Directors are required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-
going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if revision
affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving
estimations (see below), that the Directors have made in the process
of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in consolidated financial
statements.

Deferred taxation on investment properties (Notes 14 and 24)
For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or deferred tax
assets arising from investment properties that are measured using the
fair value model, the Directors have reviewed the Group’s investment
property portfolios as at 31 December 2020, and concluded that
the investment properties located in the PRC with carrying amount
of approximately HK$11,895,001,000 (2019: HK$11,012,868,000)
are held under a business model which objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment
properties over time, rather than through sale. Therefore, the Directors
have determined the presumption that the carrying amounts of such
investment properties are recovered entirely through sale is rebutted.
As a result, the Group has not recognised deferred taxes on LAT in
respect of changes in fair value of such investment properties but
has recognised deferred tax on Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”) on
the assumption that these investment properties will be recovered
through use.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M ISR M EE
4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
(continued)

Deferred taxation on investment properties (Notes 14 and 24)
(continued)

As at 31 December 2020, the investment properties located in
Hong Kong and the United Kingdom with carrying amounts of
approximately HK$4,104,690,000 (2019: HK$4,074,990,000) and
HK$4,054,256,000 (2019: HK$3,994,890,000), respectively are
not held under a business model which objective is to recover the
economic benefits of the investment properties entirely through use.
No deferred tax is recognised in respect of the fair value change in
such investment properties as the Group is not subject to any income
taxes on disposal of investment properties in Hong Kong. The group
is subject to Capital Gains Tax on disposal of investment properties in
the United Kingdom. No deferred tax is recognised in respect of the
fair value change in such investment properties located in the United
Kingdom as the amount is insignificant.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that may have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the
next financial year.

Depreciation and estimated impairment of properties, plant
and equipment (Note 15)

The Group’s management determines the estimated useful lives,
residual values and related depreciation charges for its properties,
plant and equipment. This estimate is based on the historical
experience of the actual useful lives of properties, plant and
equipment of similar nature and functions. Management will increase
the depreciation charge where useful lives are expected to be
shorter than previously estimated, or it will write-off obsolete or non-
strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold. Changes in these
estimations may have a material impact on the results of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE I ERARMIEE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 4. E A2 HE R4 FR
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION BRI & 2 T ERR @)
UNCERTA'NTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued) T THARZRZETERR(E)
Depreciation and estimated impairment of properties, plant NE - -BERIBZFERMGFTHE
and equipment (Note 15) (continued) (FEE15) (88)

The management reviews properties, plant and equipment to FERENEME  BERREUNEER
determine if there is any indication that the assets may have been BENRETREENRLTRE - 11F
impaired. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amounts EMEBIRRFE W BELRRE
of properties, plant and equipment will be determined based on ZOWEeERESEENRESEL
discounted cash flow method of each asset or CGU. During the BUMTRRETEETE - HRES
year ended 31 December 2020, no impairment loss (2019: Nil) was RE ORBEIRBETREMSZMETY
recognised as the Directors consider that there was no indication of ¥ BERREHBERECAEE)Z
impairment that require the estimation of the recoverable amount of AREl e WHE-T-TF+ A
the properties, plant and equipment. =+ HIEFEWEBERRERE(Z

T-NEFE:F)e

At as 31 December 2020, the carrying amount of properties, plant and R-ZZE_ZEF+_-_H=+—H
equipment was HK$14,576,075,000 (2019: HK$14,800,958,000). mE - BMEARENEEENR

14,576,075,000 8 L ( =& — L&
14,800,958,000/& 7€) °

Estimated impairment of goodwill (Note 17) BB ZATHRE (FEE17)

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of ErmERSHERER - AfsEE
the recoverable amount of the CGU (or group of CGUs) to which FESEsReEFEM(KREES
goodwill has been allocated which is the higher of the value in use or BAR) e BE(RERBERA
fair value less costs of disposal. The value in use calculation requires FERLERATHRSE) - AEE
the Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from HHEABERARBEHREZRGE
the CGU (or a group of CGUs) and a suitable discount rate in order EBM(BESEEEMMR) 2 BEE
to calculate the present value. Where the actual future cash flows EMERSBEZ BB RELMEE - UG
are less than expected, or change in facts and circumstances which HIRME - WEBRARKRRSREDNTER
results in downward revision of future cash or upward revision of B RFERBENEHEHTFRK
discount rate, a material impairment loss may arise. Furthermore, the Reefs RAMRE - AIFREgES
estimated cash flows and discount rate are subject to higher degree EXRERIE o 15 - AR Covid-19%
of estimation uncertainties in current year due to uncertainty on BENERIEEFEIEEE - MES
how the Covid-19 pandemic may progress and evolve and volatility BhTISHR B (B IR E AN S B X a8
in financial markets, including potential disruptions of the Group's EFE)  AFENEFTRESTE R
operation. At 31 December 2020, the carrying amount of goodwill REZFREEENTREELE - R
was approximately HK$2,670,528,000 (2019: HK$2,670,528,000). EZ-EF+-A=+—H BEZK
Details of the recoverable amount calculation are disclosed in Note T {E#)432,670,5628,0008 T (—F— N
17. % : 2,670,528,000/8 7T ) © AJH[EIFKIE

AHEEFBRMEI7THE -

—Zz-z£4xR



144

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M ISR M EE
4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTA'NTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Allowances for inventories (Note 25)

In determining the net realisable value of the Group’s inventories,
the management estimated the net realisable value of inventories
based on the most reliable information available at the time the
estimates are made. These estimates take into consideration the
fluctuations in price, the balance on hand relative to sales prospects
and the condition of the inventories. A write down of HK$7,556,000
(2019: HK$181,093,000) on inventories has been recognised during
the year ended 31 December 2020. As at 31 December 2020,
the carrying amount of inventories was HK$3,010,897,000 (2019:
HK$2,962,386,000).

Estimated net realisable value on properties held for
development (Note 26)

In determining whether write down should be made to the Group’s
properties held for development, the Group takes into consideration
the current market environment and the estimated market value (i.e.
the estimated selling price less estimated costs of selling expenses)
less estimated costs to completion of the properties. Write down is
made if the estimated market value less estimated cost to completion
of the properties is less than the carrying amount. If the actual net
realisable value on properties held for development is less than
expected as a result of change in market condition and/or significant
variation in the budgeted development cost, material write down may
result. As at 31 December 2020, the carrying amount of properties
held for development was approximately HK$19,842,807,000 (2019:
HK$21,115,592,000).

Provision of ECL for trade receivables (Notes 27 and 37)

Trade receivables that are credit-impaired are assessed for ECL
individually, the remaining trade receivables are assessed for
collectively based on shared credit risk characteristics by reference to
the Group’s internal credit ratings.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the ECL and the Group’s trade receivables are
disclosed in notes 37 and 27(a).

As at 31 December 2020, the carrying amount of trade receivables
was HK$7,361,508,000 (2019: HK$6,764,450,000), net of allowance
for credit losses of HK$1,171,133,000 (2019: HK$1,139,894,000).
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RE I ERARMIEE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTA'NTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Fair value measurements and valuation processes

Some of the Group’s assets are measured at fair value for financial
reporting purposes. The Directors have a designated team to
determine the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for fair
value measurements.

In estimating the fair value of the Group’s investment properties,
the Group uses market-observable data to the extent it is available.
Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group engages third party
qualified valuers to perform the valuation of the Group’s investment
properties. At the end of each reporting period, the Directors work
closely with the qualified external valuers to establish and determine
the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for Level 2 and Level
3 fair value measurements. The Group will first consider and adopt
Level 2 inputs where inputs can be observable, other than quoted
prices in the active market. When Level 2 inputs are not available,
the Group will adopt valuation techniques that include Level 3 inputs.
Where there is a material change in the fair value of the assets, the
causes of the fluctuations will be reported to the Directors. Any
changes in the price per square metre in reference with recent
transactions will affect the fair value of the investment properties of
the Group. Information about the valuation techniques and inputs used
in determining the fair value of the Group’s investment properties are
disclosed in Note 14.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RARMEE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Fair value measurements and valuation processes (continued)

In relying on the valuation report, the Directors have exercised their
judgement and are satisfied that the method of valuation is reflective
of the current market conditions. Whilst the Group considers
valuations of the Group’s investment properties are the best estimates,
the ongoing Covid-19 pandemic has resulted in greater market
volatility depending on how the Covid-19 pandemic may progress and
evolve, which have led to higher degree of uncertainties in respect
of the valuations in the current year. Changes to these assumptions,
including the potential risk of any market violation, policy, geopoalitical
and social changes or other unexpected incidents as a result
of change in macroeconomic environment, travel restrictions
implemented by many countries, increased complexity in international
trade tensions geopolitics, changes in policy direction and/or
mortgage requirements, or other unexpected incidents would result
in changes in the fair values of the Group’s investment properties and
the corresponding adjustments to the amount of gain or loss reported

in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

In estimating the fair value of the Group’s equity instruments at FVTPL,
equity instruments at FVTOCI and debt instruments at FVTOCI, the
Group uses market-observable data to the extent it is available. For
listed equity securities classified as equity instruments at FVTPL, the
fair values of the listed securities are determined by reference to the
quoted market bid prices available. For bond securities classified as
debt instruments at FVTOCI, where Level 1 inputs are not available,
the Directors assess the fair value of the Group’s bond securities
listed on the Stock Exchange, the Singapore Exchange Securities
Trading Limited (“SGX”) and SIX Swiss Exchange (“SIX”) based on
quoted market bid prices at the end of each reporting period. For
equity instruments at FVTOCI, when Level 2 inputs are not available,
the Group will adopt valuation techniques that include Level 3
inputs. Where there is a material change in the fair value of the
equity investments at FVTPL, equity instruments at FVTOCI and debt
instruments at FVTOCI, the causes of the fluctuations will be reported
to the Directors. The fair value of the equity instruments at FVTOCI is
insignificant as at 31 December 2020 (2019: HK$162,918,000). Notes
21, 22 and 37(c) provides detailed information about the valuation
techniques, inputs and key assumptions used in the determination
of the fair value of the Group’s equity instruments at FVTPL and debt

instruments at FVTOCI.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE I ERARMIEE

5. REVENUE 5. X
Analysis of revenue for the year is as follows: FRESEFENDOWITAT
2020 2019
—=-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FH&T T4
Revenue recognised at a point in time R — B TER A & R
Sales of chemicals HENTER 9,910,485 12,808,236
Sales of laminates HEE IR 13,931,952 14,077,581
Sales of PCBs 55 ERIAR B AR 10,551,111 9,623,169
Sales of properties HEYHE 7,218,091 2,137,697
Others (Note ) EAt (P 5ED) 324,327 356,852
Revenue recognised over time (Note ii) BE e R RR Y & 22 58 (PR3N 110,385 153,015
Revenue from contracts with customers BEAE W= 42,046,351 39,156,550
Rental and licence fee income (Note 40) e MR E WA (HizE40) 1,114,037 1,215,342
Interest income from debt instruments BT AR SWA 207,443 679,560
Dividend income from equity instruments S T ERBUA 142,443 109,399
43,510,274 41,160,851
Notes: Bi5E
i) The amount mainly included sales of magnetic products of [0) ZeBRTITEORUMEEREE
HK$280,420,000 (2019: HK$308,615,000). 280,420,000 & 7T ( = & — N F

308,615,000/ 7T)
(ii) Revenue recognised over time represents income from hotel

accommodation. (i) FERS R MR ) & RS RS -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e RRME

5. REVENUE (continued) 5. %%%ﬁ(iﬁé)
Transaction price allocated to the remaining REITEEHRTEFAHNEBLNE
performance obligation for contracts with customers EHNRZEE
All sales contracts, apart for sales of properties, have an original MRESEMEI  FIEHESNRTERF
expected duration of one year or less. As permitted under HKFRS B B —F s AT - HE B RER]
15, the transaction price allocated to the remaining performance E1IRATNEEZEANBRTRENE
obligation for these contracts is not disclosed. EHR S ER AR
The transaction price allocated to the remaining performance RZE_ZTFER_FT—NF+=A8
obligations for sales of properties (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) =+—H HEMESIREHRTENE
as at 31 December 2020 and 2019 and the expected timing of E(RERKEBD REK) X HER M
recognising revenue are as follows: TRHATE R SR AT

Sale of properties

SHEWE

2020 2019

—B-F —E-NEF

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FHET BT

Within one year —F R 2,463,399 6,461,272
More than one year but not more than —F LA BT HBIRMRE

two years 961,809 1,299,564

3,425,208 7,760,836
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE I ERARMIEE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION

HKFRS 8 “Operating Segments” (“HKFRS 8”) requires operating
segments to be identified on the basis of internal reports about
components of the Group that are regularly reviewed by the executive
directors of the Company, who are the Chief Operating Decision
Makers (“CODM”), in order to allocate resources to segments and
to assess their performance. Specifically, the Group’s reportable
segments under HKFRS 8 are organised into six main operating
divisions — (i) manufacture and sale of laminates, (i) manufacture
and sale of PCBs, (i) manufacture and sale of chemicals, (iv) sales
and rental of properties, (v) investments (mainly investment income
from debt instruments at FVTOCI, equity instruments at FVTPL and
equity instruments at FVTOCI) and (vi) others (mainly including service
income, manufacture and sale of magnetic products and hotel
business). The management aggregated the sales of properties and
rental income business into one reportable segment because the
financial performance of both businesses are affected by changes
in the property market. In addition, the management aggregated
service income, hotel business and manufacture and sale of magnetic
products into one reportable segment because the revenue, results,
assets and liabilities of each business are insignificant to the Group.
No other operating segments identified by the CODM have been

aggregated in arriving at the reportable segments of the Group.

The accounting policies the Group used for segment reporting under
HKFRS 8 are the same as those used in its HKFRS consolidated
financial statements. Segment profit or loss represents the profit
(loss) earned by each segment with certain items not included (share
of result of an associate, share of results of joint ventures, gain on
disposal of subsidiaries, finance costs, share-based payments and
unallocated corporate income and expenses). This is the measure
reported to the CODM for the purpose of resource allocation and

performance assessment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

e RRME
6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. /]-J\%Bﬁ*il'(%)
(a) Segment revenue and results (@) PHEXBERES
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results AT RIRBRSME D 2 AEE
by reportable segments: ERERBMEE NI
For the year ended 31 December 2020 gz-_E2-_FEF+-A=+—8
IEFE
Laminates PCBs  Chemicals  Properties Investments Others ~ Eliminations Consolidated
BOER  ORGRR  (LIER L/ RE i 3f ke
HK$'000 HK$1000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$1000 HK$000 HK$'000
Thn T T T T T Thn T
(Note a) (Note b) (Note c) (Note d)
(Kista) (Wab)  (Kee)  (Kiskd)
Seqment revente HPesE
Extemnal sales HIEER 13,931,952 10,551,111 9910485 8,332,128 349,886 434712 - 43510274
Inter-segment sales HHEHER 2,660,970 - 648370 - - 9679 (3319,019) -
Total 3 16,592,922 10,951,111 10,558,855 8,332,128 349,886 444301 (3319,019) 43510274
Resut E4
Segment resuits e 3312673 1,086,321 1,156,980 3,516,996 (517,717) 34,487 8,569,740
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries  HEMBAF 2 29,716
Unallocated comorateincome.~—~ KAEZ AT 57,347
Unallocated comorate expenses  #ARZAFEH (338,463)
Finance costs BEAL (457,179)
Share of results of ot ventures (G2 4ATEE 7,868
Shareofresutof nassocile  ERBAATEE (2673)
Proftt before taxation iyl 7,936,416
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE I ERARMIEE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. /]-J\%Bﬁ*il'(%)

(@ Segment revenue and results (continued) () DHEEBERESE
For the year ended 31 December 2019 BE-ZE-hFt+= FJ ‘I' B
I
Laminates PCBs  Chemicals s Investments Ot hers Elminations ~ Consolidate
Eimh  ORSRR  (LIER
HK$'000 HKS 000
T AT Thn ‘ ;i
(Note ) ) (Note d)
mufd‘
Seqment revente HPesE
External sales HiMEER 14187081 9623169 12808236 3293039 788,959 509,867 - 41,160,851
Inter-segment sales APEEER 2,213,957 - 81962 - - 8146 (2841729) -
Totd st 16,301,638 9623169 13427862 3293039 788,959 58013 (841729 41,160,851
Resul 38
Segment results AP5E 2,185,346 487,139 73017 1943012 966,015 1587 6,318,066
Unallocated comporateincome & ATLZAFMA 94,400
Unalocated coorate expenses ~ &ARZATRE (433,862)
Finance costs BEAL 752,001)
Share-based payments WRAR AR (229,234
Share of results of ot venfures ~ EfEALATIER 93,867
Share of resut of an associate EH““ BE+ 51,677
Proft before taxetion AR 5,120,913
Notes: BMisr
(@) The management aggregated the revenue derived from the sales (@ B E BN RIS ET
of laminates and licence fee income into “Laminates” segment. BAERASHATBRER DI -
(o) The management aggregated the revenue derived from the sales (o) BN EYELEFLASIWAL
of properties and rental income into “Properties” segment. BEATYEE D E o
() The management aggregated the revenue derived from the © IR AR T AN SWA GEZET
interest income from debt instruments and dividend income from B B UG A R EEAGEATIRE D E o

equity instruments into “Investments” segment.

@ The management aggregated the revenue derived from the sales (d) BN EYTERLYE  AEE
of magnetic products, income from hotel accommodation and Tl A E TS UL A A BE

income from other businesses.

Inter-segment sales are charged on a cost-plus basis with an S EPR Y S E R AR A A TR o

arm’s length margin.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV BmRMETE
6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. /]-J\%Bﬁ*il'(%)
(b) Segment assets and liabilities b) SHBEEREE
The following is an analysis of the Group's assets and liabilities T BZBRDEE D 2 AN EH
by reportable segments: BERBBEZDHN
At 31 December 2020 R-B-EF+-A=1+—H

Laminates PCBs  Chemicals  Properties Investments Others Consolidated

BAES  ORARR  {IER U R& At e

HK$000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$000 HK$:(;00 HK$000
Thn Tin Thn TR Tin Tin T

Assets gE
Segment assets AR 19573195 13830672 3,627,852 42,450,567 70864858 1,078,676 88,425,820
Intrests in an associate SNV 39,314
Interests injont ventures RASDAIZER 2,609,520
Unallocated assets FAEZER
- Bank balances and cash -RiERRAS 1,416,390
- Defered tax assefs -EiiEEE 2667
- Taxafion recoverable -WHERE 18,468
- Others ~£fy 406,959
Consolidated total assets GAEEEA 93,249,138
Liabilties L
Segment libilties HHak (2,961,066)  (2521,604)  (876,308)  (4,000,850) - (97,929)  (10,457,752)
Unallocated fabilties FAE8E
- Bank borrowings -RTRE (17,230,846)
- Taxafion payable - RHE (1,880,064)
- Defered tax fablies -EEiEaE (690,621)
- Others -Ef (2,191,149)
Consoldated toal fabies GABELEA (32,450,432)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE I ERARMIEE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(b) Segment assets and liabilities (continued)
At 31 December 2019

6. DHER

b) PBEEREREE
R=B-A%+=A=+-AR

Laminates PCBs  Chemicals  Properties  Invest Others Consolicated
RiRER I IER S Eff
HK$000 HK§'000 HKS 000
TAL AT I T
Assets EE
Segment assets AHEE 1649,797 12968543 6140928 42590953 10902884 1,011,090 90,110,155
Interests in an associate RSN ES 397,950
Interests in joint ventures RABNAZER 2,536,434
Unallocated assets FAEZER
- Bank balances and cash = et 3307623
- Defarred tax assefs -EiiEEE 253
- Taxaflon recoverable - RERE 18207
- Others -Efh 662,198
Consoldated total assets FaAEME 97,035,126
Liabilities =1
Seqment biies 398% B0 (1909519 (1006155 (6364924 - BT [12306916)
Unallocated liabilties AoEZaR
- Bank borrowings -k (24,409,909)
- Taxation payable -EaHE (1,369.201)
- Deferred tax lbiltes -ERiEaR (697,954
- Others -Ef (192.4%)
Consoldated total liabiltes FRERIEE (39,05,476)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and

allocating resources between segments:

REESHBERBE LR BEDEEIR

° all assets are allocated to operating segments other . BB N TR - REED

than interests in an associate, interests in joint

FKH)fEs  ERERIREE - A

ventures, deferred tax assets, taxation recoverable, EIFIA « BEFRITEL RIS A

certain bank balances and cash and other assets; and

° all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other .
than bank borrowings, deferred tax liabilities, taxation

payable and other liabilities.

MEMEEI  FBEEENRLE
REDE R

BIRITIEE EEHIBAE
BEREREMEE - Fﬁ*ﬁ%{f

BAREEREDE -

—EoEsss EE



154 KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e RRME
6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. /]-J\%Bﬁ*il'(%)
(c)  Other information () HESR
For the year ended 31 December 2020 BE-ZE-_ZEHf+-HA=+—H
HEE
Amounts included in the measure of segment profit or loss or DEERIADEBEENTER
segment assets: &

Unallocated
Laminates PCBs  Chemicals  Properties Investments Others amount  Consolidated

Bamk ORERR  LIER S R& i xOEEH e
HK$'000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$000  HKS000  HK$'000
T TR TR T T TR ThT T

Capital addtions BRER 1,163,589 538,547 262414 2,330,472 - 49945 - 4344967
Depreciation of propertis, NE BERREIE

plant and equipment (590,834)  (597,348)  (378,760) (3,187 (2,506) (63,807) - (1,636,392
Depreciation of ight-o-use assets  EREEERE (15,669) (4,856) (7,697) - - (18,825) - (47,041)
Loss on fair valug chnges of equity A T(EG A BREIERTE

instruments at FVTPL LYEZIER - - = - (978,289) = - (078289
(ain on disposal of debt LERATETALNZEYE

instruments at FVTOC| MEBTENE - - - - 106,245 - - 106,245
Impaiment loss reversed HEDEMERE ()2

(recognised) on trade recevables  HEBE 39,691 (33,318) (17,084) (1,390) - (1,746) - (13,797)
Reversal of write cown (write down) 7S AR (i)

of inventories 75,221 (3,716) (11,360) - - (1,701) - (7,556)

Interest income on bank balances,  $R{TAE: - 30 ZHETR
deposts, enfrusted boansand.~~~ JEWEZTIBMA

loan receivable 21,871 2,678 2451 26,866 1,357 64 45,682 126,975
Gain oss) on disposal and LERMIENE  BERGEL

Writen off of properties, Wa(EE)

plant and equipment 2,438 (15,350) (18,627) (36) - (49) - (91,624)
Lossonfairveuechangesof ~ REMELTEZE B

investment propertes - - - (5,431) = = o (5,431)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

PRk MY

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(c)  Other information (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2019

Amounts included in the measure of segment profit or loss or

segment assets:

Laminates
HK§'000
T
Capital addltions BRER 780278
Depreciaton of properies, 0% BRREREE
plant and equipment (693,790)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets  (FRIEEETE (11,78)
(Galn on fair vaue changes of equity  ATEST A BRI T A
instuments at FVTPL BRSNS -
(ain on disposal of debt HERATEF AL ZENE
instuments at FVTOC WERIANA -
Impaiiment loss on trade RSN R NEFE
receivables, net of reversal (M) (152,138)
Wrte-down of inventories WeRE 96279

Interest income on bank balances,  $R{TE - B30 ZHETR
depostts, entusted kansand ~ JEEHENFIZ A

loan receivable 29400
(Loss) gein on disposal and LERMENE  BERREL

writen off of propertes, (E8)ha

plant and equipment (10498
(Gain on fai vlue changes of RENFLTESS NG

investment properties -

PCBs

1,031,880

1596,964)
73))

(11,597)
(27,605)

2,042

3,366

Chemicals
L IER
HKS 000

T
611,53

620229
878)

(19475)
{40.486)

24,563

1220389)

DEER )

) HtbER(E
BE-®-AF+=A=+-A8

b
J
at
@
B3
el

DHMERXADHEENTER

IEFE
&
Investments
&
HK$000 HK§'000
Tar A
3,662,813 -
(4n9 (1817)
- 40920
- 142,140
29873 6,379
(661) -
6,263 -

81,275

62632)
(16,99

Unallocated
amount
HK§ 000

AT

28,162

Consolidated

HKS 000
TAL

6,167,781

(1,880,145)
{44,849

40,920

142,140

(183210

(181,099

120,720

(228249)

6,263

The Group operates principally in the PRC (country of

domicile).

AREBEEBEBUNPE(RNEE A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RARMEE

6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(c)

Other information (continued)

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue from
external customers by geographical location of the customers
or tenants or in the case of interest income and dividend
income, the principal place of business of the debtor or
investee:

6.

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

DEEE @)
(c) EHBERG)

REERBEEPHEP MM -

o frd 8 ) S M A R BB A RIAR
BEBATRRETHNEIELE
MR SNER R P R T

T

Year ended 31 December

BE+-H=+—HLFE

2020 2019

“ECEF —T-NEF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FTHET FA&T

The PRC (country of domicile) AL (FTEEISR) 39,249,965 36,658,300
Other Asian countries (including Thailand, — EfSMBIR (BIERH -

Japan, Korea and Singapore) HAR - 526 RFTANG ) 2,096,079 2,102,731
Europe BOM 1,506,308 1,657,659
America EM 657,922 742,161

43,510,274 41,160,851

No single external customer of the Group contributed over
10% of the Group’s revenue for each of the years ended 31
December 2020 and 2019.

The geographical analysis of the Group’s non-current assets
other than loan receivable, entrusted loans, deferred tax
assets, equity instruments at FVTPL, equity instruments at
FVTOCI and debt instruments at FVTOCI by location of assets
is presented as follows:

HE-_Z-_ZFR-_ZT—NLF+=A
=t+—RALFE AEBEWEE— 2
HEP(RAEEEEREBIBI0% °

BREWER  ZEER - BLEBIEE
E EBAVEFAEZERTE 1%
AEEFAEMEEREMER TAR
RATEFAREMEERENEETE
N REEIFERBE EREEME DT
E5T -

At 31 December

R+=—B=+-—H
2020 2019
—E=—=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE T TET
The PRC (country of domicile) B (FTFERIZR) 35,470,515 35,178,872
United Kingdom B 6,388,533 6,277,949
Thailand ZEH 362,234 396,687
42,221,282 41,853,508
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE I ERARMIEE

7. OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES 7. HMEWA - Wz kESE

2020 2019
—ECEH
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Other income, gains and losses includes: Hiplg A ~ Wz R EEsE
Interest income on bank balances and deposits $81T 4584 & 1778~ Fl 2 U A 58,960 64,929
Interest income on entrusted loans ZREERZFBMA 22,333 34,210
Interest income from loan receivable FEWRE 2 T BUA 45,682 21,581
Government grants (Note) B aERL () 84,692 83,000
Loss on disposal and written off of properties, & RIMEEE - BE L
plant and equipment Bl -t (91,624) (228,249)
Others Hib (23,074) (68,990)
96,969 (93,519)
Note:  During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group recognised Mizt: REBEE_Z_ZF+_A=+—HIL
government grants of HK$4,601,000 (2019: nil) in respect of Covid-19- FE - AKEEFZECOVID-195
related subsidies, of which HK$4,529,000 (2019: nil) relates to Employment BT RE4,601,000/8 7T ( — T — N4 -
Support Scheme provided by the Hong Kong government. The remaining &) EREEBINRMETENEH
government grants are related to unemployment insurance premium ) IR S 7 B 4,529,000 L (= — 1
refunds, import of high technology products, development support and FE) BRTHENHAARERR
support for stabilising employment received by the Group from relevant TRRABR AT S PIES R R B IRE
government departments. There are no unfulfilled conditions attached to EATRITERE O TE - FRIERE
these grants. EFMELIR o RETRZER[BMING
EHARERRE

8. FINANCE COSTS 8. RERAK

2020 2019

—E-= —E—NEF

HK$’000 HK$ 000

FExT FBT

Interest on bank borrowings HRITEEFRE 499,273 819,619
Imputed interest on contract liabilities EHBEZEEFS 41,758 24,007
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEMNE 597 584

Less: Amounts capitalised in the properties B EFARFREYERN
held for development A& 5 (80,168) (78,193)
Amounts capitalised in the construction in FREIRMNERMEE

progress (4,281) (14,016)
457,179 752,001

—Zz-z£4xR
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KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RARMEE

8.

FI NAN C E COSTS (continued)

Bank and other borrowing costs capitalised during the year include
imputed interest on contract liabilities of HK$41,758,000 (2019:
HK$24,007,000) as well as, bank borrowing costs arising from the
general borrowing pool which were calculated by applying a weighted
average capitalisation rate of 2.92% (2019: 2.95%) per annum to
expenditure on qualifying assets.

Rl E AN )

FABERMMEZ RITREMEEREE
BAENABZEEF B A41,758,000
BT (ZZ— NF 1 24,007,0007% 7T)
R—RBEEDEE ZRITHEERA - A
HEREERIINEFERLFFE

2.92%(—ZF—N4F 1 2.95% )58 °

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 9. FEHBX

2020 2019

TE-EF —E-NEF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FHT

The amount comprises: HIEBIE

PRC Enterprise Income Tax PR EMSH 1,227,159 902,287
PRC LAT Fh B+ IR (E 361,356 248,146
Hong Kong Profits Tax BEANEB 219,757 46,903
Taxation arising in other jurisdictions HihmliER 2 FH1E 22,309 20,164
Withholding tax in the PRC AR TEIR 273,193 157,321
Underprovision in previous years BATFERETR 2,858 9,379
2,106,632 1,384,200
Deferred taxation (Note 24) IEIERETE (M7E24) 1,431 (30,267)
2,108,063 1,353,933

Under the Law of the PRC on EIT (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation
Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25%
for both years.

Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax of 5% - 10% is
imposed on dividends declared in respect of profits earned by
subsidiaries in Mainland China from 1 January 2008 onwards.

B ANNUAL REPORT 2020
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE I ERARMIEE

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

The provision of LAT is estimated according to the requirements
set forth in the relevant PRC tax laws and regulations. LAT has
been levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on the
appreciation of land value, represented by the excess of sales
proceeds of properties over prescribed direct costs. Prescribed
direct costs are defined to include costs of land, development and
construction costs, as well as certain costs relating to the property
development. According to the State Administration of Taxation’s
official circulars, LAT shall be payable provisionally upon sales of
the properties, followed by final ascertainment of the gain at the

completion of the properties development.

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed
The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill”) which
introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The Bill was signed
into law on 28 March 2018 and was gazetted on the following day.
Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million of
profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits
above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group
entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will

continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

The Directors considered the amount involved upon implementation
of the two-tiered profits tax rates regime as insignificant to the
consolidated financial statements. Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated

at 16.5% of the estimated assessable profit for both years.

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates

prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

BHEHEERRAF

B e

FHEL IR ER B E R B ERA
MR BRMEE - B ESR(R
BEYEHERANEBEERKA) A
REBERFEHZ=TERTEEHR L
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o BREBERA  REMEAREE
BROKAK - BREXHEEBZES
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FFEEBERTRERS RS -

R-ZE-NE=ZA=-+—0  FELE
CRBTIZE—EFHBEER]) (F7
SFOBRPIER J([GPIEZR]) - ZIEHIE
R|IATHERMEH - ZERRZZ
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

s

PR aR M

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

0.

Taxation for the year can be reconciled to the profit before taxation
per the consolidated statement of profit or loss as follows:

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

BB @

REZZRIAEGABRRRHEATER
ZHERIAT

2020 2019
—E-EF ZE-NEF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FHET
Profit before taxation B A ) 7,936,416 5,122,913
Tax charge at the ARSI E25%
domestic income tax rate of (ZE—NF : 25%)5tE 2
25% (2019: 25%) (Note a) Bk (Mita) 1,984,104 1,280,728
Tax effect of expenses not TN EBER ST 2
deductible for tax purpose 12,938 59,597
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose 7B iR Uzs 2 BT 2 (115,760) (151,563)
Tax effect of share of results of joint ventures (L& &R T EE 2 TGS E (19,467) (23,467)
Tax effect of share of result of an associate JEMEEE DB B2 668 (12,919
PRC LAT rh B+ S (E T 361,356 248,146
Tax effect of PRC LAT AP B IR T 2 B A R 2 (90,339) (62,036)
Effect of withholding tax on dividend income — F1EIF{/B A TR ZE AR S WA E
from PRC subsidiaries KITRIRB 2 s & 273,193 157,321
Tax effect of Tax Concession (Note b) HEER 2 BT 2(H:Eb) (50,057) (69,943)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RTPERBIABE BB E 60,910 126,857
Utilisation of tax losses previously AU RERZHRIBEEE
not recognised (133,130) (182,752)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries BREIAB SRS - READ
operating in other jurisdictions/areas other AVEHERE MRS EHB AR
than the domestic income tax rate ZEBE 2 (139,406) (13,164)
Effect of tax exemption (Note c) Bia#se 2 28 (M) (39,805) (22,251)
Underprovision in previous years BAFEREBTR 2,858 9,379
Tax expense for the year AEE 2 BBHAS 2,108,063 1,353,933

Notes: B e

(@) The domestic income tax rate of 25% (2019: 25%) represents the PRC (@) NEEMEMAUE2%(ZT—N
Enterprise Income Tax of which the Group’s operations are substantially F : 25%) RASB AR XBER
based. IR GBI -

(b) Pursuant to the EIT Law, a High-New Technology Enterprise shall be (b) RIBRERERE - Bt g
entitled to a preferential tax rate of 15% for three years since it was officially HEEHRAUREEAH=FMN15%H
endorsed. Certain subsidiaries of the Company in the PRC obtained official REE - ARAETHEMBAREE
endorsement as a High-New Technology Enterprise (“Tax Concession”) FREARTHMEE(HEESR]) -
and with the expiry dates on or before 2022 (2019: 2021). FERA-ZS - ZFH (=TI

F:ZT—%F)
(© Profits arising from certain subsidiaries of the Company in Macau are (0) AARNIFSRPYZ BT B AR FTES

exempted from profit tax.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE I ERARMIEE

10. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

Profit for the year has been arrived
at after charging:

Auditor’s remuneration
Amortisation of intangible assets
Cost of inventories sold
Cost of properties sold
Depreciation of properties,
plant and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Direct operating expenses
in relation to investment properties

Impairment loss on trade receivables,

net of reversal

Net exchange loss

Total staff costs, including directors’
emoluments (Note 11)

Write down of inventories,
included in cost of sales

10.

RERENDEMBIATIER ¢

Gl

B EERE
BEEFEZKA
EEMEZRAR

WE - BERRBZITE

EREEENE
REMEZ BREERX

B S EWERR 2 REEE
(J0BREEE)

IE VB 18558
BIARE BEEEHE
(BF=E11)

TFEMR - s ASEERAR

REEimA

2020
—v—qu

HK$’000
TR

12,750
6,480
25,932,825
4,271,822

1,636,392
47,041

182,549

13,797
24,959

3,218,740

7,556

2019
—E-NE
HK$’000
FHT

12,750
3,960
30,532,366
969,077

1,880,145
44,849

213,219

183,210
17,762

3,145,023

181,093

11. DIRECTORS’,

CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 11.

AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

(@) Directors’ emoluments
The emoluments paid or payable were as follows:

=
m N2
(a EEME

i - THRAERBKRES

ENSEN ZBE2IT

2020 2019

ko1 : —NF

HK$’°000 HK$'000

FTEx FAT

Fees we 1,140 1,128

Other emoluments: Hibf e -

Salaries and other benefits He MEMER 17,930 17,649

Contributions to retirement benefits scheme 3R {R4E FI &+ 2143k 895 882
Performance related incentive payment TYERIB I EE I

(Note i) () 99,250 103,059

Share-based payments (Note ii) BARS 7 #2204 3R (B i) = 115,540

119,215 238,258

—Zz-z£4xR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RARMEE

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

(continued)

(b)

(c)

Chief Executive’s emoluments

Mr. Chang Wing Yiu is also the Chief Executive of the
Company and his emoluments disclosed above include those
for services rendered by him as the Chief Executive.

Neither the Chief Executive nor any of the Directors had
waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during the years
ended 31 December 2020 and 2019.

Employees’ emoluments

For the year ended 31 December 2020, three (2019: four) of
the five highest paid employees are Directors and the Chief
Executive.

Details of the emoluments of the remaining two (2019: one)
highest paid individuals were as follows:

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

1. B
)

(b)

(c)

= THRARSRES
CAC)

THARMS

AR EETAARBITHE
2 HMER EXE - P&t
R H & RITIRAAE IR 2 fRTE
Z3REH o

BE-ZT-_ZTFER-_ZT—NF
+TZA=+—HIEFE - BET
BN EERNERREHET
A< -

BEMS
BE-ZT-_FF+A=1+—H
LEE  AE2ESHTEEF
ZR(CE-NAF OBR)RER
TR AREL -

BTIME(CE—NF  —F)&
BEHALTOBEEIMT

2020 2019

—EEH —T—hF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET T

Salaries and other benefits e REAMER 6,178 3,133
Contributions to retirement benefits scheme R {Kt&F|zH 2] 309 157
Performance related incentive payment TYERIBBRAERIFIA 37,000 19,780
Share-based payments LARR R FE AT 50 - 14,863
Total emoluments < 4B 58 43,487 37,933
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE I ERARMIEE

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S 11. EE - THHERZKES

AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS £ )
(continued)
(¢) Employees’ emoluments (continued) ) REEME(®

FERAEENRSTEES
FrE R A T AR A B

The number of the highest paid employees who are not the
directors of the Company whose remuneration fell within the

following bands is as follows: T
2020 2019
—E=-%fF —T N
No. of No. of
employees employees
EEAH BE A
HK$15,000,000 to HK$20,000,000 15,000,000/ 7t 2 20,000,000/%8 7T 1 -
HK$20,000,000 to HK$25,000,000 20,000,000/ 7t 225,000,000/ 7T = -
HK$25,000,000 to HK$30,000,000 25,000,000/ 7T 30,000,0007 T 1 -
HK$30,000,000 to HK$35,000,000 30,000,000/ 714 35,000,0007% T = -
HK$35,000,000 to HK$40,000,000 35,000,000/ 7t £ 40,000,000/8 7T - 1
2 1

(d)

During the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, no
emoluments were paid to or receivable by the Directors or
the Group’s five highest paid individuals, including Directors,
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office.

Directors’ material interests in transactions,

arrangements or contracts

As disclosed in Note 28 and Note 44, the Group entered
into sale and purchase transactions with the directors and
subsidiaries of a shareholder with significant influence on the
Group. The price is to be determined and agreed between
the parties from time to time with reference to the prevailing
market price.

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing, Mr. Chang Wing Yiu, Mr. Cheung
Kwong Kwan and Mr. Ho Yin Sang, the executive Directors,
are interested in these transactions to the extent that they
have beneficial interests in these companies.

Save for the aforementioned transaction, no other significant
transactions, arrangements and contracts to which the
Company or the Group was a party and in which a director
of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year.

HEZZ-_TFR-_T—NF+=A
T BLEEE BEEXAEEREAR
EHAT(BRIEES)BEE R ERE
BN - 1EAWRSI RS MR LR
52 BB S E B RER: 2 e -

d ZESRXS - ZREIEN
ZERER
W FE28 K fT 44 il - ANEE
EHEEFEUR—FRHAEREAE
AEE N REAKIB A RHETT
BERS - BREFSHITEZ
BERZMIGREMET k&
= o

MITESRERELE - BoK@E
£ REESERAMRAELER
ZEQNTRHE B - B
Rt ER S A o

B ERZHIN - RERKFARE
AR REAR R EERERARF
FIAEBREP -2 EMER
X5 RERENTHEENE
REEREEER -

—EoEsss EE



166

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE M RARMEE

12. DIVIDENDS

Dividends declared

2020 Interim dividend of

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

12. K2

BEIRKRE

—EoEERHREERERR

2020 2019
—E-EfF ZE-NEF
HK$'000

T4

HK$’000
TR

HK28 cents per ordinary share 287811l 309,618 -
Dividends declared and paid EERRIKERE
2019 Interim dividend of HK28 cents Z—NFFEREERERR
per ordinary share 287811l - 303,206
2019 Final dividend of HKB0 cents — N R B TR E B
(2018: HK70 cents) per ordinary share GO (=T — N\ & : 705810) 662,430 758,207
2019 Special final dividend of —NERFRIRBAREER
HK50 cents (2018: Nil) per ordinary share TRARB0BI(ZZ—N\F -
i) 552,025 -
1,214,455 1,061,413

Dividends proposed

Proposed 2020 Final dividend of HK100 cents

(2019: HK6B0 cents) per ordinary share

BERE

lﬂt— = —= E'E;KHHHQ g2 "'H&
BA100BII( ZZ—N%5F -

2020 2019
—ECERF —T-N4F
HK$'000

T

HK$’000
TR

605%%) 1,105,792 662,795
Proposed 2020 Special final dividend of HK100 2z — & — T F R KBRS
cents (2019: HK50 cents) per ordinary share &8 Z:@EA&1007481L(=Z—H,
£ 50781L) 1,105,792 552,329
2,211,584 1,215,124
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBERRME
12. DIVIDENDS (continued) 12. Hﬁ;%x(,%;)
The final dividend of HK100 cents and the special final dividend of EEREWNHE T _TF+ -8
HK100 cents per ordinary share amounted to HK$1,105,792,000 =T —BIEFERERAREGRES
and HK$1,105,792,000 respectively in respect of the year ended A% 10078 11l & 45 Rl R HA AR B B A% X B %
31 December 2020 (2019: final dividend of HK60 cents and the 10081 ZZ—NF - REREEFKRE
special final dividend of HK$50 cents per ordinary share amounted to BARE0E(L K A R R HARY B AR A%
HK$662,795,000 and HK$552,329,000 respectively in respect of the 50784l) - %5 5 A&1,105,792,0007%8
year ended 31 December 2019) have been proposed by the Directors Tt 1,105,792,0008 L (ZF— I :
and are subject to the approval by the shareholders of the Company R B RS B.662,795,00078 7T M 4 Bl < #A
in the forthcoming annual general meeting. % 8.552,329,000787T) © HEZARFAR A
RN EERREFE RS HE - F0]E
%
13. EARNINGS PER SHARE 13. ZREF
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share attributable KAREHEANEHEBRERNEEZF
to owners of the Company is based on the following data: BTy EETE -
2020 2019
“ECEF —T-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Earnings for the purpose of HREARARBEERF 2 AT
basic and diluted earnings per share 4,702,884 3,094,421

Number of shares
RHEE

2020
—E-2%

Weighted average number of ordinary shares SRR EARE R 7 & @A N

for the purpose of basic earnings per share SE e 1,104,852,097 1,085,720,924
Effect of dilutive potential or HER g BT
ordinary shares arising from share options HEN R TmAk 2 1,168,976 381,238

Weighted average number of ordinary shares A% i 58 22 51| 7 T 3@ A% hn e
for the purpose of diluted earnings per share FHE 1,106,021,073 1,086,102,162
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KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

14.

PR aR M

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

14, BEYE

HK$'000
TAT

FAIR VALUE AFE
At 1 January 2019 RZZE—hF—A—H 16,925,863
Exchange adjustments P& A% (110,723)
Transfer from properties held for development (Note) EREAGEERYECIT) 1,016,991
Transfer from properties, plant and equipment (Note) HEREBYE - BRE R&E ) 265,918
Additions NE 39,190
Acquisitions of subsidiaries (Note 34(a)) U B BT 8 2 &) (P 5E34(a)) 915,035
Gain on revaluation of property, plant and equipment FFIAHMEEREHOYE - BE&

upon transfer to investment properties included in REEREREYER EHE

other comprehensive income 24,211
Gain on fair value changes NSREEElE 6,263
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NFE+_A=+—H 19,082,748
Exchange adjustments PE H 823,076
Transfer from properties held for development (Note) B SR EYE (M) 130,065
Transfer from properties, plant and equipment (Note) BB  REREE ) 23,495
Loss on fair value changes NEZEEE (5,437)
At 31 December 2020 MN-E-TF+-_A=+—H 20,053,947

Note:  Certain properties held for development and properties, plant and MeE : HEBE=FRRKEHEYE A

equipment were reclassified to investment properties upon changing in use
as evidenced by inception of operating leases to independent third parties

(see Note 15 and 26).

26) °

RERBEHSBEREWE (HE15H

The Group leases out various offices under operating leases with
rentals payable monthly. The leases typically run for a fixed period of
1 to 25 years (2019: 1 to 25 years).

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result of the
lease arrangements, as all leases are denominated in the respective
functional currencies of group entities. The lease contracts do not
contain residual value guarantee and/or lessee’s option to purchase
the property at the end of lease term.

B ANNUAL REPORT 2020

AEBRECLHAEHAZEHRAE
FAKBME - ME—MHENTI1E
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

14.

PRk MY

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at 31 December
2020 had been arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out by
Ravia Global Appraisal Advisory Limited (2019: Ravia Global Appraisal
Advisory Limited), an independent qualified valuer not connected to
the Group. Ravia Global Appraisal Advisory Limited is a member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors. The valuation was determined
based on direct comparison method by reference to the market
observable transactions of similar properties and adjusted to reflect
conditions and locations of subject properties. There has been no
change from the valuation technique used in prior years.

In determining the fair value of the relevant properties, the Directors
has set up a valuation committee, which is headed up by the
persons in charge of financial matters of the Group, to determine
the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for fair value
measurements.

The Group engages an independent valuer to perform its valuations.
The valuation committee works closely with the independent valuer
to establish the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the
model. The persons in charge of financial matters report the valuation
committee’s findings to the Directors every quarter to explain the
cause of fluctuations in the fair value of the assets.

The Group’s investment properties were classified as Level 3 of the
fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2020 and 2019.

The following table gives information about how the fair values
of these investment properties are determined (in particular, the
valuation technique and inputs used), as well as the fair value
hierarchy into which the fair value measurements are categorised
(Level 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements is observable.

14,

BHEHEERRAF

REWHE =)

REBRENENR_ZE-_ZF+-A
=t —BZAFETIZEAEEL EEE
B2 BN A AR ER R SRR
FRHERAR(ZF—NF YR
AHEAAAR AR ETTHEZEEE
B ImBRMGHAREAER AR AT
AEMBEEE - MENRERLEE
SEROMEZ IBETISRX AR
FEARR B EME MR RO E &
E o RBEFEMAZ HERMIL R
) o

RETHENENATE EFSCK
UHEZEE  HEEAKENKEY
MALHE URATFEHAEETEE
i E S B s A B -

REBZBEBL(AEMGE- - FEEE
GEBIGEMEREE - HRASER
D@ HERM B ARBE - MK
HAEASBFREZERMGEZES
BH - MRAEEATERBZEH -

REBREWENR_Z_ZTFR_F
—NF+ZA=+—"BIERE=AR
FERBEAR -

TREJZEREDFELATFENETH
A (LR ATE A E R R AEE)
LA K3z N BT S8 A BUR M 1] B2
B AFEFEDEZ A FEEBERT
(F—ZE=M) -

—Zz-z£4xR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE M RARMEE

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Investment properties
held by the Group in the

consolidated statement Fair value
of financial position hierarchy
AR NTHE
AEEREZREME BRERR
Industrial properties in Level 3
Hong Kong

REBR IR F=/
Commercial propertiesin -~ Level 3
the New Territories, Hong

Kong

REBFROEAME F=/

B ANNUAL REPORT 2020

Valuation techniques
and key inputs
RERIT &
TERARE

Direct comparison
method based on market
observable transactions
of similar properties
adjusted timing of
reference transactions
and property-specific
adjustments including
nature, location and
conditions of the property
BERLETE  BETS
HRMENABERS -
RLER HMEEETTH
B R ERE R
2. OEMENLE
ERAR

Direct comparison
method based on market
observable transactions
of similar properties
adjusted timing of
reference transactions
and property-specific
adjustments including
nature, location and
conditions of the property
BEELETE  BETS
HRMENABERS -
MBER HMRRIHETTH
B R YR E R
B OEMENLE
B RAR

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

14, BEWE &)

Significant unobservable

BARR

Price per square metre, using
market direct comparable
properties and taking into
account location and other
individual factors such as

road frontage, size of property
etc., which is ranged from
HK$41,273 to HK$49,461
(2019: HK$40,979 to
HK$61,440) per square metre.
RRATSERTLEMERE
BALE AR ELA ] 51| H = 1%
(MR ETERE - MERNE)H
BYRER N FEES
KA1, 2738 L E 49,4618 7T
(ZZ—NF : 40,9798 T E
61,44087T) °

Price per square metre, using
market direct comparable
properties and taking into
account location and other
individual factors such as road
frontage, size of property etc.,
which is HK$57,701 (2019:
HK$57,084) per square metre.

REAMSEZILENERE
BB AR EMERREEE

(IERATIERS « MERNE)K
T FKER - B57, 7015
(ZZ—h%F : 57,084%7T) °

Sensitivity

A significant increase in

the price per square metre
used would result in a
significant increase in the fair
value measurement of the
investment properties, and vice
versa.

T KERAELI I
RANEMATESBAREL
o RZIA -

A significant increase in

the price per square metre
used would result in a
significant increase in the fair
value measurement of the
investment properties, and vice
versa.

BY I RERARE LTS
KEMEN A TEFERNE L
Tt RZIA -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE I ERARMIEE

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Investment properties
held by the Group in the
consolidated statement Valuation techniques
and key inputs
(AR K

FEH AR

Fair value
hierarchy
AF{E

BRIERA

of financial position
AR
REEREZREDE

Commercial propertiesin ~ Level 3
Hong Kong Island, Hong

Kong

Direct comparison
method based on market
observable transactions
of similar properties
adjusted timing of
reference transactions
and property-specific
adjustments including
nature, location and
conditions of the property
RERBRENERANE BELETE - RETS
HRMENAERRLS -
MLER HMEHEITH
B WEHMERENT
B DEMENTE
F &R

Commercial propertiesin -~ Level 3

Shanghai

Direct comparison
method based on market
observable transactions
of similar properties
adjusted timing of
reference transactions
and property-specific
adjustments including
nature, location and
conditions of the property
BELETE - RETS
HRMENIBERS -
HELERHMEEETTH
2 WEHMERENT
B DEMENEE
&R

R EEMERmE E=R

Bl

14, BEWE &)

Significant unobservable
inputs

EATABE

B AZUR

Price per square metre, using
market direct comparable
properties and taking into
account location and other
individual factors such as

road frontage, size of property
etc., which is ranged from
HK$197,119 to HK$207,906
(2019: HK$204,351 to
HK$213,072) per square
metre.
RRATSEETLRMERE
BALE DA K EoA A R H = 1%
(IERATIERS - MEKRNE)K
FYAKER  NTFEEFK
197,119 7L £207,906 /8 7T
(ZZ2—NF : 2043518 TLE
213,072 7T) °

Price per square metre, using
market direct comparable
properties and taking into
account location and other
individual factors such as
road frontage, size of property
etc., which is ranged from
RMB29,989 to RMB34,222
(2019: RMB28,953 to

RMB34,000) per square metre.

RKEAMSEZILBENERE
BB R EMERFEZE
(MERATIERE - MER NN
FYFKER N TEESH
KARM29,980TE AR
342027 (ZZE—NF AR
#28,9537TE AR34,000
TT) e

Sensitivity

HRE

A significant increase in

the price per square metre
used would result in a
significant increase in the fair
value measurement of the
investment properties, and vice
versa.

BITTARERARE LTSS
REMENATEEAEL
Tt RZI% -

A significant increase in

the price per square metre
used would result in a
significant increase in the fair
value measurement of the
investment properties, and vice
versa.

BITARERARE LTSS
REMENATEENEL
Tt R2ZI% -

—E-TFEFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RARMEE

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 14, BEWYWHE =)

Investment properties
held by the Group in the

consolidated statement Fair value Valuation techniques Significant unobservable
of financial position hierarchy and key inputs inputs Sensitivity
eI RH NTE f(ERAMT K EARTAER
AEEREZREME BRI FEH AR BABR B
Residential properties in Level 3 Direct comparison Price per square metre, using A significant increase in
Shanghai method based on market market direct comparable the price per square metre
observable transactions  properties and taking into used would result in a
of similar properties account location and other significant increase in the fair
adjusted timing of individual factors such as value measurement of the
reference transactions road frontage, size of property  investment properties, and vice
and property-specific etc., which is ranged from versa.
adjustments including RMB125,019 to RMB162,761
nature, location and (2019: RMB127,551 to
conditions of the property RMB161,538) per square
metre.
R EgREENE E=R ERLETE  BETS RAMSERTLEMERE SFFRERAELARKES
BRMENTBRERS - RUBUREMENRZE REVMENATEFEAEL
MLERHMEMBITHE (WHRAEE MEXNE)N A R2IA -
B UERMERTENE BFRESR N EEFH
BEDEMENLE -1 KARKE125019TZARKE
=958V 162,761 ZF—hF : AR
#127,551TE AR 161,538
7T) °
Commercial propertiesin -~ Level 3 Direct comparison Price per square metre, using A significant increase in
Guangzhou method based on market market direct comparable the price per square metre
observable transactions  properties and taking into used would result in a
of similar properties account location and other significant increase in the fair
adjusted timing of individual factors such as value measurement of the
reference transactions road frontage, size of property  investment properties, and vice
and property-specific etc., which is ranged from versa.
adjustments including RMB16,601 to RMB27,958
nature, location and (2019: RMB16,019 to
conditions of the property RMB27,840) per square metre.
=LY ES E=R ERLETE  BEMS RAMSEERTLEMERE SFFRERAELARKESN

B ANNUAL REPORT 2020
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H2ER HMEREITH
B WEHERENR

BB REAEIREE
(NEBATIERS - DEA )
SEKEE - NFEES

o BEMENEE 1 KAR®16,601 TEARE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE I ERARMIEE

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 14, BEWHE @)

Investment properties
held by the Group in the

consolidated statement Fair value
of financial position hierarchy
e MBIRRA RS NTE
REEREZREDE BRIERA
Commercial propertiesin -~ Level 3
Shenzhen

WA RS F=1
Commercial Shops in Level 3
Qingyuan

RBR K AR F=M

Valuation techniques
and key inputs
(AR K

FEH AR

Direct comparison
method based on market
observable transactions
of similar properties
adjusted timing of
reference transactions
and property-specific
adjustments including
nature, location and
conditions of the property
BELETE - RETS
HRMENAERRLS -
MLER MR
B UEHERENT
B DEMENTE
FR&AR

Direct comparison
method based on market
observable transactions
of similar properties
adjusted timing of
reference transactions
and property-specific
adjustments including
nature, location and
conditions of the property
BELETE - RETS
HRMENAERRLS -
FHBER HRERETTH
B UEHMERENT
B DEMENEE
E &R

Significant unobservable

inputs
EARTAER
BABIR

Price per square metre, using
market direct comparable
properties and taking into
account location and other
individual factors such as road
frontage, size of property etc.,
which is RMB14,846 (2019:

RMB14,753) per square metre.

RKAMSEZLBNERE
BB R EMEREEE
(MERATIERE - MENNE)N
FYFKER - BEEFKA
R¥14,846L(ZF—NF ¢
ARE#14,7537T) °

Price per square metre, using
market direct comparable
properties and taking into
account location and other
individual factors such as road
frontage, size of property etc.,
which is RMB9,584 (2019:
RMB9,855) per square metre.

RATSEETLRMERE
BAE R EAMERIEER
(IEafER: - MERNE)K
FEHKER  BEFHFXRA
R#9,584TT(ZF—NF : A
R#9,8557T) °

Sensitivity

HRE

A significant increase in

the price per square metre
used would result in a
significant increase in the fair
value measurement of the
investment properties, and vice
versa.

BITARERARE LTSS
REMENATEEAEL
Tt RZI% -

A significant increase in

the price per square metre
used would result in a
significant increase in the fair
value measurement of the
investment properties, and vice
versa.

BITARERARE LTSS
REMENATEENEL
Tt R2ZI% -

—E-TFEFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RARMEE

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Investment properties
held by the Group in the
consolidated statement Fair value
hierarchy
AT
BRI

Valuation techniques
and key inputs
f(ERAMT K

FEH AR

of financial position
eI RH
AEEREZREME

Commercial propertiesin ~ Level 3

Kunshan

Direct comparison
method based on market
observable transactions
of similar properties
adjusted timing of
reference transactions
and property-specific
adjustments including
nature, location and
conditions of the property
BELHTE - BETS
BRMENAERRLS -
BEERHNREHETTH
B WERYIES TR
B AEYENHE
E MR

il

RELHERYE

2
T

Commercial propertiesin ~ Level 3

London

Direct comparison
method based on market
observable transactions
of similar properties
adjusted timing of
reference transactions
and property-specific
adjustments including
nature, location and
conditions of the property
N GENGOENEEIES ERELETE  BETS
HRMENBRERS -
MBER G MRRHETTH
B AR YRR R
B DEMENTE -
B RA

=

There were no transfer into or out of Level 3 during both years.

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and best use

of the properties is their current use.

As at 31 December 2020, certain investment properties with a
carrying value of HK$2,706,000,000 (2019: HK$1,850,000,000) have

been pledged to secure banking facilities granted to the Group.
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14, BEWE &

Significant unobservable
inputs

EATABE

B AZUR

Price per square metre, using
market direct comparable
properties and taking into
account location and other
individual factors such as

road frontage, size of property
etc., which is ranged from
RMB5,222 to RMB10,897
(2019: RMB5,830 to
RMB11,176) per square metre.
REMGEEATLBRYER
ZRAENREMEREZ
& (RETEE - MEXD
F)NGTHABE  NTE
FIRARES222TEAR
#10,8977L(ZE—NF : A
R#5,830mE ARK11,176
JT) e

Price per square metre, using
market direct comparable
properties and taking into
account location and other
individual factors such as road
frontage, size of property etc.,
which is ranged from Great
British Pound (“GBP”) 5,812 to
GBP13,013 (2019: GBP5,694
to GBP12,888) per square
metre.
RATSEETLEMERE
A E AR E A E 5 E =18
(MERETERE - MERNE)H
SEIKER - NTETHK
58128655 13,013HEE (=2
—NF 1 56045452 12,888
HEE) o

EE

Sensitivity

HRE

A significant increase in

the price per square metre
used would result in a
significant increase in the fair
value measurement of the
investment properties, and vice
versa.

FY I RERE AR TSR
REMENATEEAEL
Tt RZIH -

A significant increase in

the price per square metre
used would result in a
significant increase in the fair
value measurement of the
investment properties, and vice
versa.

BT ARERAE LTSS
KEMEN L TEFERE L
Tt RZIA -

MIEFER - WEAE=FRANEANE

R EZ R THER - WEZEER

RERZABRTARE -

N—_E-F

= —=

F+-A=+—8  ~&E
& RE TR EE A2,706,000,00078 7T 2

"EMHE(ZZT—NF : 1,850,000,000

BIL) » DAERERTTRIE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15. PROPERTIES, PLANT AND

RE I ERARMIEE

EQUIPMENT

Freehold
[ands

Leasehold

Buildings  improvements

il Y

Plant and
machinery

HERER
HKS 000

15.

Licenced
assets

RERREE
HK

rﬁﬁ
b3
o]
at
a
B
alj

Furniture,
fixtures and
equipment
B
RERRE

Transportation
equipment

Properties,
plant and
equipment
under

Artwork

Bin

construction

cost A

A1 January 2019 R-F-nE-F-H 51,2263 422340 1,021,456 24,100,097 2,200,968 1,866,762 149,181 7800 1871115 35501062
Exchangs adustments Engg (1121 (#4129 (75 (5800 8108 t5.021) .200) 62 (10249 (521226
Acquied on acquistion of WE-THBARNE(H4p)

a subsidiary (Note 34(o)) - 3016 - 314,749 - 1245 2 - - 319,042
Addtions e - 23448 67,493 436,480 1,080 52010 8,901 12,214 1,862,418 2,454,054
Transler to ivestment properties ~ BREZRANE - (285912 - - - - - - - (285912
Disposes and wite of HE R - )] (2601 (1405617 - (03.657) (14677) - (14576 (1541990
Redlassffcation fom lcenced assets ~ B RIEEREEEHHE - 308,465 - 18621 (2,153890) - 9,154 - - -
Reclassiications EiAE 175,728 25,308 1,407,695 - 48901 - - (1,657,630) -
At 31 December 2019 RZF-NE+ZA=+-A 50,142 4,403,264 1089810 26,340,673 - 1,830,240 150,391 19,432 2041078 35,925,030
Exchange adustments Eri@g 3206 171,012 13,488 1,471,715 - 144.29% 6,744 (o46) 216950 2,026,545
Addtions HE - 19,094 %619 981230 - 130933 5,662 - 769,093 2,001,631
Tranfer o ivestment properties  ERERENE - (24,000 - - - - - - - (24,000
Disposal of a subsiclry (Note 35() &~ 221 (FHEE350) - - - - - - - - 207,092 207,002)
Disposes and wite of HE R - (23%6) B0 (3521689 - (11989 (16,409 - BOSt) (375308
Reclassfcatons i - 62 NV - 169532 1625 - (1,04560) -
At 31 December 2020 WZZZFFTZA=1-B 53,368 4.567,69% 1,165,942 26,174,501 - 2,155,108 148,019 18,486 1686958 35969078
DEPRECIATION AND IMPARMENT ~ frERHE
At 1 January 2019 RZF-NE-F-A - 775,888 571401 16,019,798 1,997,957 1,154,751 101473 - - 0621204
Bichange acjusments ElgE - 7019 6ot eTToN) (367) 1762 (1713 - - s
Provided for the year TERRE - 47,687 44547 1,630,810 12,190 131279 13,682 - - 1,880,145
Eiminated on disposals andwite o EB5 R - - o709 (18565 - 65710 (13639 - - (100862
Eiminated on transfer to ERTRENERTE

investment properties - (19,994) - - - - - - - (19994
Reclassfied fomfoenced assels ~ BREERAZEHNE - 127.7% - 1830701 (1966476) - 8040 - - -
At 31 December 2019 RZF-NE+ZA=+-A - 924,298 598,399 18,295,023 - 1,198,658 107,79 - - 21401
Exchange adustments Eig - 39630 1219 1,087,092 - 80078 5724 - R T
Provided for he year TEERR - 56,614 84511 137694 - 106,600 11708 - - 1%
Eiminated on disposls and write ot~ &R R - - 6939 (2467005) - (55,450) (10239) - - RAE)
Eiminated on fransfer to BRTRENERTE

invesment properties - (505) - - - - - - - (605)
At 31 December 2020 R-Z-2F+-A=1+-A - 1,020,037 686,164 18,242,034 - 1,329,786 114,982 - - 21,393,003
CARRYING VALUES BAE
At 31 December 2020 R-Z-2F+-f=1-A 53,368 3,547,659 479778 7,932,467 - 825,322 33,037 18,486 1,685,958 14,676,075
At 31 December 2019 RZF-NE+ZR=1-A 50,142 3478966 49141 8,045,650 - 631,682 42597 19432 204,018 14800958

—EoTrsy I



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RARMEE

15. PROPERTIES, PLANT AND

EQU IPMENT (continued)

The above items of properties, plant and equipment (other than those
under construction or artwork) are depreciated on a straight-line basis
after taking into account their residual values at the following rates per
annum:

Freehold lands Nil

Buildings* Over the remaining unexpired
terms of leases ranging from
twenty to fifty years

10-20% or over the term of
the lease, which is shorter

Leasehold improvements

Plant and machinery* 10-20%

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 10-33"/3%

Transportation equipment™ 10-20%

* Including those grouped under licenced assets in 2019 and reclassified to

appropriate categories in 2019.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, plant and machinery
related to the production of coal and coke with a carrying amount of
HK$726,000,000 (2019: HK$219,096,000) has been written off due
to the de-capacity policy of the PRC, for which compensation was
received.

At 31 December 2020, the Group’s freehold land of HK$53,368,000
(2019: HK$50,142,000) are situated outside Hong Kong.
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BERYE - BFERREREMRIN
L% - BERREREBERT REF
HERRNABEREER TIIFELEE
RITE

KAERLI 3
By WIBAA AT

KR FHHR20F
E50F 1 E
REMEEE 10-20%3k 78 28
(B E B%)
BT 10-20%
B £EREZE  10-3314%
R 10-20%
. BER-E—-NEDREREEREE
AR T NEEHHEBARENSN
EE -

HE-_ZT-_FTF+-_A=1+—HIEF
B BERPESNEEEBREK  REE
/726,000,000 T ( ZF — L &F
219,096,000 7T ) B3 A4 7= B ok A AR ik
BRI R e W EE - 30 B YEES

=
g o

MW_E-_TE+-_F=+—H A&
[E +£7553,368,0008 L (ZF — NLF -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE I ERARMIEE

15. PROPERTIES, PLANT AND
EQU'PM ENT (continued)

Note: Details of licenced assets:

i
4
b3
J
at
a
B
alj

15. ¥ - BMERRE =

Buildings
BF
HK$'000

Sk —
7870

e . RREEREEFS:

Plant and Transportation

machinery

R R M2
HK$'000
FAT

equipment
HK$’000
FHET

Total
£
HK$’000

BT

COST AR
At 1 January 2019 RZE-NF—A—H 315,358 1,876,631 8,979 2,200,968
Exchange adjustments EEE S (6,893) (41,019) (196) (48,108)
Additions NE - 659 371 1,080
Reclassification EFHME (308,465) (1,836,271) (9,154) (2,153,890)
At 31 December 2019 and R-Z—NF+—A
31 December 2020 =t+—AKkZZ=ZF
+-A=+—A8 - - - -
DEPRECIATION AND WERRE
IMPAIRMENT
At 1 January 2019 RZZE-—NF—A—H 128,057 1,861,716 8,184 1,997,957
Exchange adjustments M 5 E (2,799 (40,693) (179) (43,671)
Provided for the year REEEE 2,477 9,678 35 12,190
Reclassification B HME (127,735) (1,830,701) (8,040) (1,966,476)
At 31 December 2019 and R=ZZT—NF+=A
31 December 2020 =t+—HR=ZZT=-TF
+=-A=+—AH - - - -
CARRYING VALUE BREE
At 31 December 2019 and RZZE—NF+=A
31 December 2020 =t+—HR=ZT=TF
+=-A=+—A8 - - - -
—EoTrsy EE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RARMEE

15. PROPERTIES, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(continued)

Note:

Details of licenced assets: (continued)

On 3 August 2011, 30 August 2013 and 28 August 2015, a subsidiary of
Kingboard Copper Foil Holdings Limited (“KBCF” or the “Licensor”) (KBCF
is a listed subsidiary of the Group in 2018 and delisted in 2019), entered
into a licence agreement and a letter of extension and amendments with
Harvest Resource Management Limited (the “Licencee”), a third party,
to licence KBCF’s copper foil manufacturing facilities located at Fogang
and Lianzhou to the Licencee for the period from 1 September 2011 to
31 August 2017. On 30 August 2017, the Licensor entered into a letter of
extension and amendments with Licencee and extended the licence period
for a further period of two years to 31 August 2019. The details of the
licence arrangement which remained unchanged, are as follows:

(@) to use the leasehold properties, comprising factory buildings in
Fogang and Lianzhou;

(b) to use, consume and dispose of the inventories which shall
include consumables and stocks in trade; and

() to use the machinery, together with all other equipment and
facilities as from time to time located at the properties in Fogang
and Lianzhou.

The licenced properties, plant and equipment tabulated above and
the licenced inventories in Note 25 were licenced for licence income of
HK$10,000,000 per month receivable in advance on the first day of each
and every calendar month, as a measure by KBCF to generate income from
the manufacturing facilities, pending the resolution of the interested party
transactions issue, relating to the manufacturing and trading of copper foil,
with the non-controlling shareholder of KBCF (Note 39(b)) and the approval
of the interested party transactions mandated by the shareholders and/or
when KBCF clinched new third parties customers for the sales of copper
foil. In the prior year, the licenced properties, plant and equipment had
been reclassified as licenced assets under properties, plant and equipment.

The licence agreement between Licensor and Licencee has been early
expired on 1 July 2019 and the Licensor had not entered any letter of
extension and amendments with the Licencee to extend the licenced
period. Accordingly, the licenced assets have been reclassified to
respective buildings, plant and machinery and transportation equipment
under properties, plant and equipment during the year ended 31 December
2019.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE I ERARMIEE

16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 16. FAEEE

Leasehold Leased Plant and
land properties  machinery Total

HA L HEWME BERES Mt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FEIT THET THET FHET

As at 31 December 2020 R-ZE-2F+=A
=t+-A
Carrying amount BREE 1,723,240 9,502 3,938 1,736,680

As at 31 December 2019 R-ZZE-N%F+=A

=+—A
Carrying amount BRE{E 1,679,477 7,962 4,887 1,692,326
For the year ended BE_Z_ZTH+=A
31 December 2020 =t+—HLFE
Depreciation for the year REEHE 43,625 2,221 1,195 47,041
For the year ended BE-_Z-N&E+=A
31 December 2019 =+—HILFE
Depreciation for the year REEITE 42,259 1,876 714 44,849
2020 2019
b b 253 —T-NE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET FHET
Expense relating to short-term leases B HRFA S AR E B ¥Iia R A
and other leases with lease terms end BB RRERIE 165
within 12 months of the date of initial g HEE12[E A A E R EAs
application of HKFRS 16 HERMNFRXZ 364 339
Total cash outflow for leases HERS L@ 56,383 96,052
Additions to right-of-use assets FREEENE 55,523 197,037

—Zz-z£4xR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RARMEE

16. RIGHT'OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

The Group leases various leasehold land, leased properties and plant
and machinery for its operations. Lease contracts are entered into
for fixed term of 1 year to 50 years (2019: 1 year to 50 years). Lease
terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range
of different terms and conditions. In determining the lease term and
assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies
the definition of a contract and determines the period for which the
contract is enforceable.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for leased
properties. As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the portfolio of short-
term leases is similar to the portfolio of short-term leases to which the
short-term lease expense disclosed in this note above.

Restrictions or covenants on leases

In addition, lease liabilities of HK$14,004,000 are recognised with
related right-of-use assets of HK$13,440,000 as at 31 December
2020 (2019: lease liabilities of HK$13,214,000 and related right-of-use
assets of HK$12,849,000). The lease agreements do not impose any
covenants other than the security interests in the leased assets that
are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for
borrowing purposes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHmRME
17. GOODWILL 17. BE&
HK$’000
T4
CARRYING VALUE BREE
At 1 January 2019 RZZE—NF—HF—H 2,467,076
Arising on acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 34(b)) 8 UeEE —EB B A Al (M 5E34(b)) 203,452
At 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2020 RZEBE-NF+ZA=1+—HRK
—E-TF+-_A=+—H 2,670,528
For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill has been allocated RERRME - BEEHELUATIR
to the following groups of CGUs: SEEBMNA -
2020 2019
—_ ? —= ﬂE :%éiﬂﬂz
HK$’000 HK$’'000
T BT
Laminates ERER 390,781 390,781
PCBs EN Rl 4R B 1R 2,099,898 2,099,898
Chemicals EITER 179,849 179,849
2,670,528 2,670,528
The recoverable amounts of the laminates’, PCBs’ and chemicals’ ERER - RIGERREETIES
CGUs have been determined based on value in use calculations. SEASEMZ RESEIZEREBER
Cash flow projections were extrapolated based on a five-year period BAET - BrReRE NERESH
financial budgets approved by the Directors. AR RFHPRIEEmMEE -

—Z-ZHFEH I
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RARMEE

17. GOO DWILL (continued)

The key assumptions for the value in use calculations for the CGUs of
laminates, PCBs and chemicals business segments are as follows:

Laminates

EHER
2020
= 7 —= ﬁ ig_hfﬁ
Discount rate BHEX 12%
Growth rate (for year 110 5) BEE(125E) 4%

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

BINER - EDRIAREEMR Rt T 275
SHREELEBM 2 FERABENEEZ
F2\BHRMAT

PCBs Chemicals
ElaaiR tIER
2020 2019 2020 2019

—7—7$ —ZFJ —7—7$ Z?—ﬂi

-15% 1% 12% 12%

-3% 4% 5% 5%

The key assumptions are determined based on the unit’s past
performance and management’s expectations for the market
development and the growth rates used to extrapolate cash flow
projections in the first five-year period do not exceed the long-term
average growth rates for the relevant industries and growth rates
ranging from 0% to 3% (2019: 0% to 3%) is used beyond the five-
year period. The cash flow projections, growth rates and discount
rate have been reassessed as at 31 December 2020 taking into
consideration higher degree of estimation uncertainties in the current
year due to how the Covid-19 pandemic may progress and evolve
and volatility in financial markets, including potential disruptions of the
Group’s operation.

Since the recoverable amounts of each group of CGUs were higher
than their carrying amounts, no impairment loss was recognised.

Management believes that any reasonably possible changes in any

of these assumptions would not cause the carrying amount of each
group of CGUs to exceed their respective recoverable amount.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHmRME
18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 18. BILEE
Customer
base
EFE#
HK$’000
T4
cosT A
At 1 January 2019 RZZE—NF—HF—H 27,000
Acquired on acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 34(b)) U B — R BT B A B FTS (B 5E34(b)) 37,800
At 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2020 R-EBE—NFE+-_A=+—HK
—E-TFE+-A=+—H 64,800
AMORTISATION #H
At 1 January 2019 R-ZZE—NF—HA—H -
Charge for the year AEEZ M 3,960
At 31 December 2019 RZZE-NF+=A=+—8 3,960
Charge for the year AREF 6,480
At 31 December 2020 RZEZEF+-_A=+—H 10,440
CARRYING VALUE REE
At 31 December 2020 R-E-_ZTF+_A=+—H 54,360
At 31 December 2019 R-E—-NE+-A=1+—8 60,840
The customer base is amortised on a straight-line basis over a period BPEMOFNIREFEH -
of 10 years.

—EoTasy I
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

FEMBHRRMEE
19. INTERESTS IN AN ASSOCIATE 19. REFE QT Z2ER
2020 2019
—EZE qE :i;@—jlf'f
HK$’°000 HK$’000
FAT T
Cost of investments in an associate RABIZE L& ARZ
unlisted in the PRC B 185,066 185,066
Share of post-acquisition profits and JEIG U BB R T R H 2
other comprehensive income, Wz (MR EWARE)
net of dividends received 184,248 212,884
369,314 397,950
At 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Group had interests in the RZEFZFFRZF-AFT A
following associate: =+—H" LK%I%EEMT%%M” AltE

Place of
establishment
and operation

BT iR

Equity interest held
by the Group
KRBT RE
2020
BIBf

Name of associate

BENREB

2019
—E-NF

s
fm

Proportion of voting
rights held by the Group
rEERENRERESL

2020 2019
—$-%5 -T14

Principal activities

EXE5

CNOOC Kingboard Chemical PRC 40% 40% 40% 40%  Manufacture and distribution
Limited# H of methanol
RERBRE L IBRARY Bt R HHFE
# The company was established in the PRC in the form of Sino-Foreign # AR TIAFRINE EAE AR ER
Equity Joint Venture. Eilpavan
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FEMBHmRME
19. INTERESTS IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued) 19. REEE QAR 2R =)
The associate is accounted for using the equity method in these RZEGEEMIERE @ BL AR AR
consolidated financial statements. mEFEYIER o
CNOOC Kingboard Chemical Limited PEAREE I AERAR
2019
—_ 7 —= qi :EEij-LﬂE
HK$’000 HK$’'000
T THT
Current assets RENEE 899,726 956,778
Non-current assets JEmMBE E 188,785 219,946
Current liabilities BB E (165,226) (181,848)

2020
— ? —= ﬂE
HK$’000
T
Revenue ] 991,405 1,232,954
(Loss) profit for the year REE(EHE ) (6,683) 129,192
Other comprehensive income (expense) AFEEME2EREFY)
for the year 62,921 (25,912)
Total comprehensive income for the year NEEFRHEIKRF BT 56,238 103,280
Dividends received from the associate AFE D W E A EIRE
during the year 51,131 184,043
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the SO R B R B R BAR A BT S IR A
carrying amount of the interest in the associate recognised in the ERERATNE S AR R 2 BREAEMN Y

consolidated financial statement. BR o

2020
— 7 — ﬂi

HK$’000
T

Net assets of CNOOC Kingboard Chemical Limited 773 4 i35k THR A 7]

BEFRE 923,285 994,876
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in - A5 B F{h /8 A EE(L T
CNOOC Kingboard Chemical Limited BRAREBEER 2 LE 40% 40%
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest in AREBATEFEAREECT
CNOOC Kingboard Chemical Limited ERATERERE 369,314 397,950

]
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RARMEE

20. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

Details of the Group’s investments in joint ventures are as follows:

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

= 7 —= qE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT FHET
Cost of investment in joint ventures REERAZREKAK 2,503,655 2,503,655
Share of post-acquisition profits and FEMEW B RS F R E 2
other comprehensive income, Wz (MREWARE)
net of dividends received 105,865 32,779
2,609,520 2,536,434
Details of the Group’s joint ventures at the end of the reporting period AEEREEQNRMNIREFBOT -
are as follow:
Country of Proportion of
incorporation/ Principal ownership interest Proportion of voting
Name of entity registration place of business held by the Group rights held by the Group Principal activity
AL/ A58 A5E
Ef2R EHER TEEENHY FENMEERSL FENREERSL TEER
2020 2019 2020 2019
—7—7¢ :iini —7—7¢ :?7/#1\%‘5
Lucky Yuen Holding Limited ~ Hong Kong Hong Kong 50% 50% 50% 50%  Property holding and
[EETARERAR % &% business management
EBRREHEE
Smart Source Management ~ BVI United Kingdom 50% 50% 50% 50%  Property holding and
Limited LBRNES kel business management
BREBARAT WERRREHER
Summarised financial information of joint ventures SENTBEERME

Summarised financial information in respect of each of the Group’s
joint ventures is set out below. The summarised financial information
below represents amounts shown in the joint ventures’ financial
statements prepared in accordance with HKFRSs.

The joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method in these
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE I ERARMIEE

20. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued) 20. REERTANER

Information of joint ventures EENTNER
Lucky Yuen Holding Limited J

ERERBRAA

2019

—EEH —T—hF

HK$’000 HK$'000

Tt T

Current assets BB E 277,275 280,157

Non-current assets (Note) JEmBhE E (M) 674,800 694,670

Current liabilities mENEE (11,930) (12,323)

Non-current liabilities ERBERE (252,496) (261,120)
The above amounts of assets TR EESBRENTSE

include the following:

Cash and cash equivalents ReRIBSEEY 6,140 4,649
Smart Source Management Limited BREEERLT

2020 2019

—ECE ZE-NF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FAET FH&T

Current assets MENEE 13,373 13,666

Non-current assets (Note) SEmENE E (ML) 4,525,066 4,391,196

Current liabilities MEEE (7,048) (33,378)

The above amounts of assets and liabilities rEEREBESBEEE
include the following:

Cash and cash equivalents ReRRSEEY 7,367 4,665

Current financial liabilities (excluding trade and  REI& BB E(TEIEE SR

other payables and provisions) H b T ER UL BAE) (7,048) (541)
Note:  The amount mainly represents investment properties located in Hong Kong MizE : SEEEBEBRMUREBRABNIZREY

and United Kingdom. E

—Z-ZHFEH I
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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PR aR M

20. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued)

Information of joint ventures (continued)

The two joint ventures are individually material in relation to the cost
of the investments and net assets of the joint ventures, but the profit
or loss and other comprehensive income of each of the two joint
ventures are not material respectively and hence disclosed on an
aggregated basis.

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

REENTINER®

SERATNERE)

SR S AT ERA A HE
MEENBEA - EMRABAAN
BB REMSLTEA - FHE
A DB -

20.

2020 2019

“ECEF —T-NF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FAT FH&T

Revenue EER 193,864 185,185

Profit for the year ENC Sl 155,736 187,734

Other comprehensive income for the year AEEHM AR 151,074 102,730

Total comprehensive income for the year RNEEEHEWFEEE 306,810 290,464
Dividend received from a joint venture FREREERFIRRE

during the year 80,319 75,302

The above profit for the year includes the following:

ERAREEGNEEATIER ¢

2020 2019

—E-F ZE-NF

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FHIT T

Interest income F B WA 1 3
Income tax expense FriS R 2 12,624 15,095
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE I ERARMIEE

20. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued)

Information of joint ventures (continued)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the
carrying amount of the interest in two joint ventures recognised in the

consolidated financial statements:

T
4
b
J
at
@
B3
ol

20. REENTINER»

SERANER(E)

XA T B E R R A R R A
EHERAEMRAE A rEE < REE
MR -

2020 2019
—EB-EHF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FAT FAET
Net assets of Lucky Yuen Holding Limited IEETiER B R A T A EFE 687,649 701,384
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest ~ N&E B Fr{5ES T2 B R A 7
in Lucky Yuen Holding Limited HEEERZLE 50% 50%
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest AEEMRIES TERERAE]
in Lucky Yuen Holding Limited T < BRE{E 343,825 350,692
Net assets of Smart Source Management BREBERAREEFE
Limited 4,531,391 4,371,484
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest ~ ZREE L RE BB IR A 7
in Smart Source Management Limited HAEEESZLE 50% 50%
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest AEEMLEREEBRAR
in Smart Source Management Limited BRZEmE 2,265,695 2,185,742

—EoEsss EE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e RRME
1. EQUITY INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR &Q\SF{E—U&}EEZ#E
VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS =
2020 2019
“ECEF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FAT FAET
Equity securities listed in Hong Kong REE T2 #EREH 5,658,138 2,855,449
Equity securities listed in United States RER EH 2 EmHS 3,373 1,972
5,661,511 2,857,421
Analysed for reporting purposes as: BRERERMONA
— Current assets —REEE 2,333,796 491,397
— Non-current assets —IEmEEE 3,327,715 2,366,024
5,661,511 2,857,421
For those financial assets measured at FVTPL of which the HRIEBEAFEGFABERZERHEE B
management’s intention is to hold at short-term trading purpose are BERAESHZ AN ZSMEED
classified as current assets. The remaining financial assets measured HARBDEE - HBERAFETABR
at FVTPL which are held for long-term investment purpose are JEMEE URBREENMBAES
classified as non-current assets. AN RIEREEE -
At 31 December 2020, the fair values of the listed equity securities R-ZEBE-FTFE+-_A=+—8 " K&
held by Group, determined by reference to the quoted market iz EmEEEFNAFELY
bid prices available, amounted to HK$5,661,511,000 (2019: #5,661,511,0008 L (=ZF — NF :
HK$2,857,421,000). 2,857,421,000/870) * Z& B H2 B

BZMEEARERETE °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE I ERARMIEE

22. DEBT INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE 22, %’A‘;EE AHMZME

THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE mZERITA
INCOME
—T—NEF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FAT FHET
Listed bond securities at fair value: EWESHES - RAFE -
— listed on the Stock Exchange and issued ~ — & _E T 2447 A B4 T30 7B
by listed issuers in Hong Kong with a RZETET  BEHEFBE6.00
fixed coupon interests of 6.00% (2019: [E(ZZ—%F : M76.00
ranging from 6.00% to 9.85%) and [EZE9.85E M)z EERE
maturity date of 11 January 2022 (2019: B UIRZFZ=_F—H
from 21 May 2020 to 11 January 2022) +—HEHBH(=ZZE—N%F:
—ECEFRAA-+—HZE
— T —HF—H8+—H) 57,037 1,626,825
— listed on SGX and issued by listed —BALEMETABITURITR
issuers in Hong Kong with a fixed FrEm - BEBEFSNT5.50
coupon interests ranging from 5.50% EZE12375E(—ZT—h
to 12.375% (2019: 5.75% to 10.875%) F :5.75EZ10.875E) 2
per annum and maturity dates from 10 EEES  WHRZZTZ—F
January 2021 to 3 March 2025 (2019: —H +REZZE-_AF= H
24 August 2020 to 27 January 2024) HEB(ZZ—hE:
= —‘E‘Efﬁj\ﬂ 'HE E|;|;:
Z_WE-AZ+T+H) 2,146,310 6,240,701
- listed on SIX and issued by a listed issuer ~ — I+ RFER _E 1T AT
in Switzerland and United States of Rt R G - BBF
America with a fixed coupon interest of B7125EvEERE - I
7.125% per annum and with no fixed EEFED A Hﬂ BETA
redemption date but redeemable at the BER-_ZE-_—FN\A+H
option of the issuer after 10 August 2021 BB E - 115,018
Total #Et 2,203,347 7,882,544
Analysed for reporting purposes as: ARERBRMANA -
— Current assets —REEE 461,584 866,041
- Non-current assets —JEMBEE 1,741,763 7,016,503

2,203,347 7,882,544

—EoEsss EE
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22,

PR aR M

DEBT INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
|NCOME (continued)

At 31 December 2020 and 2019, the fair values of the listed bond
securities are determined by reference to quoted market bid prices at
the end of each reporting period.

Included in debt instruments at FVTOCI are the following amounts
denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the
group entities to which they are held:

Uss$ eV

22.

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

X

R_E_EFR_TE—NF+ZA
=+—R ' ETEFEFHIATEZR
BHREBRNTISE AREET -

BAHEAREERRE 2 BB TA
a%TW%EEA SRR 2 IREEEIA
SNEREETHEZ K

2020
—?—7q5

2019
—T—NF
HK$’000
T

HK$’000
TR

2,203,347 7,882,544

The investments in listed bonds are held by the Group within a
business model whose obijective is both to collect their contractual
cash flows which are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding and to sell these financial assets.
Hence, the investments in listed bonds are classified as at FVTOCI.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note 37(b).
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RENBHRMETE
23. LOAN RECEIVABLE 23. EWER
2020 2019
“ECEF —T-NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Fixed-rate loan receivable FEUR ETE FI =B
Within one year —&FR 600,000 -
In more than one year but not more than —F LA BB E
two years - 600,000
600,000 600,000
The unsecured loan receivable was advanced to an independent EIERERER BN T BB LE=
third party and carries interest at 7% (2019: 7%) per annum and 7o REMNETE(ZE—NF - 7TE)E
is repayable in July 2021 (2019: July 2021). Details of impairment BER-_ZE-_—FtA(ZZE—NF:
assessment of loan receivable for the year ended 31 December 2020 B FrA)EE - HE_ZE_ZT
and 2019 is set out in Note 37(b). FNZE-—NF+ZA=+—HBLF
JE FE W B FR AR (B BTl 5 15 E A B 5
37(0) °
24. DEFERRED TAXATION 24, EIEBIIE
The followings are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets TRAEAFERBAFENDHERZE
recognised and movements thereon during the current and prior BREEHERENEEARER &
years: g -
Fair value
change of
Fairvalue  assets arising
Accelerated Write-down change of from  Undistributed
tax of investment  acquisition of profits of
depreciation Tax losses inventories properties  subsidiaries  an associate
WERRAR -f
il REMEC  EEMEE  BEML
hiE Haks Ware  ATER®  ATEA® ROEER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HKS'000 HK$000 HKS'000
T AL T T AL T
At1 January 2019 NZT-NE-A-H 21,033 (12522) (18,029) 662,893 65,804 2,150 727,383
Exchange adjustments EiEE (541) - - (13.298) - 43 (13842)
(Crectt) charge to consolicated statement — (GEA)BAEREABER
of profit or loss for the year (Note 9 (HizEo) (1,120) - (45,273 - 16,126 - (30.267)
Acquistion (Note 34) W (Bss) - - - - 12,141 - 12,14
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NF+ZA=+-A %372 (12522) (63,299) 649,635 9,121 2107 695,415
Exchange adustments EiE (333 - - (8531) - 28 (8892
Charge (creat) to consolidated statement 1 (3 A AEBRABAR
of proft or loss for the year (Note 9] i) 8,693 - (1,889 - (5379) - 1431
At 31 December 2020 e g e p 373 (12522) (65,187) 641,104 88,748 2079 687,054

—EoTasy I
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RARMEE

24. DEFERRED TAXATION (ontinued)

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial
reporting purposes:

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

ERERIE )

VAT 8051 75 Bt 765 B i ) AR B 2 SR SE A IR
BRI

2020 2019

—_ 7 —= qE —_= _j—LE'E

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET T

Deferred tax assets EIEFHIBE E 2,667 2,539
Deferred tax liabilities BEIETRIBEE (690,621) (697,954)
(687,954) (695,415)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses
of approximately HK$2,017,754,000 (2019: HK$2,306,634,000)
available for offset against future profits. A deferred tax assets
has been recognised in respect of HK$50,088,000 (2019:
HK$50,088,000) of such losses. No deferred tax asset has been
recognised in respect of the remaining HK$1,967,666,000 (2019:
HK$2,256,546,000) due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams. All tax losses will be expired gradually within five years to
year 2025 (2019: 2024).

Under the EIT Law of PRC, withholding tax is imposed on dividends
declared in respect of profits earned by PRC subsidiaries from 1
January 2008 onwards. Deferred taxation has not been provided
for in the consolidated financial statements in respect of temporary
differences attributable to accumulated profits of the PRC
subsidiaries as the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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RE I ERARMIEE

25. INVENTORIES 25. &

2020 2019
—E-EF —E—hE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T
Raw materials R 1,554,527 1,377,594
Work in progress EEE 696,501 732,558
Finished goods UK 759,869 852,234
3,010,897 2,962,386
During the year ended 31 December 2020, a write-down of HE_Z-_THE+_A=+—HILF
inventories HK$7,556,000 (2019: write-down of inventories £ MU TFEE 7,556,000 ( —2— N
HK$181,093,000) has been recognised and included in cost of sales. F ¢ U 7T E181,093,000/8 7T ) B EHE

BRGTABERA -

In the prior year, certain inventories were licenced to the Licencee TF - WhHEEEREA(RKFES)
(see Note 15). Under the licencing agreement, the Licencee may FRANETEE - BERECRRZ
use, consume and dispose of the licenced inventories which EEREARGER AR EREFER
include consumables and stocks in trade. However, the Licencee FE EREESIEMLRESHTE - A
was required to replace and return the quantities of the licenced m REREEAHERS - BREAZR
inventories used, consumed or disposed of during the licence period MFEEAEE MREREESABHE
to the Licensor at the end of the licence period. FH  FRIEENREFERTEHR
B

The licenced inventories used, consumed or disposed of during RIZEFEREEMAT - RIEF BERE
the licenced period were secured by cash and bills receivables of A ERANEREFRTERER
a related party of the Licencee, with a total receivable value of not BA—RBEEATHRS REWEBE
less than the value of the licenced inventories used, consumed or B - ERBET DR SRS HES
disposed of as at the end of each reporting period before the licence EHEFER  BARNHEZREFRT
period expired. The licenced inventories had been presented as other BECEE BECHATFECRUEFE
current assets in the prior year. FrERHMARBEESY

The licence agreement between Licensor and Licencee had been RN BUERAE ART S eV A s
early expired on 1 July 2019 and Licensor had not entered any Letter ERZE—NFEA—BIRAIER &
of extension and amendments with Licencee to extend the licence A f BE R A BT S E B SR B RT 1K
period. Accordingly, the other current assets have been reclassified as HAREREEERBR - Bt - Efb
inventories during the year ended 31 December 2019. MBEECRBEZZ—NAF+=A

=+ BLEEEFIRAFE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RARMEE

26. PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT  26. 5% REY%

Movements of properties held for development are as follows: FEEMEEEBNOT

HK$’'000

T

At 1 January 2019 RZZE—hF—A—H 20,023,136
Exchange adjustments P& A% (398,976)
Additions NE 3,467,500
Transfer to investment properties (Note 14) HER T EYE (ME14) (1,016,991)
Transfer to cost of sales 885 HERCR (959,077)
At 31 December 2019 R-E—-NE+-A=1+—8 21,115,592
Exchange adjustments PE X % 1,027,484
Additions NE 2,287,813
Transfer to investment properties (Note 14) EREREYE(ME14) (130,065)
Transfer to cost of sales EEHERA (4,271,822
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 35(a)) &= — B A &) (M 5E35(a)) (186,195)
At 31 December 2020 MN-E-TF+-_A=+—H 19,842,807

Analysis of leasehold land included in properties held for — Ef AfFEERYIEMAL LHDTAT -
development is set out below:

As at 31 December 2020 R-ZE-_FF+=-RA=+—H
Carrying amount BREE 12,091,031
As at 31 December 2019 R-B-hAE+=A=+—H
Carrying amount BREE 13,270,405
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE I ERARMIEE

26. PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT

(continued)

it
4
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i
at
@
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il

6. FREVE.

Total cash outflow e Rhess
Additions NG

2020 2019
—g-®¥F -T-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FET
277,543 16,514
277,543 16,514

Effective from 1 January 2019, the carrying amount of leasehold
lands is measured under HKFRS 16 at cost less any accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The residual values are
determined as the estimated disposal value of the leasehold land
component. No depreciation charge is made on the leasehold lands
taking into account the estimated residual values as at 31 December
2020 and 2019.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, properties held
for development with carrying amount of approximately
HK$4,271,822,000 (2019: HK$959,077,000) were completed and
sold to third parties and certain directors and close family members
of the directors (2019: third parties), details of which are set in Note
44. The remaining balance as at 31 December 2020 and 2019 was
related to properties that were still under development.

One of the Group’s properties development project with a carrying
amount of HK$1,853,941,000 (2019: HK$1,445,261,000) has been
pledged to secure banking facilities granted to the Group.

In the opinion of the Directors, the properties held for development
were classified as current assets as the properties were held for
sale purpose after the completion of construction under the Group’s
normal operating cycle.

B-Z-NF—-A—HBi  BHOLE
FREERBEEEMERHRERE 165
FRASR A REHHT 8 RAE DR EEER

B - SMERBEL AR I 2 HE T
EEEETE - KAAZT_ZFN_F
—NF+ZA=+—B8EHSRE - T
SRMAATHEHRITE -

REE_Z-_TFE+_F=+—HIF
€ - BREEX A4,271,822,00058 7T (=
ZT— A4 1 959,077,000/ 7T ) H1F 3 R
%%E&II%%”*HM&%?%%
MEFIHR( =T — ni 7)) i8
RRFIE S A K 5E44 - _?_%?E&_
T-NF+Z A=+ —BZHERDF
BEYERE -

AEBEHRER —BHEEEA
1,853,941,0008 L2 MEZERIER (=
T— AL4F 1 1,445,261,000/870) * LA
RIRTTRELE -

EERR/FERMEDBRRDEE -

Emﬁﬁﬁéﬁk@mﬁﬁ%@ﬂﬁﬂ ®A
FZEYMENBEHN RN TR TRLE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RARMEE

27. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 27.

(@) Trade and other receivables and prepayments
and entrusted loans

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

HttemEE

@ EBEZRAMEWERARE
NHRERETER

2020 2019

- —TNEF

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FHET FHET

Trade receivables 2 5 MR TR 8,532,641 7,904,344
Less: Allowance for credit losses B EEEERE (1,171,133) (1,139,894)
Trade receivables, net B S EWERTF R 7,361,508 6,764,450
Advance to suppliers TEHE PR IR 400,161 338,991
Entrusted loans (Note) ZHEZR (M) 431,771 505,083
Prepayment and deposits TERFIERIES 581,777 745,897
Value added tax (“VAT”) recoverables AR EEER ([1EER]) 435,787 592,133
Other receivables Eh FEUAR R 140,285 290,721
9,351,289 9,237,275

Less: Non-current portion of entrusted B ERERIERSHS

loans (Note) e (398,241) (465,859)
8,953,048 8,771,416

As at 1 January 2019, the gross carrying amount of trade
receivables from contracts with customers amounted to
HK$7,349,179,000 with allowance for credit losses of
HK$1,033,494,000.

Note: The entrusted loans of HK$431,771,000 (2019: HK$505,083,000)
are due from certain purchasers of properties developed by the
Group in the PRC through four (2019: four) commercial banks in
the PRC (the “Lending Agents”). The entrusted loans carry interest
at variable rates ranging from 3.43% to 5.39% (2019: 3.92% to
5.39%) per annum, payable on monthly basis and the principal
will be payable on or before 2034 (2019: 2034). The purchasers
of the Group’s properties has pledged to the Lending Agents the
respective properties purchased. These properties are located in
Kunshan, PRC.

As at 31 December 2020, entrusted loans amounting to
HK$398,241,000 (2019: HK$465,859,000) are in respect of
repayments due after 12 months from the end of the reporting
period and are classified as non-current assets.
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RZE—-NF—F—8 KBRFP
AHMEBEZRUEREBDLEES
7,349,179,000/ 7T - EEEBEES
1,033,494,000/5 7T,

Mzt : ZEBRPEANRK(ZZ—AF : IR)EE
RITTHEREADEYCE T AREREAT
BERYEMNEKR431,771,0008 T (=
T —NF 1 505,083,000/ L) 2 B E
o BRERZZFBHEZN T3.43E
Z539E(ZFT—NF : NFIRNEE
530 ) 2 FFIFEGE - AR A -
AEENRZZT=MF(ZT—NF: =
T=POF)RUARHR - AEEYEE
REBMPEEMEER T RERE
A ZEMEMRFRRLL -

R-TB-TE+—F=1+—H BHRE
MM R+ @A AR R BT
B 5£398,241,0008 L (=T —NF :
465,859,000/ T) D AIEMENAE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE I ERARMIEE

27. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued)

(@

Trade and other receivables and prepayments

and entrusted loans (continued)

The Group allows credit periods of up to 120 days (2019: 120
days), depending on the products sold to its trade customers.
The following is an aging analysis of trade receivables net of
allowance for credit losses based on invoice date at the end
of the reporting period:

e
4
b3
o]
at
a
B
alj

27. EMEMEE &)

(@

EEREMEBVRERAKE
NHRERETER (@)

AEBETESEFPZEES
HRA1208(ZZ—NF 120
B) B¥MEEERTE - ©
BEMRGER/L  ENGREE
EBEREFER  EIRUICRRZER
BRENEZRHOITMT

2020 2019

—E=E —ZT-NF

HK$°000 HK$’000

THET T

0-90 days 0-90H 6,306,076 5,465,173
91-120 days 91E120H 538,622 652,244
121 -150 days 1212 150H 341,673 449,808
151-180 days 1512 180H 88,230 111,067
Over 180 days 180H LA b 86,907 86,158
7,361,508 6,764,450

As at 31 December 2020, included in the Group’s trade
receivables balance are debtors with aggregate carrying
amount of HK$1,060,340,000 (2019: HK$905,147,000)
which are past due as at the reporting date. Out of the past
due balances, HK$98,518,000 (2019: HK$108,841,000)
which has been past due over 90 days or more and is not
considered as in default based on good repayment records
for those customers. The Group does not hold any collateral
over these balances.

R-F-_FF+-_A=1t—H"
AEENESRKEREHE
ERRE B HNRmE
{81,060,340,000/8 L( = ZF— A1,
& 1 905,147,000/8 7T ) B fE UK BR
Ko EHAAERE F - 98,518,000
HEIL(ZZ— N : 108,841,000
BIT) EME0 B B A £ o MR
BZERP RITRERGCEE - @
HAEHART AR BEL - AEBI
ERZEERSE RS o

—EoEsss EE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RARMEE

27. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued)

(@

(b)

Trade and other receivables and prepayments

and entrusted loans (continued)

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other
receivables and bills receivables for the year ended 31
December 2020 and 31 December 2019 are set out in Note
37(b).

Included in trade and other receivables are the following
amounts denominated in a currency other than the functional
currency of the group entities to which they relate:

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

(a)

27. EE®MEE o)

ESRHEMERKRRRTE
NREREZETERE)
HE—_ZT-ZFTF+-_A=+—H
E=F-NF+=A=t+—HLt
FE - BHREMBKRTUAR
FEWE B AR E RS B A
F37(b)

B 5 R A IR 2 35 T HUIA
S5 B A 2 1 B DA
2 508

2020 2019

—g-®E  -T-NF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHT FbT

us$ EViW 1,198,401 960,905

HK$ BT 370,911 380,921

Euro dollar (“Euro”) BT ([BoT)) 7,570 1,780
Bills receivables (b) EWRE

Bills receivables of the Group are all aged within 90 days (2019:
90 days) based on invoice date at the end of the reporting
period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBHmRME
27 OTHER FlNANCIAL ASSETS (continued) 27 E@ﬁﬁﬂﬁz(ﬁé)
(c) Bank balances and cash (c) MITHBKRRES
Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the Group RITEHR IR EAEEES
and short-term bank deposits with an original maturity of three 2 Re RREEBEA=EAIIA
months or less. At 31 December 2020, the Group’s bank TZERHRTER R-_E-=F
balances and deposits carry interest at the prevailing market F+-—A=+—H xEEHIR
interest rates which range from 0.01% to 1.5% (2019: 0.01% THBENTFTIRBITMSEF
to 3%) per annum. ENTFO0IERIEE(=ZZE—N
FNT0O0IEREIE)FE °
At 31 December 2020, the Group had bank balances and RZE-_ZEF+-_A=+—8 "
cash that were not freely convertible or were subject to AEBAA AR R B BESH
exchange controls in the PRC, amounting to approximately HNCEE Il BT AR PR < SR TS8R IR 3R
HK$3,219,642,000 (2019: HK$3,880,138,000). £ #9/453,219,642,000/8 T (==&
— N5 : 3,880,138,000/& L) °
Included in the bank balances and cash are the following RITEBEIRSBIETIIUNEE
amounts denominated in currencies other than the functional FREAE e BB AN EE T
currency of the group entities to which they relate: B2
2020 2019
—EEH —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Uss ETT 433,222 336,810
HK$ BT 288,259 792,512
Euro = 8,236 6,840
GBP HEE 20,134 69,608

—Zz-z£4xR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RARMEE

28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND 28. E 5

BILLS PAYABLES AND CONTRACT EREEREHNEE
LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables and bills payables ESREMENSRARENSERE
2020
—E-EfF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T
Trade payables B SRR 3,155,003 3,134,885
Accrued expenses JEIRE A 1,022,065 886,941
Payables for acquisition of properties, BEWE  BEEEBEZ
plant and equipment FEIFERK 398,426 497,637
Other tax payables H A HIE 829,767 652,392
VAT payables FESIBER 350,786 259,849
LAT payables JEAS T IBER 88,548 75,682
Other payables (Note i) HoAth FEAS BR SR (3D 693,527 333,887
6,538,122 5,841,173
Bills payables (Note ii) A=A 377,036 359,920
6,915,158 6,201,093
Notes: MEE
0} Included in other payables as at 31 December 2020 was consideration i) RZZ_ZFF_A=+—HRHEM

received in advance from an independent third party of HK$239,693,000
(2019: nil) for disposal of a subsidiary holding the properties held for
development in the PRC, which was subsequently completed on 29
January 2021. As at 31 December 2020, the assets and liabilities held
for sale of the subsidiary with total carry amounts of HK$1,012,152,000
and HK$1,071,318,000 respectively,which mainly included properties
held for development of HK$644,647,000, trade and other receivables
and prepayments of HK$223,288,000, and trade and other payables of
HK$1,022,384,000.

(ii) Included in bills payables as at 31 December 2020 was payables for (i)
acquisition of properties, plant and equipment of HK$18,420,000 (2019:
HK$1,379,000).
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EMERFHFARLE—RBEEF
FHEMENRBARMUEBYLE=
75 78 U 19 (K {2 239,693,000/8 7T (=&
—NF &) RFEEER T =—
F-AZ+TNBEEX - RZT=TF
+TZA=Z+—8  ZMEBRRFEER
EHEMEERBENARRED A
1,012,152,0007% 7t % 1,071,318,0007%
7L EERIERFERY¥644,647,000
BT B 5 REMEWEER RIENKIE
223,288,000/ 70 * U RE SR EME
H8R5%1,022,384,000 7T °

REBLE—Z-_ZF+-_A=1+—HNE
Z#ES - £3518,420,000/8 (=
— & ¢ 1,379,000/ 7T) AEEWE
B SR o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE I ERARMIEE

28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND
BILLS PAYABLES AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (continued)

Trade and other payables and bills payables (continued)

The following is an aging analysis of the trade payables based on the
invoice date at the end of the reporting period:

28. ESREMENERRAR
EREEREHNEE

BEEZREMENRRAREMNRE
(&)

RERRAERRILE - EHRNERERZ
FRECENBEZ AN O

2020 2019

—_ 7 —= qE :i;@—jlf'f

HK$’000 HK$'000

i85 Fit

0-90 days 0z290H 2,333,350 2,455,074
91-180 days 91£180H 470,960 304,775
Over 180 days 180H A £ 350,693 375,036
3,155,003 3,134,885

The average credit period on purchase of goods is 90 days (2019: 90
days). The Group has financial risk management policies in place to
ensure that all payables are settled within the credit time frame.

Bills payables of the Group are aged within 90 days (2019: 90 days)
based on issue date at the end of the reporting period.

Included in trade and other payables and bills payables are the

BEEMHTHEERAWOA
(ZZ—hF :90H) - AEH
WITHBRREEVCRERTE
ERBEFANEERRES -

REERNEE 2 REENEH
B #1315 & 5 B 45 R 12 7990
B(ZF—N% :90R)ZA °

B 5 REMENER R ENRE
BRTIIASEEEHER 26

following amounts denominated in currencies other than the functional
currency of the group entities to which they relate:

us$ =T
HK$ BT
Euro BT

HHEAINEEEHE 2 SR
2020 2019
—_ ? —= ﬂE :%éiﬂﬂz
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FET
1,322,331 672,056
268,236 404,115
6,665 52

—Z-ZHFEH I
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KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RARMEE

28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND  28.

BILLS PAYABLES AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (continued)

Contract liabilities

2019

—ECEH —E—NF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FH&T T4

Sales of properties e 2,182,645 5,720,151
Sales of chemicals SHEL TEMR 1,304,847 582,356
Sales of laminates HEEIRmEIR 301,537 71,598
3,789,029 6,374,105

As at 1 January 2019, contract liabilities amounted to
HK$3,448,068,000.

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, certain amount of contract
liabilities arising from sales of properties are expected to be realised
within one to two years at the end of the reporting period. The entire
amount of contract liabilities of sales of laminates and chemicals are
expected to be realised within one year at the end of the reporting
period.

The following table sets out the revenue recognised relates to carried-
forward contract liabilities at 31 December 2019 and 2018.

HZ-ZE-_ZF+=R
=+—HLEE

HAZZE-NE+ZA
=“t—HEHNEERE

For the year ended
31 December 2020

Revenue recognised that was
included in the contract liability

Sales of
properties

WMEHE
HK$'000
FET

R-F-NF-A—H GHARELE
%3,448,068,000/& 7T °

RZEZTFR=ZFT-—NF+ZA
=+—R  HEUENENEEETS
FEEBENRERRET —EMERE
0o HEBIMREMEIERNELNE
EEBEEEERIRERB—F
NEHR -

FRBIBR-F-nE+-A=+—H
R=2-N\F+=A=t+-ABE&NA
WEEANERER BEE -

Sales of
laminates
HEBHER
HK$'000
FAET

Sales of
chemicals
HELIER
HK$’000
THT

balance at 31 December 2019 WEERE X 4,996,215 582,356 71,598
For the year ended HE-Z-h&+=A

31 December 2019 =t+—-HILEE
Revenue recognised that was HFAZE-NF+ZA

included in the contract liability —t+—HAKNEGH®RE

balance at 31 December 2018 HIBEREEHE 1,162,410 496,513 107,274
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE I ERARMIEE

28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND
BILLS PAYABLES AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (continued)

Contract liabilities (continued)

As at 31 December 2020, included in contract liabilities for sale of
properties was no balance (2019: HK$145,861,200) received from
certain Directors and close family members of the Directors for
purchase of properties.

Typical payment terms with which impact on the amount of contract
liabilities recognised are as follows:

- Sales of properties

The Group typically receives 30% to 50% of the contract
value as deposits from customers on entering of a sale
and purchase agreement of properties and will receive the
remaining contracted sum prior to customers obtaining
control of the respective properties. The deposits and
advance payment schemes result in contract liabilities being
recognised throughout the property contract period until the
customer obtains control of the completed property.

In addition, the Group considers the advance payment
schemes contain significant financing component and
accordingly the amount of consideration is adjusted for the
effects of the time value of money taking into consideration
the credit characteristics of the relevant group entities. As
this accrual increases the amount of the contract liability
during the period of construction, it increases the amount of
revenue recognised when control of the completed property is
transferred to the customer.

- Sales of laminates and chemicals

When the Group receives a deposit before the production
activity commences, this will give rise to contract liabilities
at the start of a contract, until the revenue recognised when
control of the goods has transferred, being when the goods
have been delivered. The Group typically receives a 30% to
50% deposit on acceptance of manufacturing orders.

28.

BHEHEERRAF

aHNER®)
RZZEZZF+_A=+—0 #HEY
E¥NANBBEREREREEDEDK
ETEEREAHNFE(ZZ—NE
145,861,200 7T) °

BRI E RN A OB E L
PRI
- pEwE

AEBRAT I MEEE AR A
EPWEMEER A HEE30%E
50%MiRE - WEFESHER
W) RO FEBIRE RTUCERBR T A #05K
B o B RIAN IR BIEHE
BYMEANPRERANEE
HERFESKRITY) G
ALk

AN - AEER R - AN
EHAEARENS - At K
EBoREERAREEERNE
BRI FUER EENZEEL
FEE o ST IRE IR
BHANBREDRE  ERIVE
MEREEEERPRINEME
ERWERBETHE -

- HEBRER MM TER

& E G AL EEEN R A BTUER
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(BN EY 2 ) B ERE %R
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KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RARMEE

29. BANK BORROWINGS

29. SR1TEE

2020
t-Jompe =53
HK$°000
FET
Bank loans BITEMK 17,230,846 24,074,068
Trust receipt loans EFEBURE R = 335,841
17,230,846 24,409,909
Secured BYER 1,636,716 1,032,514
Unsecured (R 15,594,130 23,377,395
17,230,846 24,409,909
Carrying amounts repayable*: JARLAT BB 2 BRE(E™
Within one year —F R 8,254,750 7,477,137
More than one year but not more than —F LA BT ERBEMRE
two years 5,429,111 6,663,447
More than two years but not more than MEA BB HBE=F
three years 3,237,636 6,971,739
More than three years but not more than ZFUA L ETBBRSF
five years 48,000 3,007,732
More than five years HEF 261,349 289,854
17,230,846 24,409,909
The carrying amounts of bank loans that Fi 75 ZE A S I (B IR O 1550
contain a repayment on demand clause RITEEREEG ARE
(shown under current liabilities) but repayable: & 1& ) (BB A TEIFEEE -
Within one year —FR 24,000 24,000
More than one year but not more than —F LA BT EBBERE
two years 24,000 24,000
More than two years but not more than A EET BB =F
three years 24,000 24,000
More than three years but not more than =FEETHBBRST
five years 48,000 48,000
More than five years HHFEA L 261,349 289,854
381,349 409,854
Carrying amount repayable within one year I % BT A B AME AR B BV IR
without repayment on demand clause AR —FRNEMHEREE 8,230,750 7,453,137
Amounts due within one year shown under R—FEREEZ F0E -
current liabilities JERBEE 8,612,099 7,862,991
Add: Amounts shown under non-current 3 EIEREAEZRIE
liabilities 8,618,747 16,546,918
17,230,846 24,409,909

The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates set out in the

respective loan agreements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBERRME
29. BANK BORROWINGS (continued) 29. ﬁﬁ?i-fg-ﬁ(%)
As at 31 December 2020, the bank borrowings are all variable- RZZEZTF+ZA=+—A0 ' #RI17E
rate borrowings which carry interest ranging from HIBOR + 0.78% E2HAZEEE  FEXNTEEFE
to HIBOR + 1.5% (2019: HIBOR + 0.78% to HIBOR + 1.75%) per RITRIEIFRBMO.78EEH BIRITRIZE
annum, Loan Prime Rate (“LPR”) + 1.355% (2019: LPR + 1.355%) WEISE(ZE—HIE  FBHRITH
per annum. EWRBIN0.78EEHBIRITRIFEIT BN
1758 ) E - ARERMIGMEF X
M1.358[E(ZZE—NF : BRI HME
FZ=HN1.355/F ) ©
At 31 December 2020 and 2019, certain bank loans and trust receipt RZEBEZEFR_FT— j‘L $ +=A
loans of the Group are covered by corporate guarantees given by —t—H AEEETFHRITERRET
Kingboard Investments Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the WiEEREARER— %%é%ﬁﬁﬁ%
Group. RIRBEIREERARRHARER -
The range of effective interest rates (which are also equal to REFIRTEEZEERMNZE(BERE
contracted interest rates) on the Group’s bank borrowings are as ATAFIER)SELAT
follows:

Effective interest rates =R
Variable-rate borrowings FEEE 1.61% t05.21% 2.18% t05.51%
1.61E25.21E 218EE551E
Included in bank borrowings are the following amounts denominated RITIEERIE T A EE TR 2T
in currencies other than the functional currency of the group entities BEEBLAINE R EHE 2 58

to which they relate:

2020 2019
— 7 —= qE
HK$°000 HK$'000
T BT
HK$ BT 513,570 914,624
US$ e = 106,200

—EoEsss EE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RARMEE

30. LEASE LIABILITIES

30. HEAE

2020 2019
—E-EF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T
Lease liabilities payable: ENHAEEE
Within one year —FR 4,212 2,906
Within a period of more than one year —F A BT BIBMRE
but not more than two years 3,514 2,814
Within a period of more than two years RF A HET BB R F
but not more than five years 5,351 6,049
Within a period of more than five years BBEAF 927 1,445
14,004 13,214
Less: Amount due for settlement with 12 B mEIBaEMRI2(EAR A
months shown under current liabilities FHEEN SRR (4,212) (2,906)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months SEmEaErT R 2@ A%
shown under non-current liabilities FHEEN SR 9,792 10,308

NEBT WA RO ESH T T E
HiEEE - FEEEERERNINILE
BRHERNT234EZ475B(=F—AN
F256EF475E) REHEEE
AR R IRERE o

No extension options are included in any of the lease agreements
entered by the Group. The incremental borrowing rates applied by the
relevant group entities range from 2.34% to 4.75% (2019: 2.56% to
4.75%). These lease liabilities were measured at the present value of
the payments that are not yet paid.

Lease obligations are denominated in currencies which are same as HESEARAREEEEIEEEE
the functional currencies of the relevant group entities. EHEBIE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31. SHARE CAPITAL

ETE

Number of

shares

RABE

31. |’jA&

Authorised

b
)
at
@
B3
el

Issued and fully paid
BEITRER

Number of
CLHETCE

RGO EE

Amount
-]
HK$’000
FHEIT

Amount
28
HK$'000
FHET

Ordinary shares of FREECI10E T
HK$0.10 each: T
At 1 January 2019 RZZE—hF—HA—H 2,000,000,000 200,000 1,083,152,236 108,315
Exercise of share options 171 BEA%AE (F15E32)
(Note 32) - - 23,830,000 2,383
Shares repurchased and ~ FERE[E] N i $5EI D
cancelled (Note) (BfE) - - (1,224,500 (122)
At 31 December 2019 RZE—hI&F
+=-—A=+—H 2,000,000,000 200,000 1,105,757,736 110,576
Exercise of share options ~ 1T{ B AR 4
(Note 32) (fI5E32) - - 2,650,000 265
Shares repurchased and &85 [ N s SEH IR (H
cancelled (Note) (F5E) - - (2,616,000) (262)
At 31 December 2020 R-ZE-TF
+—-A=+—H 2,000,000,000 200,000 1,105,791,736 110,579
Note:  During the year, the Company repurchased its own ordinary shares through MisE : FR - ARABEBHRATER IR
Stock Exchange as follows: ERARIAT -
2020 —F-%F

Month of
repurchase

FBE A H

November 2020
June 2020

April 2020
March 2020
January 2020

—E-TF+—A
ZEZTFRA
ZETEHFPA
—E-THF=R
—EZTF—A

No. of
Shares

Ko #E

606,500
300,000

29,500
580,000
500,000

Price per share

BRER

Highest Lowest
BE BRIE
HK$ HK$
AT AT
26.40 25.70
20.25 19.80
17.76 17.76
17.82 17.62
24.85 24.20

Aggregate
consideration

paid

ENRERE

HK$’000
FExT

15,806
6,006
524
10,298
12,314

44,948

The above ordinary shares were cancelled during the year.

Lt EBE O R F R

—=—

—_—=

4% I
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RARMEE

31. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

32.

Note:

(continued)

2019

Month of No. of

Shares

repurchase
& A RHEE

31.

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

Price per share
GRREE
Aggregate
consideration
paid
BERREERE
HK$'000

BT

Lowest
&
HK$
I

Highest
HK$

Sk —
7870

December 2019 —T-NF+=A 600,000 23.10 22.95 13,811
October 2019 —E-NF+A 948,500 21.00 20.55 19,697
September 2019 —ZT-NFNA 276,000 20.80 19.90 5,681

39,089

The above ordinary shares were cancelled during the year. 600,000
shares repurchased in December 2019 was cancelled in February

2020.
SHARE OPTIONS
(a) Employees’ share option scheme of the

Company

The Company adopted the New Share Option Scheme (the
“Scheme”) which was approved by the shareholders at the
extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 27
May 2019.

The purpose of the Scheme is to provide incentive or reward
to the eligible participants (the “Eligible Participants”) for their
contribution to, and continuing efforts to promote the interests
of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE I ERARMIEE

32. SHARE OPT'ONS (continued)

(@

Employees’ share option scheme of the

Company (continued)

Under the Scheme which is valid for a period of ten years
(expiring 2029, with a remaining life of approximately 8
years), the Directors may, at their discretion, grant options to
subscribe for shares in the Company to Eligible Participants
who contribute to the long term growth and profitability of
the Company. Eligible Participants include (i) any employee
(whether full time or part time) of the Company, any of its
subsidiaries or any entity in which the Group holds any equity
interests (“Invested Entity”), including any executive director of
the Company, any of such subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;
(i) any non-executive directors (including independent non-
executive directors) of the Company, its subsidiaries or any
Invested Entity; (iii) any supplier of goods or services to any
member of the Group or any Invested Entity; (iv) any customer
of the Group or any Invested Entity; (v) any shareholder of any
member of the Group or any Invested Entity or any holder
of any securities issued by any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity; and (vi) any person or entity who from time
to time determined by the Board as having contributed or
may contribute to the development and growth of the Group
based on his or its performance and/or years of service, or is
regarded as valuable resources of the Group based on his/
its working experience, knowledge in the industry and other
relevant factors. The exercise price for the Company’s share
options shall be determined with reference to the highest
of the nominal value of the Company’s shares, the average
of the closing prices of the Company’s shares quoted on
the Stock Exchange on the five trading days immediately
preceding the date of an offer of the grant of the options and
the closing price of the Company’s shares quoted on the
Stock Exchange on the date of an offer of the grant of the
options. The Board, when extending an offer of the grant
of options to a grantee, may impose conditions as it thinks
fit, which may include minimum period for which an option
must be held before it can be exercised or other conditions
as the Board may of its absolute discretion determine. The
options must be taken up by a participant within 28 business
days from the date of grant upon payment of HK$1 and are
exercisable over a period to be determined and notified by the
Directors to each grantee, which period may commence from
the date of acceptance of the offer of the grant of the options
but shall end in any event not later than ten years from the
date of adoption of the Scheme.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RARMEE

32. SHARE OPT'ONS (continued)

(@

Employees’ share option scheme of the

Company (continued)

The total number of the Company’s shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the
Scheme and any other schemes of the Group (excluding
options lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Scheme
and any other schemes of the Group) must not in aggregate
exceed 10% of the Company’s shares in issue as at the
date of adoption of the Scheme. The total number of
shares available for issue under the Scheme is 84,485,223
shares, which represents approximately 7.63% of the total
issued share capital of the Company as at the date these
consolidated financial statements are authorised for issue. The
limit on the number of the Company’s shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and
yet to be exercised under the Scheme and any other schemes
of the Group must not exceed 30% of the Company’s shares
in issue from time to time. The total number of the Company’s
shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options
granted to each grantee (including both exercised and
outstanding options) under the Scheme or other schemes
of the Group in any 12-month period up to the date of grant
must not exceed 1% of the Company’s shares in issue at the
date of grant unless approved by the shareholders in general
meeting.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE I ERARMIEE

32. SHARE OPT'ONS (continued)

(@

Employees’ share option scheme of the

Company (continued)
A summary of the movements of the number of share options
under the Scheme for the year is as follows:

Granted Exercised
during the during the
Balanceat  yearended  yearended  Balance at
1January 31 December 31 December 31 December
Date of grant 2019 2019 2019 2019

REZ REZ WEZ-NE
RZB-AE ZE-AF ZE-fE
-f-A t=A=t-B t=A=t-A
Mgk LEERE  LEEAE

(Note (Note i
(HizE) (BiHi)
Granted to dlrectors on;
KTEE:
14 August 2019 - 25700000  (20470,000) 5,230,000

“2-NENATRE

e
4
b3
o]
at
a
B
alj

32. BRE
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R HERIET 2 W
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Exercised  Balance at Exercise
during 31 December price per
the year 2020 share  Exercisable period

RER(TE £ SRHEE
(Note i)

210000 300000  HKS17304 14 August 201910
130657 13 August 2029 Notei i
“E-NEN\AtRAZ

Z2CnENAT=H
(W3t i i)

Granted to employees on:

KTES -

14 August 2019 - 3800000 (3,360,000) 40000 (440,000 - HK$17.304 14 August 201910

“E-NENATEA (Note ) 1730487 13 August 2029 (Notel, T i

(Fistv) “3-nEN\ATRAZE
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(W3t i i)
- 29500000 (23830000 5670000 (2650,0000 3,020,000

Exercisable at

AT R T3

1 January 2019 -
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31 December 2019 5,670,000

ZE-NEtZAT-R

31 December 2020 3,020,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RARMEE

32. SHARE OPT'ONS (continued)

(@ Employees’ share option scheme of the

Company (continued)
Notes:

0] During the year ended 31 December 2019, 29,500,000 options
were granted by the Company on 14 August 2019 under the
share option scheme of the Company, of which 28,750,000
options were granted to directors and/or their associate(s) and
750,000 were granted to employees (excluding any associate
of directors). The closing price of the Company’s shares on 13
August 2019 (namely the date immediately before the aforesaid
grant date) is HK$16.78. The estimated fair value of the aforesaid
options was HK$132,625,000, of which HK$129,253,000
was attributable to the options granted to directors and/or
their associate(s) while HK$3,372,000 was attributable to the
options granted to employees. The fair value of each of the
abovementioned options was identical, namely HK$4.50. All share
options were vested on the date of grant.

(ii) During the year ended 31 December 2019 under the Scheme,
options of 23,830,000 shares granted in the Company at exercise
price of HK$17.304 per share were exercised. The weighted
average closing prices of the Company’s share is granted on
the Stock Exchange on the five trading days immediately before
the exercise date was HK$21.38. The amount of approximately
HK$107,134,000 was reclassified from share-based payments
reserve to share premium.

The fair value was calculated using the Binomial model. The
inputs into the model were as follows:
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Expected volatility TEEK IR
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Expected dividend yield TEHRR B X
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2019

—T-NEF
Directors Employees
BE (=
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16.98/8 7T 16.987 7T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE I ERARMIEE

32. SHARE OPT'ONS (continued)

(GY]

(b)

Employees’ share option scheme of the
Company (continued)

Notes:

(i)

(i)

(iv)

(continued)
(continued)

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical volatility
of the Company’s share price over the previous 10 years. The
expected life used in the model has been adjusted, based on
management’s best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability,
exercise restrictions and behavioural considerations.

The Binomial model has been used to estimate the fair value of
the options. The variables and assumptions used in computing
the fair value of the share options are based on the directors’ best
estimate. The value of an option varies with different variables of
certain subjective assumptions.

During the year ended 31 December 2020 under the Scheme,
options of 2,650,000 shares granted in the Company at exercise
price of HK$17.304 per share were exercised. The weighted
average closing prices of the Company’s share is granted on
the Stock Exchange on the five trading days immediately before
the exercise date was HK$29.64. The amount of approximately
HK$11,914,000 was reclassified from share-based payments
reserve to share premium.

The Group recognised no expense for the year ended 31
December 2020 (2019: HK$132,625,000) in relation to share
options granted by the Company.

Share options held by Ms. Cheung Wai Kam, an employee and
associate of director.

Employees’ share option scheme of Elec & Eltek
International Company Limited (“EEIC”)

In 2018, a new share option scheme, the 2018 Elec & Eltek
Employees’ Share Option Scheme (the “2018 EEIC Scheme”)
was approved by the shareholders at the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 27 April 2018 and was
adopted by the shareholders of EEIC on 12 September 2018
upon fulfilment of all the conditions precedent as set out the
2018 EEIC Scheme.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RARMEE

32. SHARE OPT'ONS (continued)

(b)

Employees’ share option scheme of Elec & Eltek
International Company Limited (“EEIC”) (continued)

The purpose of the 2018 EEIC Scheme is to provide an
opportunity for employees who have contributed significantly
to the growth and performance of EEIC Group and who satisfy
the eligibility criteria as set out in Rule 4 of the 2018 EEIC
Scheme, to participate in the equity of EEIC, so as to motivate
them to greater dedication, loyalty and higher standards of
performance, and to give recognition to past contributions
and services. Additionally, the 2018 EEIC Scheme will help
EEIC to attract and retain the services of appropriate, qualified
and experienced employees who would be able to contribute
to EEIC’s business and operations.

The 2018 EEIC Scheme entitles the option holders to exercise
their options and subscribe for new ordinary shares in EEIC
at either: (1) the “Market Price”, which is defined as the
average of the last dealt prices of the Company’s shares
(as determined by reference to the Official List published by
the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-
ST”) for a period of five consecutive market days immediately
preceding the relevant date of grant; or (2) a discount to the
Market Price, provided that the discount shall not exceed
20% of the Market Price, save that the exercise price must be
at least the highest of: (i) the closing price of the shares of the
Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheet on the date of grant; and (i) the average closing price of
the shares of the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant.

Options granted at the Market Price or at a discount to the
Market Price may be exercised after the first or second
anniversary respectively, of the date of grant and expiring on
the fifth anniversary of the date of grant.

The duration of the 2018 EEIC Scheme is ten years from
the date of adoption of the 2018 EEIC Scheme. The total
number of shares in EEIC that may be issued shall not exceed
18,691,996 shares (which represents 10% of the total number
of shares in issue of EEIC as at the date these consolidated
financial statements are authorised for issue.).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE I ERARMIEE

32. SHARE OPT'ONS (continued)

(b)

Employees’ share option scheme of Elec & Eltek
International Company Limited (“EEIC”) (continued)

No qualifying participant who is a substantial Shareholder
or an independent non-executive Director, or any of their
respective associates shall be granted any options, which, if
exercised in full, would result in the shares issued and issuable
to such person under the 2018 EEIC Scheme in the 12-month
period up to and including the proposed grant date for such
options, unless such grant of options is approved in advance
by the shareholders in general meeting: (a) representing in
aggregate over 0.1% of the number of shares then in issue;
and (b) having an aggregate value, based on the closing price
of the shares as stated in the SGX’s daily quotations sheets
on each relevant date on which the grant of such options is
made to such person under the relevant scheme, in excess of
HK$5 million.

No qualifying participant who is a substantial shareholder or
an independent non-executive director of EEIC, or any of their
respective associates shall be granted any options, which, if
exercised in full, would result in the shares issued and issuable
to such person under the 2018 EEIC Scheme in the 12-month
period up to and including the proposed grant date for such
options, unless such grant of options is approved in advance
by the shareholders of EEIC and of the Company in general
meeting: (a) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the
number of shares then in issue; and (b) having an aggregate
value, based on the closing price of the shares as stated in
the SGX-ST’s daily quotations sheets on each relevant date
on which the grant of such options is made to such person
under the relevant scheme, in excess of HK$5 million.

Share options may be accepted within 30 days after the
relevant date of grant accompanied by, inter alia, payment of
S$1.00 (or its equivalent) as consideration by the participants.

Since its adoption, no option was granted by EEIC pursuant
to the 2018 EEIC Scheme. The 2018 EEIC scheme was
terminated upon privatisation of EEIC on 25 September 2020.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RARMEE

32. SHARE OPT'ONS (continued)

(c)

Employees’ share option scheme of KLHL

The share option scheme of KLHL (2017 KLHL Scheme”)
was approved by the shareholders and the shareholders of
KLHL on 29 May 2017, and the 2017 KLHL Scheme took
effect upon obtaining approval from the Listing Committee
of the Stock Exchange on 2 November 2017. The purpose
of the 2017 KLHL Scheme is to provide incentive or rewards
to the eligible participants of the 2017 KLHL Scheme for
their contribution to, and continuing efforts to promote the
interests, of the KLHL Group (as defined below).

The 2017 KLHL Scheme is valid for a period of ten years.
The directors of KLHL may, at its discretion, grant options
to subscribe for shares in KLHL to eligible participants who
contribute to the long-term growth and profitability of KLHL
and include () any employee or proposed employee (whether
full-time or part-time and including any executive director),
consultants or advisers of or to KLHL, any of its subsidiaries
or any entity (“KLHL’s Invested Entity”) in which KLHL and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “KLHL Group”) hold
an equity interest; (ii) any non-executive directors (including
independent non-executive directors) of KLHL, any of its
subsidiaries or any KLHL’s Invested Entity; (i) any supplier
of goods or services to any member of the KLHL Group or
any KLHL'’s Invested Entity; (iv) any customer of the KLHL
Group or any KLHL’s Invested Entity; (v) any person or entity
that provides research, development or other technological
support to the KLHL Group or any KLHL'’s Invested Entity;
and (vi) any shareholder of any member of the KLHL Group or
any KLHL’s Invested Entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE I ERARMIEE

32. SHARE OPT'ONS (continued)

(c)

Employees’ share option scheme of KLHL

(continued)

The subscription price of KLHL’s share in respect of any
option granted under the 2017 KLHL Scheme must be at
least the highest of (i) the closing price of the shares of KLHL
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on
the date of grant of the option, which must be a business day;
(i) the average closing price of the shares of KLHL as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant of the
option; and (iii) the nominal value of the shares of KLHL.

The option may be accepted by a participant within 28 days
from the date of the offer for the grant of the option upon
the payment of a consideration of HK$1. An option may be
exercised at any time during a period to be determined and
notified by the directors of KLHL to each grantee, and in the
absence of such determination, from the date upon which the
offer for the grant of the option is accepted but shall end in
any event not later than 10 years from the date of grant of the
option subject to the provisions for early termination thereof.
The directors of KLHL may, at their absolute discretion, fix
any minimum period for which an option must be held, any
performance targets that must be achieved and any other
conditions that must be fulfilled before the options can be
exercised upon the grant of an option to a participant.

The total number of shares of KLHL which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the KLHL
Scheme and any other share option scheme of KLHL
(excluding, for this purpose, options lapsed in accordance
with the terms of the 2017 KLHL Scheme and any other share
option scheme of KLHL) must not in aggregate exceed 10%
of the total number of shares of KLHL in issue as at the date
of approval of the 2017 KLHL Scheme by the shareholders
and the shareholders of KLHL (i.e. 308,100,000 shares in
KLHL, representing 10.0% of the total issued share capital of
KLHL as at the date these consolidated financial statements
are authorised for issue).

The maximum number of shares of KLHL which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the 2017 KLHL Scheme and any other share
option scheme of KLHL must not exceed 30% of the issued
share capital of KLHL from time to time.

The total number of shares of KLHL issued and to be issued
upon exercise of the options granted (including both exercised
and outstanding options) to each participant in any 12-month
period must not exceed 1% of the share capital of KLHL then
in issue unless approved by the shareholders of KLHL and the
Company in general meetings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BHRMEE
32. SHARE OPTIONS (continued) 32. ,E‘%HQ*E(%)
() Employees’ share option scheme of KLHL c) BEEENRESBERES
(continued) El#)
A summary of movements of the number of share options FER - BEEERGEIET 2B
under the KLHL Scheme for the year is as follows: REHEE B EEEENT ¢

Grant during
Balance at  the year ended Balance at Exercised Balanceat  Exercised
1January  31December 31 December during  31December price per
Date of grant 2019 2019 2019 the year 2020 share  Exercisable period
ik

RZE-NE ZE-nE \Z% RZB-%%
-B-R  f2A=t-A t=A=1-8
ks LEERHE RERTE 2t
(Note) (Note v)
(Kizti) (Kztv)

Granted to the directors of KLHL on (Note i:
RTEBREREE W) -

3 April 2019 - 26,200,000 26,200,000 (26,200,000) - HK$B.39 3 Al 20190 2 Aprl 2029
“E-NEmA=H 8.39%7 (Note )
“E-NEMAZRE

ZECNERAZH
(i)

Granted to employees on (Note ii:

RTEE (Witi):

3 April 2019 - 12,800,000 12,800,000 (12,800,000) - HK$B.39 3 Al 20190 2 Aprl 2029

“E-NEmA=H 8.39%7 (Note )

“E-NEMAZRE
ZECNERAZH
(i)
- 39,000,000 39,000,000 (39,000,000) -

Exercisable at

R FEET

1 January 2019 -

“E-NE-A-H

31 December 2019 39,000,000

ZE-NETZA=T-H

31 December 2020 -

& S EN
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE I ERARMIEE

32. SHARE OPT'ONS (continued)

(c)

Employees’ share option scheme of KLHL
(continued)

Note:

U

(i)

(i)

During the year ended 31 December 2019, 39,000,000 options
were granted by the KLHL on 3 April 2019 under the 2017 KLHL
scheme of the KLHL, of which 26,200,000 options were granted
to directors of KLHL and 12,800,000 were granted to employees
of KLHL. The closing price of the KLHL’s shares on 2 April 2019
(namely the date immediately before the aforesaid grant date) is
HK$8.49. The estimated fair value of the aforesaid options was
HK$96,609,000, of which HK$64,901,000 was attributable to the
options granted to directors of KLHL while HK$31,708,000 was
attributable to the options granted to employees of KLHL. The
fair value of each of the abovementioned options was identical,
namely HK$2.48. All share options were vested on the date of
grant, 3 April 2019.

Including the interests of 550,000 share options of Mr. Leung Tai
Chiu, a director of KHL (resigned on 31 October 2020) and KLHL.

Including the interests of 11,300,000 share options of spouse of
Mr. Ho Yin Sang, a director of KHL. The spouse of Mr. Ho Yin
Sang is an employee of KLHL.

No share option was granted in 2020.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, all 39,000,000
options in KLHL at an exercise price of HK$8.39 per share were
exercised. The weighted average closing price of the KLHL’s
share granted on the Stock Exchange on the five trading days
immediately before the exercise date was HK$10.71. The amount
of approximately HK$96,609,000 was reclassified from share-
based payments reserve to share premium.

T

b
J
at
@
B3
el

E

~z

32. BRE s
(c) B EEERESREKRES

@)

GEX

0

(i)

(i)

)

Hz-_Z—-NL&F+=A
=t+—BLFE BEEE
RR=ZF—NEMA=ZBR
BT +FREEERE
fi% # 5t &1 4% 1 39,000,000 17
8 B A - E 26,200,000
MERERTEEEERE
% - 12,800,000 13 % F i
EBEERES - BEEER
BHR=ZF—NLFMA=AH
M E(BIEE LR
BHEIRT— R ) 88498 T °
FRERE 2 SR AT ER
96,609,000/ 7t + E R T
EEEERESHERERE
164,901,000/ 7T * & F 1
HREEIREES OERERN
31,708,000 7t » L it &1
FEIRAEH A TEAER - H2.48
BT TEEREE AN RE
AT -NFNA=BH
FE o

BIEEBERLREBRE
REFRERBEE(R=F
—ZEHE+A=+—HET)
550,00017 B A i B2 -

BEREEEEEMAMEL
A &9 BE 48 11,300,000 17 88 %
MR o AIMELENE
BREEEERES -

BEBERER_-_T_TFR
o

HE_Z_ZTHF+_-A
=+—HIEFE  REBE
[& R #) 2 &8 39,000,000 % %
DERITEES.39B TH B
IRIEREITE - BBEERR
B PR EETE B AR AL E
X5 BB TR RH 8
FHUTEA10.717870 4
96,609,000 7% T &) & K8 1t B8
RiEFRBERETSEZERM

A

—Zz-z£4xR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RARMEE

32. SHARE OPT'ONS (continued)

(c)

Employees’ share option scheme of KLHL
(continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2019, options were
granted on 3 April 2019. The estimated fair values of the
options granted on those dates are HK$96,609,000.

These fair value was calculated using the Binomial model. The
inputs into the model were as follows:

Share price at grant date B A HARRE
Exercise price 1TEE
Expected volatility TEERR IR
Expected life TE BRI U AR
Risk free rate A2 [ B 6 2
Expected dividend yield TR B
Early exercise multiple RATT{E A 2L

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

(c)

32. BBRE

EHEEBRESBERES
sJ(f-E

HE_Z-NF+ZA=1+—H
ii&: ﬁ%ﬂx@éﬁé_i hEM
A=ZAEE - RZARTLHER
7 2 (H5HAF1E £96,609,000/5

JT °©

NFERA AEAGEAE -
ZEARBABRNT

2019

—E-NEF
Directors Employees
E5E EE
HK$8.39 HK$8.39
8.39/8 7T 8.39/ 7T
HK$8.39 HK$8.39
8.3978 7T 8.39/ 7T
42.40% 42.40%
10 years 10 years
105 104F
1.67% 1.67%
6.26% 6.26%
2.8x 2.2x
285 2.21%

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical
volatility of the Company’s share price over the previous 10
years. The expected life used in the model has been adjusted,
based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of
non-transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioural
considerations.

The Group recognised no expense for the year ended 31
December 2020 (2019: HK$96,609,000) in relation to share
options granted by the Company.

The Binomial model has been used to estimate the fair
value of the options. The variables and assumptions used in
computing the fair value of the share options are based on
the directors’ best estimate. The value of an option varies with
different variables of certain subjective assumptions.

B ANNUAL REPORT 2020
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BHE—Z-ZF+-A=+—8H
IHFE - REBGRAQRESL
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE I ERARMIEE

33. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

BHEHEERRAF

33. FFiEEIHER

Share-based

Share of payments
net assets of reserve of
subsidiaries a subsidiary Total
EEHEAR —HHEARZ
EERE BRERE &gt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT THT
At 1 January 2019 RZE-NF—A—H 7,300,286 - 7,300,286
Acquisitions of additional interests in subsidiaries U8B A RI5EIMER (424,874) - (424,874)
Share of net changes arising from debt RN TES ARt 2 E RS
instruments and equity instruments at BETAEREGTAEAMN
FVTOCI (Note) BN ED) 131,134 - 131,134
Share of exchange differences arising from [EIERITEIMN R EMELZ
translation of foreign operations fEHEE (2,591) - (2,591)
Share of exchange differences arising from EERTELREEMELE Y
translation to presentation currency BN EE (42,136) - (42,136)
Share of profit for the year JEIEREEHEH 674,559 - 674,559
Recognition of equity-settled BANEREENRNEANR
share-based payments - 96,609 96,609
Disposal of partial interests in a subsidiary HE—FHBARNBHES 372,765 - 372,765
Capital contribution from non-controling M AR SRR R LA
shareholders of a subsidiary 128,000 - 128,000
Dividends paid to non-controlling SR FHBAAL FEER
shareholders of subsidiaries BRE RS (452,667) - (452,667)
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NF+-A=1+—H 7,684,476 96,609 7,781,085
Acquisitions of additional interests in subsidiaries  UEE B 2\ F1ZE5MES (1,675,312) - (1,675,312)
Share of net changes arising from debt RN TES ARt 2 ERES
instruments and equity instruments at EETAEREGTAEEEMN
FVTOCI (Note) 2EFEN) (41,904) - (41,904)
Share of exchange differences arising from [EIERITEIMNEEMELZ
translation of foreign operations EHERE 725 - 725
Share of exchange differences arising from BERTELSREEMELEZ
translation to presentation currency ERESR 304,344 - 304,344
Share of profit for the year JEIEREESEH 1,125,469 - 1,125,469
Issue of new shares from exercise of share option 77{ B & 1 % THOET %D 96,609 (96,609) -
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—FAMBAT 55,296 - 55,296
Capital redemption from non-controlling el ENGIE 3 2T
shareholders of a subsidiary BEEAR (358,400) - (358,400)
Dividends paid to non-controlling YT BR R Z IR
shareholders of subsidiaries BRZBES (2,257,500) - (2,257,500)
At 31 December 2020 R-ZE-FF+-A=1+—H 4,933,803 - 4,933,803
Note:  Share of net changes arising from debt instruments and equity instruments MisE : FEERATFESARMEERENES

at FVTOCI consist of loss on fair value changes on debt instruments
amounting to HK$16,531,000 (2019: gain on fair value changes amounting
to HK$161,849,000), cumulative gain reclassified to profit or loss upon
disposal of debt instruments amounting to HK$23,517,000 (2019:
HK$30,347,000) and fair value loss on equity instruments amounting to
HK$1,856,000 (2019: fair value loss amounting to HK$368,000).

TERBEETAESNEYFEBE
B TENFEZEEE16,531,000
BL(ZE—NF : RFEZH K
161,849,000/ 7T ) ~ HEEH T AR
B H MR8 25T Ue523,517,0007%
(=T — A% : 30,347,000/ 7C) A K
e T EATEREE1,856,000/8 (=
T—NF  RF{EEES68,000/8T) ©

—E-TFEFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RARMEE

34. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

(@

On 8 January 2019, the Group acquired 100% equity
interests in certain subsidiaries (the “Target companies”) from
Hallgain Investments Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of a
substantial shareholder of the Group, for a consideration of
HK$909,750,000. The Target companies are property holding
companies and owns certain investment properties in Hong
Kong.

The acquisition was determined by the Directors to be
acquisitions of assets and liabilities through acquisition of
subsidiaries rather than a business combination as the assets
acquired and liabilities assumed did not constitute a business
as defined under HKFRS 3 (revised) “Business Combinations”.

Consideration transferred

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

34. WHEHKIE 2 A

(@

RZZE—AFE—ANB  &&
ERE—S2TERE2EHH
HIF1E A FlHallgain Investments
Limited & FHBRR (B
ZEAR])M100% R - REAR
909,750,000/ 7T - BIZ AR A
MEZERAT  EEBEBEET
WEME -

EFETE RN R B RREN B
AR(WIBRBEBA G BEE
EREE FAAZSRUEBEE
KAEGENA BT EBKRE BN
FRIRERIB IR (KERT) X5
BOFRERES -

SEERE

HK$’000
TET

Cash RE 909,750
Assets acquired and liabilities recognised U B B E E &
at the date of acquisition: ERREE
Investment properties EYZE 915,035
Trade and other receivables B R EMEWERTR 305
Taxation recoverable BIRdEE 771
Bank balances and cash RITEBR LIRS 4,823
Trade and other payables 5 R EMERERK (6,087)
Taxation payable FESHIIA )
Deferred tax liabilities EERIBE & (6,093)
909,750
Net cash outflow on acquisition of subsidiary: WK A RIMIR & S8
Cash consideration paid ENESNE 909,750
Less: Cash and cash equivalent balances acquired B BRI e KRS
LEMEH (4,823)
904,927
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE I ERARMIEE

34. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)

(b)

On 14 August 2019, the Group acquired 100% of the issued
share capital of an entity (the “Entity 1”) for a consideration
of HK$600,000,000 from Hallgain Investments Limited, a
wholly owned subsidiary of a substantial shareholder of the
Group. This acquisition has been accounted for using the
acquisition method. The amount of goodwill arising as a
result of the acquisition was HK$203,452,000. The Entity 1
and its subsidiaries are engaged in the sale and manufacture
of PCBs. The entity was acquired so as to continue the
expansion of the Group’s PCB operations.

Consideration transferred

Cash Be

34. IWEEMB AR @

(b)

RZE—NFENA+TIAE K
% B A X {8 600,000,000 7% T
ME-—ZFXERFT2EHEN
MEB A FHallgain Investments
LimitediE—EEE([EE1])
#1100% B2 B A TR AN  JLUEEE
FERRIEEAR - WETEER
P52 5208,452,000/8 7T ° B
1RENB AR EHE RS
ENRIAREEIR o BPJUdZE RS -
VAR S R R AR SR B 2 ENRI AR BEAR

SEE T

HK$'000
T

600,000

Acquisition-related costs amounting to HK$727,000 have
been excluded from the consideration transferred and have
been recognised as an expense in the prior year and included
in the “administrative costs” line item in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of
acquisition are as follows:

B S AR B Y A 4K 727,000 7T
WEFADERERE  LERE
—FEHERAAL + Rt AGZE
B[ {TBR A —18 -

RUEE B I B E SR HERR A
BEWT

HK$’000
TAT

Property, plant and equipment Yz - B REAE 319,042
Right-of-use assets EREEE 95,936
Intangible asset BEEE 37,800
Inventories 58 65,010
Trade and other receivables B 5 K H eI ER 5K 412,732
Bank balances and cash RITHESR LIRS 59,387
Trade and other payables H 5 R EMEMIRR (651,787)
Lease liabilities HEAE (3,024)
Bank borrowings RITIEE (32,500
Deferred tax liabilities RIETIE A & (6,048)

396,548

—EoEsss EE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RARMEE

34. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

34. IWEEMB DR

(continued)
(b)  (continued) (b) (&)
The fair value of trade and other receivables at the date RWEBE B EHEAMEK
of acquisition amounted to HK$412,732,000. The gross R K A T 1B /412,732,000
contractual amounts of those trade and other receivables o RUREE BB BE M2 5 &
acquired amounted to HK$412,732,000 at the date of SREMEWIRR AMiEsEA
acquisition. All contractual receivables at acquisition date are 412,732,00058 7T © AT A R EE
expected to be recoverable. H HAR) & 49 FE Y AR SR T8 B T Uk
@ o
Goodwill arising on acquisition: INEEENEE
HK$’'000
FH&T
Consideration transferred BEEENE 600,000
Less: Fair value of identified net assets acquired B BWEEREEFENATE (396,548)
203,452

Goodwill arose in the acquisition of a subsidiary because
the cost of the combination included a control premium. In
addition, the consideration paid for the combination effectively
included amounts in relation to the benefit of expected
synergies, revenue growth, future market development and
the assembled workforce of a subsidiary. These benefits are
not recognised separately from goodwill because they do not
meet the recognition criteria for identifiable intangible assets.

None of the goodwill arising on these acquisitions is expected
to be deductible for tax purposes.

B ANNUAL REPORT 2020
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE I ERARMIEE

34. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)

(b)  (continued)
Net cash outflow on acquisition of a subsidiary

e
4
b3
o]
at
a
B
alj

34. IWEEMB AR @

(&)
BB —MMEQRNERER N
T

HK$’000

FHBT

Cash consideration paid BfReNRE 600,000
Less: cash and cash equivalent balances acquired B BWEERIR e MRS EMAR (59,387)
540,613

Included in the profit for the year ended 31 December 2019
is HK$17,546,820 attributable to the additional business
generated by the Entity 1. Revenue for the year 31 December
2019 includes HK$387,865,230 generated from the Entity 1.

Had the acquisition been completed on 1 January 2019,
total group revenue for the year ended 31 December 2019
would have been HK$41,640 million, and profit for the year
would have been HK$3,799 million. The pro forma information
is for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an
indication of revenue and results of operations of the Group
that actually would have been achieved had the acquisition
been completed on 1 January 2019, nor is it intended to be a
projection of future results.

HE-_Z-—hNhF+-_A=+—
HIEFFEMFRIEEE1EL
2 REHNFE TS FEAE 79 17,546,820
BT oBEZTE-—hF+=A
—t-HIEFENEHEERER
21 4 2 387,865,230 7T °

iR —_E—F—A—HE
TR FREELEETERA
41,640,000,000/8 7T * F R A
A& £3,799,000,0007% 7 © &
EERHEMHAR - WIEBRAS
EEREEBEER T —NEF—
A—BAERNBRE THEEERN
EEERCEES T THRIER
RIREENHHE -

—EoEsss EE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RARMEE

35. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

(a) On 1 September 2020, the Group disposed of its entire equity (a)
interest in a subsidiary, Jiangyin Guotao Real Estate Co., Ltd.
(IReBDEE £ AR A7), a subsidiary holding the properties
held for development in the PRC, to an independent third
party for a cash consideration of RMB199,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$223,870,000). The net assets at the end
of disposal are as follows:

Consideration received:

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

35. HEMNBE QT

RZZE-_ZTFNA—H £&EEH
AR 4 X8 A R # 199,000,000
7 (F8E R 49223,870,00078 7T )
HEER—REEREGEEY
(B AT IEEEEXAR
RAMEERETEIE=T -
HEEBERBFEEFHED
T

SWRAE :

HK$’000
TET

EHER S K ERE

Total cash consideration received

223,870

Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control was

BREZFIENEEREBEND
o:

lost:
Properties held for development Ry 186,195
Other receivables H b FEUSBR 5K 11,828
Shareholder’s loan fERE K (166,431)
Other payables HAbER R (1,795)
Net assets disposed of HE 2 BEFRE 29,797
Assignment of shareholder’s loan REREREE 166,431
196,228
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary: HE-EHBAT 2 -
Cash consideration received BREERE 223,870
Net assets disposed of HEZEEFHE (196,228)
27,642
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEEXZHERATE

Cash consideration

REHE

2020
—EoEE

—=—=

HK$’000
TR

223,870
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBERRME
35. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 35. HEMHB AR
(b)  On 5 March 2020, the Group disposed of its entire equity (b) R-T-—TFE-FTA AL£H
interest in a subsidiary, Shanxi Kingboard Wanxinda AR 4R A R #60,000,0007T
Chemical Limited (LFA@EEZZE{THREME LA, to (FEEH#966,999,000 7T ) £ &
the non-controlling shareholder of the subsidiary, for a cash HER BB AT LA ESES
consideration of RMB60,000,000 (equivalent to approximately E(L TERE TN FIH2 I
HK$66,999,000). The net liabilities at the end of disposal are as T2 B A T ) 2R B AR B B
follows: BRERLBREMLAR - HE
FIEAREE BEFEOT
Consideration received: SHHE
HK$’'000
FHT
Total cash consideration received BUER e RERTE 66,999
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control was EhEEFENESEREENS
lost: i
Properties, plant and equipment M - BB MR 207,092
Right-of-use assets EREEE 4,928
Inventories FE 8,950
Other receivables and prepayments E i fE U BR S N FE A 0B 29,893
Bills receivables JER R 24,319
Bank balances and cash RITHEHBR RS 1,933
Trade and other payables 5 R EMERAIRR (267,546)
Shareholder’s loan fRREK (135,337)
Net liabilities disposed of HEZaEFE (125,768)
Waive of shareholder’s loan BREFRFRE 135,337
9,569
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary: HE-—EMBARZ WK
Cash consideration received YR NRE 66,999
Net assets disposed of HEZEEFHE (9,569)
Non-controlling interests SEE RS (55,296)
2,134
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEEECRERAFHE
2020
—ECEF
HK$’000
FET
Cash consideration ReRE 66,999
Less: bank balances and cash disposed of B HEZIRTTRBENIRS (1,933)
65,066

—Zz-z£4xR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

36.

37.

PR aR M

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will
be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.
The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of bank borrowings
and lease liabilities, net of cash and cash equivalents and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued share
capital, other reserves and retained profits as disclosed in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

The Directors review the capital structure on a semi-annual basis.
As part of this review, the Directors consider the cost of capital and
the risks associated with each class of capital. In the opinion of the
Directors, the Group will balance its overall capital structure through
the payment of dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as
well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(@) Categories of financial instruments

TREE

Financial assets

36.

37.

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

EXEREE

REBEREERNAERBBERICES
HEAGEFRAEERAAFRESME
o EAREETERENFELE -
REE 7 BERBEBAFEER

R E SR EBRATNE - AREZ
BERERERRTEEREEAE(
BRRELBSEED) RARBEFAEA
G EE(BECETRA - EfEE
KRB EH]) -

EXELERMELEE - FREH—
Mo BEEBEREAKAE  REZHE
MEAERZRAR - EERA - A%E
RRBX RS - BITHR - BEAR
o BITHEXREBRREER - AT
BBRELREE -

EMTH
() SMIAES

2020
—g-2f

2019
—ZT-NF
HK$’000
Tt

HK$’000
TR

Financial assets at amortised cost RHEN AT ENeREE 18,870,434 18,502,970
Equity instruments at FVTPL BAFESABROERTA 5,661,511 2,857,421
Equity instruments at FVTOCI BRAFESAREMER
Wz T A - 162,918
Debt instruments at FVTOCI BAFEFARMEER
W ER T A 2,203,347 7,882,544
26,735,292 29,405,853
Financial liabilities SRas
Amortised cost 3[R
— trade and other payables — B 5 REMEMRR 4,246,956 3,966,409
- bills payables — R 377,036 359,920
- bank borrowings —RITIEE 17,230,846 24,409,909
21,854,838 28,736,238
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE I ERARMIEE

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

Details of the Group’s financial instruments are disclosed in
respective notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include market risk (currency risk, interest rate
risk and other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below.
The management manages and monitors these exposures
to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely
and effective manner.

Market risk

Currency risk

Several subsidiaries of the Company have foreign currency
sales and purchases, which expose the Group to foreign
currency risk. Approximately 7.1% (2019: 7.3%) of the
Group’s sales are denominated in currencies other than
the functional currency of the group entities making the
sale, whilst almost 9.1% (2019: 4.6%) of purchases are
denominated in currencies other than the functional currency
of the relevant group entities.

The carrying amount of the Group’s foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and liabilities at the end of
the reporting period are disclosed in respective notes. The
management continuously monitors the foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedging foreign currency risk
should the need arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RARMEE

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Currency risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to fluctuation against foreign
currencies of US$, HK$, Euro and GBP. The following table
details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% (2019: 5%) increase
and decrease in functional currency of respective group
entities against the relevant foreign currencies, excluding the
exposures on balances denominated in US$ of respective
group entities of which functional currencies are HK$, since
the directors of the Company are of the option that such
exposures are not significant as HK$ is pegged to US$. 5%
(2019: 5%) represents management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The
sensitivity analysis includes only the outstanding monetary
items denominated in foreign currency and adjusts their
translation at the end of the reporting period for a 5% (2019:
5%) changes in foreign currency rates. The sensitivity analysis
includes trade and other receivables, bank balances and
cash, trade and other payables, as well as bank borrowings.
A positive (negative) number below indicates an increase
(decrease) in post-tax profit for the year where functional
currency of each group entity strengthens 5% (2019: 5%)
against the relevant foreign currency. For a 5% (2019: 5%)
weakening of functional currency of each group entity against
the relevant foreign currency, there would be an equal and
opposite impact on the post-tax profit for the year.

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

(b)

37. TRI A )

BEEREEEEREER
()

TiSER(E)

EXEs ()

BRE DT
AEEFEmMEET AT B
TR ESEINE R E R o T
HNASEEHSEETERIEE
B S ARRAINE T K5 % (= Z — A,
F 5% BT - TRIENEE
EMAETIHNSEEEEIUET
SHEMEHRNER - BRETE
ELHN ARBREERAE
BRBILTEK > 5% (=T —N
F : 5%) Ty EIR B L HNEE & 7]
BELIR 2 ARG - B
EDHTE R IE M AR B HRLAINE 5]
BENEBIEE @ SRS HREAR
H 2 INEER5% (=T —N.4F
5%) EEEHIRAE - FRAES
WMEIEE 5 R EAMEKEER - iR
THRHBEES  BHREMER
BRARLIBITEE - EHIERER
FRNEE S K ABBINEFHE
5%(ZZF—NF : 5%)F + ANF
ERBEEFIEAIEM - 8%
EEREMNIEEEE SBEINER
B5%(ZZF—NF : 5%)8 7]
B AT ERFE S FIB REE
REVFE -

2020 2019
:-g:-g =

HK$°000 HK$’000

THET FHET

US$ E7T (11,357) (21,543)
HKS BT 4,503 341
Euro BT (336) (336)
GBP it (739) 2,729)

In the opinion of the Directors, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of inherent foreign exchange risk as the year
end exposure does not reflect the exposure during the year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE I ERARMIEE

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation
to fixed-rate loan receivable (see Note 23 for details of the loan
receivable), listed bond securities with fixed coupon interest
(see Note 22 for details of these listed bond securities) and
fixed-rate lease liabilities (see Note 30 for detail of these lease
liabilities). The Group manages its interest rate exposures by
assessing the potential impact arising from any interest rate
movements based on interest rate level and outlook.

The Group’s bank balances, entrusted loans and variable-rate
borrowings have exposure to cash flow interest rate risk due
to the fluctuation of the prevailing market interest rate.

The Group’s exposures to interest rates on financial liabilities
are detailed in the liquidity risk management section of
this note. The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of HIBOR, LIBOR and LPR
(2019: HIBOR, LIBOR and LPR) arising from the Group’s bank
borrowings.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below have been determined based
on the exposure to interest rates for entrusted loans, bank
borrowings and debt instruments at FVTOCI at the end of
the reporting period. The analysis is prepared assuming the
financial instruments outstanding at the end of the reporting
period were outstanding for the whole year. A 50 basis
points (2019: 50 basis points) increase or 50 basis points
(2019: 50 basis points) decrease are used and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change
in interest rates. Bank balances are excluded from sensitivity
analysis as the Directors consider that the exposure of cash
flow interest rate risk arising from variable-rate bank balances is
insignificant.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RARMEE

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis (continued)

If interest rate had been 50 basis points (2019: 50 basis
points) higher and all other variables were held constant, the
Group’s:

° post-tax profit for the year ended 31 December 2020
would decrease by approximately HK$69,882,000
(2019: decrease by approximately HK$99,752,000) as
a result of the Group’s exposure to interest rates on
its entrusted loans and variable-rate borrowings; and

° the investment valuation reserve for the year ended
31 December 2020 would decrease by approximately
HK$14,440,000 (2019: decrease by approximately
HK$84,173,000) as a result of the change in the fair
value of debt instruments at FVTOCI with fixed coupon
interest.

If interest rate had been 50 basis points (2019: 50 basis
points) lower and all other variables were held constant, the
Group’s:

o post-tax profit for the year ended 31 December 2020
would increase by approximately HK$69,882,000
(2019: increase by approximately HK$99,752,000) as
a result of the Group’s exposure to interest rates on
its entrusted loans and variable-rate borrowings; and
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE I ERARMIEE

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis (continued)

o the investment valuation reserve for the year ended
31 December 2020 would increase by approximately
HK$14,490,000 (2019: increase by approximately
HK$84,173,000) as a result of the change in the fair
value of debt instruments at FVTOCI with fixed coupon
interest.

In the opinion of the Directors, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of inherent interest rate risk as the year end
exposure does not reflect the exposure during the year.

Price risk

The Group is exposed to equity and debt price risk through
its investments in equity instruments measured at FVTPL
and FVTOCI and debt instruments at FVTOCI. For equity
instruments measured at FVTPL quoted in the Stock
Exchange, the management manages this exposure by
maintaining a portfolio of investments with different risks. In
addition, the Group also invested in certain unquoted equity
securities for investees for long term strategic purposes. The
Group has appointed a special team to monitor the price risk
and will consider hedging the risk exposure should the need
arise.

Sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analyses have been determined based on the
exposure to equity and debt price risk at the reporting date.

If the prices of the respective equity instruments had
been 10% (2019: 10%) higher/lower, the post-tax profit
for the year ended 31 December 2020 would increase/
decrease by HK$527,644,000 (2019: increase/decrease by
HK$238,627,000) as a result of the changes in fair value of
equity investments at FVTPL.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RARMEE

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Price risk

Sensitivity analysis

If the prices of the respective debt instruments had been 10%
(2019: 10%) higher/lower, the investment revaluation reserve
for the year ended 31 December 2020 would increase/
decrease by HK$220,335,000 (2019: increase/decrease by
HK$788,254,000) as a result of the changes in fair value of
investments at FVTOCI.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event
of the counterparties’ failure to perform their obligations at
the end of the reporting period in relation to each class of
recognised financial assets is the carrying amount of those
assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Trade receivables arising from contracts with customer

In order to minimise the credit risk, the Directors have
delegated the management to be responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts. Before accepting any new
customer, the Group uses an internal credit scoring system
to assess the potential customer’s credit quality and defines
credit limits by customer. The Group monitors any changes
in the credit quality of the trade receivables since the credit
was grant and up to the end of the reporting period. Limits
and scoring attributed to customers are reviewed twice a
year. Other monitoring procedures are in place to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In this
regard, the Directors consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

Except for credit-impaired trade receivables which are
assessed for impairment individually, the remaining trade
receivables are grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics by reference to the Group’s internal credit
ratings. Details of the quantitative disclosures are set out
below in this note.
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237 EEEEERA A
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBERRME
37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 37. ﬁﬁﬂlﬂ<%>
(b) Financial risk management objectives and b) HEEREEEERKE
policies (continued) (58)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) EERRERETG(E)
Collective assessments B
As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group AREEYUERFEARNITEET
applies internal credit rating for its customers. The following F o AERAREEERREEN
table provides information about the exposure to credit risk — &8y o TRIBENREEATEEE
for trade receivables which are assessed collectively as at BEEB(BEERBE) NERE T
31 December 2020 and 2019 within lifetime ECL (not credit- HEEN_ZE-EFR TN
impaired). Credit-impaired debtors with gross carrying F+-A=+—BESEKER
amounts of HK$523,582,000 as at 31 December 2020 FERRBEBR  —E-TF+—
(2019: HK$542,129,000) were assessed individually. Credit- A=+—B{EERERWERRE
impairment debtors are fully provided ECL. R T {8 523,582,000/ T ( =&
— L : 542,129,000/ 7T ) °
EERERKEREREES
BIER S -
For the year ended 31 December 2020: e -ZTF+-_A=+—H
IEFE -
Gross
trade Range of Trade
Internal credit rating receivables loss rates ECL receivables
ESER EBEZE TEHA B5
ABEETR R4 HE EEEER FEUR BRSR
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET FHET THET
Low risk KA 3,143,779 1% - 3% 84,167 3,059,612
Watch list BLOR B 4,568,660 5% - 15% 471,278 4,097,382
Doubtful RER 296,620 30% -43% 92,106 204,514
8,009,059 647,551 7,361,508

—Zz-z£4xR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GRMBRRNE
37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 37. QEQIE\(%)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and b) HEEREEEERKE
policies (continued) (%)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) EERRERET G (E)
Collective assessments (continued) eI (E)
For the year ended 31 December 2019: REEZZE—NF+A=+—
HIEFE :
Gross
trade Range of Trade
Internal credit rating receivables loss rates ECL receivables
2 W EE = 1 Hf =L
REBE ERTAR AR AR &= EEEE FEUIBR R
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FHET
Low risk KR 3,770,150 1% - 3% 84,641 3,685,509
Watch list BLERPE 3,338,396 5% —15% 428,444 2,909,952
Doubtful RER 253,669  30% —43% 84,680 168,989
7,362,215 597,765 6,764,450
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE I ERARMIEE

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
Collective assessments (continued)

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment comprises
the following categories:

Internal credit rating

NEEERT AR

Low risk

[ECEf

Watch list

Doubtful

R

Loss

[E48

Write-off

[ 85 |

Description

it

The counterparty has a low risk
of default

HFTEORRK

Doubtful debtor frequently repays

after due dates but usually settle

in full

BEENFRNEGALE
REIR®ERRIE  BBEFE
AEHEE

There have been significant
increases in credit risk since
initial recognition through
information developed
internally or external resources

IR A R Sk R B R IEER Y
ERBENMEERR B VnTER
LAZRERZ EF+

There is evidence indicating
the asset is credit-impaired

ERBTEELRERRE

There is evidence indicating
that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and the
Group has no realistic
prospect of recovery
FEBEREBABABREV R -
BARSEEE RS W E5RIE

e
4
b3
o]
at
a
B
alj

37. TRIT A )

(b) HMBEBEEAFRREEX

(%)

FERRKBERE(E)
BV (F)
REENFEEREFRTEE
AT D8 -

Trade receivables

B BB IR

Lifetime ECL — not
credit-impaired

2 EFEEEE SR -
BEERE

Lifetime ECL — not
credit-impaired

EHEMEREE -
BEERE

Lifetime ECL — not
credit-impaired

EHEMEREE-
EEERE

Lifetime ECL — credit-
impaired

2 EFEEEEEE -
BEERIE

Amount is written off

SRR

Other financial assets/
other items

HiEmEE HAMIEA
B

12m ECL

128 A EREEEE

12m ECL

128 AEREEEE

Lifetime ECL — not
credit-impaired

EHIEREERE-
EEERE

Lifetime ECL - credit-

impaired
CHFEREERE-
EERE

Amount is written off

SRR

—E-TFEFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RARMEE

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Collective assessments (continued)

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the debtors
and are adjusted for forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort. The grouping is
regularly reviewed by management to ensure relevant
information about specific debtors is updated.

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

(b)

37. TRI A )

MEEBEERFEREE
(%)

FERRKBERE(E)
BT (F)

AEt R R AR E YR RIESR
FHNELBRABROEM
it WHREFNHBZERALE
1 BRI 45 19 B B 1 B RHE 5
B EHETHENSIE N

TR AR E R RS A B &
KRR o
The following table sets out the movement in lifetime ECL that TEEIRIE R a R A
has been recognised for trade receivables under the simplified R L BE 0 i 2 BR T HA S B Eﬁa‘% Z
approach. 8 - A
Lifetime Lifetime
ECL ECL
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired)
2 HATEH 2 HATEH
EEEE EEEE
(BEERE) (EERE)
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHAT FHAT
As at 1 January 2019 RZZE—hF—HA—H 464,977 568,517 1,033,494
Changes relating to trade RZE-NF—-—A—AH
receivables recognised as at ERRE S ERER
1 January 2019 BREARNE
- Transfer to credit-impaired —EEEEERE (7,644) 7,644 -
- Net impairment loss reversed —RBEIREBEFE (216,749) (116,569) (333,318)
— Write-offs — i 5H - (51,028) (51,028)
New financial assets originated AEEELENTEMEE
during the year 516,528 - 516,528
Transfer to credit-impaired AEEEBREEZERE
during the year (145,686) 145,686 -
Exchange adjustments [ 7, S #E (13,661) (12,121) (25,782)
As at 31 December 2019 RZZE—NEF
+=—A=+— 597,765 542,129 1,139,894
Changes relating to trade RZEZTF— ﬂ =)EE!
receivables recognised as at ZEEE RE 5 WK
1 January 2020 BRANES
— Transfer to credit-impaired —EREEERE (16,578) 16,578 -
— Net impairment loss reversed —RBRIREBEEE (467,797) (143,953) (611,750)
~ Write-offs — 354 - (52,167) (52,167)
New financial assets originated AEEEENTSREE
during the year 625,547 - 625,547
Transfer to credit-impaired AEFEEBEEEZERE
during the year (127,861) 127,861 -
Exchange adjustments [ 5, T2 36,475 33,134 69,609
As at 31 December 2020 R _THF
+=—A=+—H 647,551 523,582 1,171,133
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE I ERARMIEE

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Bills receivables

In determining the ECL for bills receivables, the Directors have
considered the bills received by the Group with a maturity
period of less than one year are assessed on 12m ECL by
reference to the external credit rating of relevant banks,
and concluded that the credit risk inherent in the Group’s
outstanding bills receivables is insignificant as at 31 December
2020 and 2019.

Other receivables

In determining the ECL for other receivables, the Directors
have made periodic collective assessment as well as individual
assessment on the recoverability of other receivables, based
on historical settlement records, past experience, and
also forward-looking information, as appropriate. For the
year ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Group has
considered the consistently low historical default rate of other
receivables in connection with payments, and concluded
the ECL of the Group’s outstanding other receivables is
insignificant.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RARMEE

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
Entrusted loans

The Group reviews the recoverable amount of entrusted loans
at the end of the reporting period to ensure that adequate
impairment assessment are made for irrecoverable amounts.
The entrusted loans are pledged by the properties held by
the borrowers. In this regard, the Directors consider that the
Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk on
trade and other receivables and entrusted loans with exposure
spread over a number of customers. However, the Group
is exposed to the concentration on geographic segment
in PRC. At 31 December 2020, approximately 95% (2019:
95%) and 100% (2019: 100%) of the Group’s trade and other
receivables and entrusted loans are arising from the PRC.

Loan receivable

The Directors estimate the estimated loss rates of loan
receivable based on financial background of the debtor. For
the year ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Directors
consider that the ECL of the Group’s loan receivable is
insignificant as the debtor is a listed company in Hong Kong
engaged in property development business.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE I ERARMIEE

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Loan receivable (continued)

At 31 December 2020, the Group is exposed to concentration
of credit risk on its loan receivable as 100% (2019: 100%)
of the loan receivable is concentrated in one (2019: one)
debtor. The Group’s loan receivable is exposed to credit risk
due to the default of repayment by the debtor. However, the
Directors considered that the credit risk on this loan receivable
is limited as the debtor is a listed company in Hong Kong with
good creditability.

Bank balances

The credit risk for bank deposits and bank balances exposed is
considered minimal as such amounts are placed with various
banks with good credit ratings and there is no significant
concentration of credit risk.

Debt instruments at FVTOC/

The Group only invests in debt securities with low credit risk.
The Group’s debt instruments at FVTOCI mainly comprise
listed bonds in Hong Kong and Singapore (2019: Hong Kong,
Singapore and Swiss) that are graded “investment grade”
as per globally understood definitions and are considered by
management to be low credit risk investments. Most listed
bonds are engaged in the property development business in
Hong Kong and PRC (2019: Hong Kong and PRC). During
the year ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, the expected
credit losses on debt instruments at FVTOCI is insignificant.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RARMEE

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
Debt instruments at FVTOC/

At 31 December 2020, the Group is exposed to concentration
of credit risk on its debt instruments at FVTOCI as 79% (2019:
75%) of the total debt are concentrated in eight (2019: nine)
listed bond securities issued by two (2019: two) listed issuers
in Hong Kong. The Group’s listed bond securities are exposed
to credit risk due to the default of repayment by the bond
issuers. However, the Directors considered that the credit risk
on these investments is limited as the listed bonds securities
were issued by issuers in Hong Kong with good creditability.

Other items

As at 31 December 2020, other than those financial assets
whose carrying amounts best represent the maximum
exposure to credit risk, the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group arising
from the amount of contingent liabilities in relation to financial
guarantees provided by the Group is disclosed in note 39(a).

For financial guarantee contracts, the maximum amount that
the Group has guaranteed under the respective contracts was
approximately HK$586,022,000 (2019: HK$708,163,000)
as at 31 December 2020. At the end of the reporting period,
the Directors have performed impairment assessment, and
concluded that there has been no significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition of the financial guarantee
contracts. Accordingly, the loss allowance for financial
guarantee contracts issued by the Group is measured at an
amount equal to 12m ECL. The management of the Group
considers the probability of default is low and accordingly,
loss allowance was considered as insignificant. Details of the
financial guarantee contracts are set out in Note 39(a).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE I ERARMIEE

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. The Directors monitor the utilisation of bank borrowings
and ensure compliance with loan covenants during the year.

The Group relies on bank borrowings as a significant source
of liquidity. At 31 December 2020, the Group has available
unutilised bank borrowings facilities of approximately
HK$17,070,767,000 (2019: HK$7,184,128,000).

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The table
has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows
of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which
the Group can be required to pay. Specifically, bank loans
with a repayment on demand clause are included in the
earliest time band regardless of the probability of the banks
choosing to exercise their rights. The maturity dates for other
non-derivative financial liabilities are based on the agreed
repayment dates.

The table includes both interest and principal cash flows.
To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the
undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate curve at the
end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHRRMEE
37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 37. QEQIE\@%)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and b)) BXEREEEHERBEE
policies (continued) (%)
Liquidity risk (continued) REBESRK(E)
Liquidity and interest risk tables TEE 2 RFIEE R

Over Over Over
Weighted 3 months 1year 2years
average  Ondemand but not but not but not Total
effective orlessthan  morethan  morethan  more than Over undiscounted  Carrying

interestrate 3 months 1 year 2years 5years Syears  cash flows amount
HEYY  RERY CEANLE  -ENLE REMLE #ERRE

Ehfz  Z@ERR  TEB-F TRERE THERIE  BENE  fiEAE R

HK$000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$000  HKS000  HK$(000

TR TR T TERL ThR TEL TR

At 31 December 2020 R-E-EF+-f=1-H
Non-derivative financial liabilities ~ 3Eff4 4FERE
Trade and other payables AREMERE - 4246956 - - - - 446956 4,246,956
Bills payables eSS - 317,036 - - - - 311,036 317,036
Bank borrowings B8

- Variable rate -8 198 1600537  7,123625 5,621,158 3,408,221 - 17753541 17,230,846
Lease liliies [EEE 463 1,047 3,287 3847 6,343 1216 15,740 14,004

6,25576  7,126912 5625006 3,414,570 1216 22393219 21,868,842

Financial queranteg contracts HERaY 586,022 - - - - 5602 58602
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE I ERARMIEE

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

Liquidity and interest risk tables (continued)

37. €@ T Ay

(b)

b
J
at
@
B3
el

BHEEAREERREREE

(&)

REES ()
B EERFIERRE (&)

Qver Over Over
Weighted 3 months 1year 2years
average  On demand but not but not but not Total
gffective  orlessthan  morethen  morethan  morethan Over  unciscounted Carrying
nterestrate 3 months 1year 2 years 5years Syears  cashflows amount
Y RELES
’ j BENE Rl
HK$'000 HK§000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK§ 000
Tin T AT TiEn ThL
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NETZR=1-H
Non-derivative financial liabilties 3£+ 4RE(RE
Tradle and other payables BAREMENER - 3966409 - - - - 3966409 3,966,409
Blls payables ENZE - 359,920 - - - - 359,920 359,920
Bank borrowings B8
- Varigble rate -8 339 23108 6047086 7096939 11,059,740 - 26524850 24,409,909
Lease abiies HE&E 47 72 2,269 3,085 7216 1905 15,197 13214
6648136 604935 7,100,024 11,066,956 1906 30866376 28,749,452
Finandial guarantes contracts HHERRY 708,163 - - - - 708163 708,163
—z-zasy I
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RARMEE

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

Liquidity and interest risk tables (continued)

Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are
included in the “on demand or less than 3 months” time
band in the above maturity analysis. At 31 December 2020,
the aggregate undiscounted principal amounts of these
bank borrowings amounted to HK$381,349,000 (2019:
HK$409,854,000). Taking into account the Group’s financial
position, the Directors do not believe that it is probable that
the banks will exercise their discretionary rights to demand
immediate repayment. The Directors believe that such bank
borrowings will be fully repaid after the end of the reporting
period in accordance with the scheduled repayment dates
ranging from one to twelve (2019: one to thirteen) years as set
out in the loan agreements, details of which are set out in the
table below:

Less than
1 year

~EUT

HK$'000

TAL

31 December 2020

e e 24474

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

37. M I A

(b)

BEEREEREREEK
()

REBELREM(E)
TEE L RFIF RS ()

R EMEIEAS TR - [HRERE
Z@EAR]— D BEMREER
R EENERNIBITEE -
RZZEZZTF+=-A=+—H80"
I EIRITIEER RIS 858
£381,349,0008 L (= — A,
4 1 409,854,000/87T) > BELKL
EZEEAEENS MR NEAEE
SRITHE AR AT RETTIE LB IS #E LA
EHEIRHEN - EEMAE - ZF
IRITE BN RS HRAREZIR
BER B AEERB 8
NTF—E+=F(ZT—NF:
—E2+=F)7%)  2EEE
FBHNTE

Maturity Analysis - Bank loans with a repayment
on demand clause based on scheduled repayments

BB - BRREREERT 2 BOER(RHHUEREH)

1-2
years

—EmF
HK$'000

T

24,958

2-5
years

REEEE
HK$'000

AL

71,810

Total
Over5 undiscounted
years cash outflows
FERRE
iokict -
HK$'000

BT

Carrying
amount

KafE
HK$'000

BENRE

318,545 445,847 381,349

31 December 2019 ZE-NEtZA=t-H 25,212

26,485

87,754

450,615 590,066 409,854
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE I ERARMIEE

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(c) Fair value measurements of financial instruments

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are
measured at fair value on a recurring basis

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period. The following table
gives information about how the fair values of these financial
assets are determined (in particular, the valuation technique(s)
and inputs used), as well as the level of the fair value hierarchy
into which the fair value measurements are categorised (Levels
1 to 3) based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair
value measurements is observable.

Financial assets

e
4
b3
o]
at
a
B
alj

37. TRIT A )

Fair value as at 31 December

2019
—n
HK$'000
F7E

2,857,421

SRMEE R+=A=t+-BHATE
2020
e 53
HK$’000
FAR
(i) Listed equity securities classified as 5,661,511
equity instruments at FVTPL
() PEARATEFABRNERTIA
2 EmkAE
(i) Listed bond securities classified as 2,203,347

debt instruments at FVTOCI
(i) PBABELAFEFALBEEKER
BEBTA FERE

There were no transfer between Level 1 and 2 during the
years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019.

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities that are not
measured at fair value on a recurring basis.

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of other
financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised
cost approximate to their fair values.

7,882,544

()

Fair value
hierarchy
DEEEBSR

ERMTANAVEE

REKEUHEERAVEFEZ
TEETRHEEZQATE

REERIETRHEENSREH
B REHRATERE - TX
Mo EEEEZSeREERT
B2IE(LERAZ HER
M7 e 3 N BUR) VA R AR N P AEET
ERARBZIBREESAT
B8N Bz AFEFHER
(B—E=R)ZEH -

Valuation techniques
and key inputs
REREREAR AR

Quoted bid prices in active
market

REET SR EAE

Quoted prices in the over-
the-counter market
ISR 5T 2 B

REBE_Z-_TFR_FT-NF
TZA=t—HLFEAN  £—
MEE R FWEEE -
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2AEBERMABRARZAT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RARMEE

38. CAPITAL AND OTHER COMMITMENTS  38. B4 Hit&{E

2020 2019
—g-gF  —T-A%
HK$'000

HK$’000
TR TAT

RETNERRGEEHHER
EHBB2EARXH :

Capital expenditure contracted for but not
provided in the consolidated financial
statements in respect of:

— acquisition of properties,

—-BEYE  BELEE

plant and equipment 114,962 350,709
Other expenditure contracted for but not FEETHVERERE B SR
provided in the consolidated financial Ve BB 2 B2 i
statements in respect of:
— acquisition and other expenditures —HRAFEEMEWER
relating to properties held A
for development 1,014,561 1,625,343
1,129,523 1,976,052

39. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(@)

The Group provided guarantees amounting to approximately
HK$586,022,000 (2019: HK$708,163,000) as at 31
December 2020 to facilitate mortgage bank loans applications
of purchasers of the properties that were developed by the
Group.

The guarantees are given to banks with respect to loans
procured by the purchasers of properties that were developed
by the Group. Such guarantees will be released by banks
upon delivery of the properties to the purchasers and
completion of registration of the relevant mortgage properties.
In the opinion of the Directors, the fair values of these financial
guarantee contracts of the Group are insignificant at initial
recognition and the Directors consider that the possibility
of default of the parties involved is remote. Accordingly, no
value has been recognised at the inception of the guarantee
contracts and at the end of the reporting period as at 31
December 2020 and 2019.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE I ERARMIEE

39. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (continued)

(b)

On 3 August 2011, Annuity & Re Life Ltd (the “Petitioner”),
the non-controlling shareholder of KBCF, presented a petition
in the Supreme Court of Bermuda (the “Petition”) in respect
of KBCF against its controlling shareholders based on a
complaint that the affairs of KBCF had been and/or were
being conducted in a manner which was oppressive or unfairly
prejudicial to the Petitioner.

The controlling shareholders of KBCF were eventually
successful in defending the case following a favourable
judgment by the Bermuda Court of Appeal dated 24 March
2017. Subsequently, the Petitioner filed an appeal with the
Privy Council. Such appeal was withdrawn by the Petitioner
following a settlement agreement reached by the Petitioner
and the respondents in the Petition.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the controlling
shareholders of KBCF had purchased all of the remaining
issued and outstanding ordinary shares in the capital of KBCF
and KBCF has become a wholly-owned subsidiary of KLHL.

On 1 November 2018, the Petitioner commenced an action in
the Supreme Court of Bermuda under Civil Jurisdiction 2018:
No0.359 against the respondents in the Petition based on
purported breach of the settlement agreement (the “Settlement
Action”).

On 22 October 2020, the Group filed in an application for
striking out part of the Petitioner’s claim under the Settlement
Action (the “Strike-Out Application”). The Strike Out
Application is currently listed to be heard on 28 April 2021.

Based on the advice of the Company’s Bermuda Counsel
to date, the Directors are of the opinion that the Settlement
Action appears to be intrinsically defective and that the
Company has a more than reasonable chance to succeed.
Accordingly, no provision for liability has been made in
connection with this claim.

BHEHEERRAF
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KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RARMEE

40. OPERATING LEASING ARRANGEMENTS 40. K&EHEZHE

2020 2019
—g-gF  —T-A%
HK$'000

BT

HK$’000
TR

FEEERHBA REA

The Group as lessor/licensor:

Rental income credited to the consolidated RENGTALEEBRERL

statement of profit or loss during the year Be A 1,114,037 1,155,342
Licence fee income credited to the consolidated FAE AT AdZB B ER 2
statement of profit or loss during the year EREFEREBIRA - 60,000

AEBZEEMRGEAREE L THE
HEHETE=)  HHRER-+IEF
(ZF-N&F: Z+R%F)-

The Group’s investment properties are rented to third parties for
periods up to twenty five years (2019: twenty five years) at fixed
predetermined amounts.

BREEEREEEENZTNT

Lease payments receivable on leases are as follows:

2020 2019

—ECEF TR

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FHAT

Within one year —FR 778,860 758,973
In the second year RE—F 606,136 593,734
In the third year RE=F 469,963 483,038
In the fourth year REF 409,344 405,491
In the fifth year RERF 314,617 380,935
After five years AFE 2,167,943 2,472,073
4,746,863 5,004,244
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
N £ B
77 U |A_|
40. OPERATING LEASING ARRANGEMENTS  40. &S %
(continued)
The Group had licenced certain of its assets to a Licencee under the IRIERERF Bz - AEEREERE
licence agreement with, inter alia, the following terms: ANEREETEENT
o Within the first twelve months of the licence, either the Group . EREFERET @A  &&E
or the Licencee may terminate the licence agreement at its B EREAAITEZERNE
sole discretion, by serving on the other party not less than omBR—AgETIOR—@E
one month prior notice in writing and paying the other party AEEERBM  WMS—FX
HK$1,000,000 or such other amount as may be mutually +1,000,000/8 703k & 5 £ 1%
agreed in writing between both parties. EHEM SR - RICREER
E
o After the first twelve months of the licence, the Group may . EREFERE T —@R% A&
terminate the licence agreement at its sole discretion, by B A [ EREA LD R —E
serving on the Licencee not less than one month prior notice BEAZmBN  2EBIBRIE
in writing. RAEE A -
The licence agreement between the Licensor and the Licencee had BN B AR M EFE BE
been early expired on 1 July 2019 and the Licensor had not entered ER-ZE—NF+A—BIEREMR &
any letter of extension and amendments with the Licencee to extend FE AT BRI A BTN AT H K 1
the licenced period. AT - DAESE S FRHARR -
41. PLEDGE OF ASSETS 4. REWHE
At the end of the reporting period, the Group has the following assets RBEHBERER  RNEBTYEE
pledged to banks to secure the banking facilities of the Group: BERTHRT  EAAEERITHED
Eiw il
2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NEF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Investment properties "EME 2,706,000 1,850,000
Properties held for development FERME 1,853,941 1,445,261
4,559,941 3,295,261
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RARMEE

42. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The Group participates in both a defined contribution scheme which
is registered under the Occupational Retirement Scheme Ordinance
(the “ORSO Scheme”) and a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
established under the Mandatory Provident Fund Ordinance in
December 2000 (the “MPF Scheme”). The assets of the schemes are
held separately from those of the Group and are invested in the funds
under the control of trustees. Employees who were members of the
ORSO Scheme prior to the establishment of the MPF Scheme are
members of both the ORSO Scheme and the MPF Scheme, whereas
all new employees joining the Group on or after December 2000 are
required to join the MPF Scheme. The ORSO Scheme was funded by
monthly contributions from both employees and the Group at 10% of
an employee’s salary. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its
employees and each required to make contributions to the scheme
at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly

relevant income of HK$30,000 (2019: HK$30,000).

Employees of subsidiaries in the PRC are members of the state-
sponsored pension schemes operated by the PRC government. The
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of their
payrolls to the retirement benefit schemes to fund the benefits. The
only obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit

scheme is to make the required contributions.

Payments to the ORSO Scheme, the MPF Scheme and the state-
sponsored pension schemes of approximately HK$229,411,000
(2019: HK$237,168,000) had been charged to profit or loss. As
at 31 December 2020, contributions of HK$14,865,000 (2019:
HK$15,478,000) due in respect of the reporting period had not
been paid over to the plans. The amounts were paid subsequently
to the end of reporting period. There is no forfeited contributions
that may be need to reduce the existing level of contributions under
the Company’s ORSO Scheme, MPF Scheme and state-sponsored

pension schemes.
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RIRBERIFTE

AEE RN —IEIRER S RIRE
165)5E M 2 e BB BT 8 ([ B 3R KT
2l MRS AR EAN =T
TE+Z AR zaHIEATE ST E
([eaFESETE]) - RSB EERAK
SEZEESHEE  WIREARBER
NEHIZ ES - B BTEE R8I 280
E2NEERKAEZIES  RKA
BERAKTEIRABSHE ZKE -
FIAER_ZZEE+ AR 2B MAKR
SEZHEEBNELNEESHE - B
BRASEEHEREEH S Z210%E
B BhBR SRR BIE R 3R - IRIRoaTE
SEE BEEXRHEBSEAREESM
B A% AT EIEL 5K - & Ak
U A _EBR A30,000/8 0 ( =T — L4 ¢
30,0007 7T) °

FEMBARZEEATEBMFEEZ
BRERNTEKE - ZEHERA]
ARFEXHZRE AN LRARKE
FEHE - UXNERRERN - AEEFER
RENEETT - BEERXNME

R o

MBERAKTE  BESHERERA
REPERFTEZINZHANAB
229,411,000 B T ( = & — 1L F
237,168,000 ) * B BEBmPHE
R-Z-BEF+-A=+—8 RR&E
HAR B B 2 £ 3014,865,0008 T (= F
— L& ¢ 15,478,000 7T ) I A A+ F 3%
LHE - ZEFBEBRIREHBLERED
ST o EARTRBZERIRETE - &
et g REREERARAET @ L
BB UMEFUARREIR B S FROKTE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE I ERARMIEE

43. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES
ARISING FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.
Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s
consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing

43.

e
4
b3
o]
at
a
B
alj

METBHEEZER/Z
iR

TR AEERETDEL 2 AER
8 SRASMFRSEE -  BRERD
EEZABEERERECH » FORKHR
EREBFNAKENGEARERERD

BRRELBMERSRENAE -

activities.
Lease Bank Interest Dividend
liabilities borrowings payable payable Total
HEaE RITEE ERFS EfRE EH)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AL AT TEL TET BT
RZZ-nF—-A—H
At 1 January, 2019 (restated) (EEqt) 12,386 27,513,681 24,096 - 27,550,163
Financing cash flows REHETRE (2,926) (3,125,280) (848,617 (1,514,080) (5,490,903)
New leases entered HEIHE 365 . - _ 365
Acquisition of subsidiaries B AR
(Note 34(b)) (Fi5E34(0)) 3,024 32,500 - - 35,524
Interest expenses recognised PNRABRREDR
in the consolidated MEEZ
statement of profit or loss 584 - 751,417 - 752,001
Interest expense capitalised BB AR - - 92,209 - 92,209
Dividend declared on ordinary shares 255 & imRA% 2 - - - 1,061,413 1,061,413
Dividend declared to non-controling 2 RBARZ
shareholders of subsidiaries FEBRRRER RS - - - 452,667 452,667
Exchange adjustments R (219) (10,992) - - (11,211)
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NE+-A=+—H 13214 24,409,909 19,105 - 24442,208
Financing cash flows RMERLRE (3,842) (7,232,428) (552,278) (1,850,863) (9,639,411)
New leases entered HHE 3,346 - - - 3,346
Interest expenses recognised NRRBREERN
in the consolidated FEFES
statement of profit or loss 597 - 456,582 - 457,179
Interest expense capitalised BRI BRX - - 84,449 - 84,449
Dividend declared on ordinary shares B8k Z IR E - - - 1,524,073 1,524,073
Dividend declared to non-controling 2B ARZ
shareholders of subsidiaries FERBRERE RS - - - 2,257,500 2,257,500
Exchange adjustments fE 5 % 689 53,365 - - 54,054
At 31 December 2020 RZE-FF+-A=1—H 14,004 17,230,846 7,858 1,930,710 19,183,418

—EoEsss EE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RARMEE

44. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Group entered into the following significant transactions with
related parties during the year.

Sales of goods to subsidiaries of a shareholder ¥z &2 E B 8 A2 HH)
with significant influence on the Group BRERMBARHEEER
Purchase of goods from subsidiaries of a MEAEBMESERTE NN
shareholder with significant influence on RERM B A RREER

the Group

Sales of goods to a non-controlling shareholder [ —f&1fT @ A 7).~ JEIZEAE AL B8
of a subsidiary HEEM

Purchase of goods from an associate m—AEBE A RHEEE.

Sales of properties to certain Directors and METESERZEEEN
close family members of the Directors HEREKBHNEDE

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

44, BEALIRS

AEBEEATEFRNETIEAR
ST e

2020 2019
—ECEH TN
HK$’000

T

HK$’000
TR

315,451 495,127
815,245 883,086
25,391 42,587
157,368 238,002
1,263,925 -

Save for the purchase of goods from an associate, the transaction
above constituted connected transaction of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Included in trade and other receivables and prepayments at
31 December 2020 was an amount due from a non-controlling
shareholder of a subsidiary of approximately HK$6,403,000 (2019:
HK$6,349,000) which was in trade nature. The Group allowed credit
periods of up to 120 days (2019: 120 days), depending on the
products sold to its related parties.

Included in trade and other payables as at 31 December 2020 was an
amount due to an associate of HK$6,875,000 (2019: HK$5,049,000)
and a joint venture of HK$137,500,000 (2019: HK$137,500,000)
which were in non-trade nature, unsecured, non-interest bearing and
repayable on demand.

Included in trade and other receivables as at 31 December 2020
was no amount due from subsidiaries of a shareholder (2019:
HK$96,026,000) which was in non-trade nature, unsecured, non-
interest bearing and repayable on demand.
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B — RS A TR @00+ RIE L
MRAIE14AT LR BWAAAT
HER S, -

R-ZE-_TF+_HA=+—H BHK
HmBERERRBEAFEREBNE
S 2 FEUR— M B A R 2 EE AR AR
HFKTE#6,403,0008 70 ( — T — NL4F ¢
6,349,000 7T ) ° ANEE M HEEA T
BHZEEBHZRAI120B(ZZE—N
F :1208) - RTAEEZERME °

RZZE_ZEF+_A=1+—HENEZH
MEMEMERBEBEERENS —MEEQ
AFIE 496,875,000 7L ( —E— L4 ¢
5,049,000 7t ) RER —HE& & A Al
3K IE137,500,0008 T (=T — L F ¢
137,500,000/870) * BIERXZ ML - &
A Tt B AEER(EE -

RZZE-_ZEF+_A=1+—HENESH
MEMBEWERERBETMERK —%
BREOMBRARMNFKE(ZZ—NF :
96,026,00087T) * BIEXHMHE - &
A - Tt B AEER(EE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE I ERARMIEE

b3
J
at
a
B
alj

44. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 44. BEALTXRF )

(continued)
Compensation of key management personnel FEEEASME
The remuneration of Directors and other members of key FRCEENHMTEEEAE S
management during the year was as follows: U
2020 2019
i e 23 —E-NEF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Short-term employee benefits 2 HAtE A 214,747 216,836
Post-employment benefits RIRIRAE T 1,827 1,805
Share-based payments LARRD A 3R - 180,441
216,574 399,082
The remuneration of Directors and key executives is determined by EERTBTRABZMESEHFNEZE
the remuneration committee having regard to the performance of SEEFEENBEIRBMTSBEEE
individuals and market trends. E °

—Z-ZHFEH I



258 KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RARMEE

45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 45 #AAFRFEMBATZ
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY 1R

(@ General information of subsidiaries (@ MBATN—RER
Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 RIBZZFR-_T—NEF+=
December 2020 and 2019 are as follows: A=+—8 ' ARREXENBER

RLZEFBIT -

Place of
incorporation/
registration Issued and fully paid Effective equity interest
Name of subsidiary and operation share capital/registered capital held by the Group Principal activities

AL/ Bk
HEAREE LESiE BRARMRRA/ERER AEEGECERRE  IERR

2020 2019 2020 2019
“3CEF “2-NE

Jamplan (BVI) Limited British Virgin Islands * US$1,000 US$1,000 100* 100" Investment holding
EERAES 10007 1,000%7 REER
Kingboard (Fogang) Laminates Co. Limted ~ PRC! US$29,466,000 1S$29,466,000 317 6949 Manufacture and distribution
B () BERARAA e 29,466,000£7 29,466,000 T2 of laminates
LERAHERER
Kingboard (Fogang) Paper Laminates Co. Ltd.  PRC! US$17,936,546 US$17 936,546 317 6949 Manufacture and distribution
B () BRERARDA e 17,936 546£ 70 17,036 54657 of laminates
LERAHERER
Kingboard (Hebei) Cokechem Co. Limited PRC RMB200,000,000 RMBY03,672,940 100 100 Manufacture and distribution
B (Tit) £ BRAT G AR%200,000000%  AX903672.9407 of acetic acid
SR HER
Kunshan Guo Rui Development Co. Ltd. PRC! US$90,000,000 1S$90,000,000 100 100 Property developments
EILEREZERAR e 90,000,000% 7 90,000,000%TC NFER
Golden Conoept Development Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 HK$10,000 68 68 Property developments
(‘Golden Concept Bk 10,0007 10,0007 NELR

HERRRAT ([2%E))

Heng Yang Kingboard Chemical Co., Ltd. PRC! HK$30,000,000 HK$30,000,000 100 100 Manufacture and distribution
EEREIARAG G 30,000,0007% 30,000,005 of caustic soda
HERAHRR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE I ERARMIEE

45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

45.

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

(@)

Name of subsidiary

HEARER

Kingboard (Lianzhou) Fibre Glass Co. Limited
B (2)) BREEERAT

Kingboard Copper Foil Holdings Limited

Kingboard Investments Limited

BRREERAR

KLHL®

BERERARERAD

Kingboard Laminates (Jiangmen) Co., Lid.

IFRERERARLT

Kingboard (Jiangsu) Chemical Co., Ltd.
BE (15 L TERAR

Kingboard Laminates (Kunshan) Co., Ltd
BEEER (B) BRAT

Elec & Eltek International Holdings Limited
R EEREEERAR

EEIC
RHzEEERR AT

General information of subsidiaries (continued)

Place of
incorporation/
registration
and operation

Issued and fully paid
share capital/registered capital

HRAL/ AR
LESiE

BRRARRA/ EREK
2020 2019
==L 2-h%

PR US$13,700,000 US$13,700,000
B 13,700,000£7 18,700 000570
Bermuda# US$72,250,000 1S$72,250,000
[y 72,250000% 7 722500005
Hong Kong # HK$8,000 HK$8,000
Bt 8,000%7 8,007
Cayman Islands * HK$308,100,000 HK$308,100,000
Fene 308,100,000/ 7 308,100,007t
PRC! HK$242,800,000 HK$242,800,000
i 242,800,003 242 800,007
PRC? US$32,000,000 1S$32,000,000
i 32,000,000%7 32,000,007
PRC? US$32,010,000 1S$32,010,000
i 32,010,000%7 32,010,000%7
Bermuda/ HK$122,467,240 HK$122,467,240
Hong Kong * 122,467,240% 70 122,467 24057
BRE/AN
Singapore * US$113,800,000 1S$113,800,000
gt 113,800,000% 7 113,800,007

(@)

biNg
15 @

=%

Bl

ENBATZ

F 2 R —RER ()

Effective equity interest
held by the Group

KRB ERRE

2020

7347

7347

7347

7347

7347

69.49

69.49

69.49

69.49

69.49

100

7363

Principal activities

Manufacture and distribution
of glass fabric

RERD HRRGED

Investment holding

REAR

Investment holding

REAR

Investment holding

REAR

Manufacture and distribution
of laminates

ERADHERER

Manufacture and distribution
of chemicals

RERN B TER

Manufacture and distribution
of laminates

SERDHERER

Investment holding

RALH

Investment holding

RARK

]

—Zz-z£4xR
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KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE M RARMEE

45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

(@ General information of subsidiaries (continued) (@)

Name of subsidiary

HEARER

Kaiping Elec & Eftek Company Limited
AFAHREETARAT

Kaiping Elec & Eftek No. 3 Limited
FERHR 5= ARAT

Kaiping Elec & Eftek No. 5 Company Limited
RTGNZEEFELERAT

Elec & Eltek (Guangzhou) Electronic
Company Limited
fHIZE (BN) EFERAA

Guangzhou Elec & Eftek Microvia
Technology Limited
BMGHZE BN RARAT

Huizhou Chung Shun Chemical
Company Limited
BMEELIERAA

Shi'You Chemical (Yangzhou) Co,, Ltd
ERILI (BN BRAR

Kingboard Electronic Raw Material
(Jiang Yin) Co., Ltd
BESTIH (IB) ARAA

B ANNUAL REPORT 2020

15 )

Place of
incorporation/
registration
and operation

Issued and fully paid
share capital/registered capital

Effective equity interest
held by the Group

HRAL/ AR
LESiE

BRARMRRA/ HRES
2020
.

KRB ERRE
2020
b i3

%

2019
“E-NE

PRC? 1S$49,520,000 13849,520,000 95 6995
R 4952000057 4952000057
PRC? US$87,800,000 13$87,800,000 95 6995
R 87,800,005 87,800,005
PRC? US$30,075,100 13$30,075,100 95 6995
g 30,075,100£7 30075, 10057
PRC? 1S$95,596,000 13895,596,000 9 7216
e 95,596,000% 7 95,506, 000
PRC? 1S$24,800,000 13$24,800,000 9 7216
s 24,800,005 24,800,005
PRC! 1S$40,290,000 13840,200,000 100 100
RE! 40,200,005 40290000570
PRC! US$144,237,000 US$144,237,000 100 100
) 144,237,000£ 70 144,937 000
PRC' 1S$30,000,000 13$30,000,000 7347 6949
mE! 30,000,000 7 30,000,005

45. XABTETEH B D A

MELR—RERE)

Principal activities

IEER

Manufacture and distribution
of PCBs
SERARERIFHER

Manufacture and distribution
of PCBs
SERARERIFHER

Manufacture and distribution
of PCBs
SERARERIFHER

Manufacture and distribution
of PCBs
SERARERIFHER

Manufacture and distribution
of PCBs
SERARERIFHER

Manufacture and distribution
of phenol/acetone

RERAHRE/ A8

Refining and distribution
of chemicals

RERN B TER

Manufacture and distribution
of laminates

ERADHERER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE I ERARMIEE

45. PARTICUL
SUBSIDIARI

(continued)

L 45 XA ETENB AT
Y ’%(g

(@  General information of subsidiaries (continued) (@ MELIR—RERE

Place of
incorporation/
registration Issued and fully paid Effective equity interest
Name of subsidiary and operation share capital/registered capital held by the Group Principal activities
e/ Bk
WRARER e

BRARMRRS/ERER AREGECERRE  EEER

22 2019 220 2019
2 “EnE ’

Kingboard (Guangzhou) High New Material ~ PRC* RMB250,000,000 RMB250,000,000 73147 69.49  Manufacture and distrioution
Company Limited il AR%250,000000  AK%250,000,00070 of chemicals
(Formerly known as Kinghoard BERAHLIER
(Panyu Nansha) Petrochemical
Company Limited

B (RN) BH R ARAR
(FomeE (BEEY) BlARLR)

* The Company directly holds the equity interest in Jamplan (BVI) * RATE#ERA Jamplan (BVI)
Limited. The Company’s equity interest in all other subsidiaries is Limited 2 i 4 AR QBIRET
held indirectly through Jamplan (BVI) Limited. BHEMME A B ZREYE

iBJamplan (BVI) Limitedf{Z
ESEIK
# These are investment holding companies which have no specific # hERREERAT - W&

principal place of operations.

@ EEIC was listed on The Singapore Exchange Securities Trading
Limited, and withdrew listing of the shares on 25 September
2020.

a These companies are listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. EEIC was delisted on 25
September 2020.

1 These companies were established in the PRC in the form of
Wholly Foreign-owned Enterprises. the English names of these
companies are for identification purpose only.

2 These companies were established in the PRC in the form of
Sino-Foreign Equity Joint Venture. the English names of these
companies are for identification purpose only.

FEZ ERISEHE -

R 22 32 BT N3 22 5 BT o
FRHBERAA LT - WR
ZEEFAAZTRHER
o

WERRREBBAERSAT
E@ AlER LT o f&F %
ERZZEZTFNAZTH
AR o

UIERR AN EBELE
FAERBEKL - ZERQF
ME XL TRE MR

hERARTIAFINEEER
m%ﬁﬁi*&qﬂ Bl AvAR EZZI?
RNAIME X ETREHZR -

ERFIIIAEERATIEZER
SEXEREEZAR TMTJ%
A - BEERRIILHEMMER
ZHBEENTE -

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results
or assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries
would, in the opinion of the Directors, result in particulars of
excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the EHB AR R F ARSI EREITE
end of the year. fAfERHES o

—EoTasy I
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RARMEE

45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 45. XABFEWNB A TF

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY 1 e

(continued)

(@  General information of subsidiaries (continued) (@ MEAR—RERE
At the end of the reporting period, the Company has other HARNRW FAEBANEMMER
subsidiaries that are not material to the Group. The principal A o ZEMB AR T BEKE
activities of these subsidiaries are summarised as follows: AMAAT -

Number of subsidiaries

MEAREE
Principal activities Principal place of business 2020 2019
TBEH EBEEE —E=%F —E-NF
Manufacture and sale of laminates PRC 30 30
B N HE B E R A
Macau 1 2
JEFT
Thailand 1 1
ZE
32 33
Manufacture and sale of PCBs Hong Kong 4 4
BU3E 2 SH 6 EDRI AR BE AR 6
PRC 15 15
H
Macau 2 3
JEFT
Thailand 1 1
ZE
22 23
Manufacture and sale of chemicals PRC 19 20
BE RIS TER i
Properties Hong Kong 18 18
ZJES B
PRC 53 53
H
United Kingdom 5 5
ES
76 76
149 152
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE I ERARMIEE

45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

(b)

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group
acquired additional interests in certain subsidiaries for a
consideration of HK$2,607,089,000 (2019: HK$414,616,000).
In addition, during the year ended 31 December 2020,
proceeds of HK$327,210,000 from exercise of share options
of a subsidiary was received by the Group. As a result, the
difference of HK$604,567,000 (2019: HK$10,258,000)
between the net consideration paid of HK$2,279,879,000
(2019: HK$414,616,000) and the amount of non-
controlling interests acquired of HK$1,675,312,000 (2019:
HK$424,874,000) was directly recognised in goodwill reserve.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, HK$358,400,000
was paid (2019: nil) to non-controlling shareholders of a
subsidiary as a result of capital redemption without change in
the shareholding.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group partially
disposed its interests in a subsidiary without losing the control
over this subsidiary for the consideration of HK$529,257,000
(2020: nil). The difference of HK$156,492,000 (2020: nil)
between the increase in the non-controlling interests and the
consideration received has been recognised in the goodwill
reserve.

EEHEEERAA

45. A AT ETEM B QA

15 )

(b)

HE_Z-_TF+A=+—
H JLEE KEBUEE TH
BAARINEIIERD  KER
2,607,089,000 B (=& — 11
4 414,616,000587T) © SN -
HEZZ-_TF+A=+—
HIEFE  AEEBRE—
B8 A R AT B AR B8 3K
18 327,210,000 8 7t ° A It
BT B F582,279,879,000/%8
T (=ZZT— L4 : 414,616,000
VST BT JE I R = 2 5
1,675,312,0008 L (=& — N,
G 424,874,000/8 7T ) 2 =58
604,567,000/8 (= ZF—NF :
10,258,000/ ) E B R &
HEP R -

RE E2020F 12 A31 H 1t
FE - BEAXEDRIMmR—H
B B8 A &) &9 JE 5 AR A% R S A
358,400,000 & 7T ( 2019 £
) BB B o

HEZZ—hF+ZA=+—
HIEFE  XAEBURE
529,257,000 T (ZE =&

F - gé)Ed:.,\ﬁA EQG NS
R M TR EHZMBA
A7 PRI o SEIERR MR IE 1N K
2 RAE 2 82 156,492,000/7%
TEB(ZZEZTF  M)ERE
BAEER -

“EEFFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RARMEE

45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 45 AATEXEKEAFF
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY B

(continued)

(c) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that (o) BBEERFEREZZE
have material non-controlling interests 2EREMBLRFE
The table below shows details of non-wholly owned TREF|HER EAIE RS
subsidiaries of the Group that have material non-controlling REBF E2EMBE ARG
interests:

Proportion of ownership
Place of incorporation interests and voting
and principal place of rights held by non- Profit (loss) allocated to Accumulated
Name of subsidiary business controlling interests non-controlling interests  non-controlling interests

EMRLR FERESEERRERL PREFERER

HEAREE TSR RREEEDLL 2R (58 EHE Y

2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
e R o =T T BT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

B FEL AR ‘

KLHL # Cayman Islands 26.83% 30.51% 752,014 732,894 3,845,561 5,705,561
RERER FEES

Golden Concept Hong Kong 32% 32% 333,526 (4,399) 855,287 880,161
28 ik

Individually immaterial subsidiaries with non-controlling interests 39,929 (53,936) 232,955 1,195,363

AIEERER . BT EANBAR

1,125,469 674,509 4,933,803 7,781,085

# excluding non-controlling interests of KLHL subsidiaries. # TREEERERMB AR
RFEE AR RS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE I ERARMIEE

45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 45 ZXABFEMNEB A TF

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

(©

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that (c)
have material non-controlling interests (continued)

KLHL and subsidiaries

15 )

BEEAFERERZH
ZEBREMBARRE®
BEERERENELT

2020 2019

“ECEF —T—hF

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FET T

Current assets TREVAE 17,955,745 14,704,287

Non-current assets SEMENEE 8,420,170 11,098,884

Current liabilities mENAE 11,677,269 5,318,256

Non-current liabilities ERBEE 310,635 1,735,836

Equity attributable to owners RATFA AR

of the Company 10,487,504 12,995,861

Non-controlling interests of KLHL ETE B IEIE AR 3,845,561 5,705,561
Non-controlling interests of KLHL's EEREERAME AR

subsidiaries IR R 54,946 47,657

Revenue ] 17,301,186 18,383,952

Expenses, other gains and losses FsE - Efthlias Kk EsiE 14,493,206 15,975,222

Profit for the year F 5 F 2,807,980 2,408,730

—Z-ZHFEH I
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KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RARMEE

45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

45. KRB ETEMEB AT

15 )

() Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that (c)
have material non-controlling interests (continued)
KLHL and subsidiaries (continued)

BREEAFERERZF
ERENELRFE®
BEEERRMEAR(E)

2020
-t 23
HK$’000
FTHEx
Profit attributable to owners of the Company KATIEE AERGF 2,050,871 1,669,353
Profit attributable to the non-controlling EERERIEE RS EF

interests of KLHL 752,014 732,894
Profit attributable to the non-controlling BERERNMB AR

interests of KLHL’s subsidiaries FEIERR A 2R P 5,095 6,483
Profit for the year FERGEF| 2,807,980 2,408,730
Other comprehensive income RRAEE AL

attributable to owners of the Company Hit2E 657,248 62,184
Other comprehensive income attributable to BB BRI

the non-controlling interests of KLHL Hip2mEes 241,000 27,301
Other comprehensive income (expense) EEEERME AR

attributable to the non-controlling interests FEE R (S A A

of KLHL’s subsidiaries FEYE(FX) 3,376 (2,301)
Other comprehensive income for the year REEEMEEEE 901,624 87,184
Total comprehensive income attributable to FYNSESYDN Al

owners of the Company 2HEMEEE 2,708,119 1,731,537
Total comprehensive income attributable to EEE BRI R S R

the non-controlling interests of KLHL 2HEMEEE 993,014 760,195
Total comprehensive income attributable to BEEERAME AR

the non-controlling interests of FEERR g IR,

KLHL’s subsidiaries EENEEE 8,471 4,182
Total comprehensive income for the year AEE2AMEBTE 3,709,604 2,495,914
Dividend paid to non-controlling interest SRR TIEEREER

of KLHL FEIERE (1,182) (1,843)
Net cash inflow from operating activities KEEHRERAFE 2,278,167 2,668,339
Net cash inflow from investing activities REESDHRSMAFE 3,298,881 1,216,111
Net cash outflow from financing activities BEESE SR ER (3,710,153) (4,727,945)
Net cash inflow (outflow) BERmACRT)F58 1,866,895 (845,338)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE I ERARMIEE

45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 45 ZXABFEMNEB A TF

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

(c) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that
have material non-controlling interests (continued)

15 )

) ERERFEREZZHE

97 2EREHBLRFEE)
Golden Concept Development Limited fleHRARAT
2020 2019
—EDEF —ZT-NF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET BT
Current assets TRENVEE 3,137,876 5,251,859
Current liabilities B EE 465,104 2,501,355
Equity attributable to owners of the CompanyZx 2 B35 8 A JE(5 x5 1,817,485 1,870,343
Non-controlling interests I IR i o 855,287 880,161
Revenue e 3,621,241 -
Expenses, other gains and losses Bz - Efblhss kg8 2,578,973 13,747
Profit (loss) for the year REEHEF (EB1R) 1,042,268 (13,747)

—EoTasy I
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RARMEE

45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 45,
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

(c) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that
have material non-controlling interests (continued)
Golden Concept Development Limited (continued)

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

ARBEEMBE LT

15 )

©) BBEEAFERBERZHE
ZEBREMBARRE(®
AEREERAR(E)

2020 2019
—ECEH —E-NEF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
THET FBT
Profit (loss) and total comprehensive RARFHE AEIEEF
income (expense) attributable to (E18) k2mWEs ()
owners of the Company ek 708,742 (9,348)
Profit (loss) and total comprehensive FEER S PR
income (expense) attributable to wA(Es ) k2R
the non-controlling interests Wes (R 4% 333,526 (4,399
Profit (loss) and total comprehensive INEERF(ER) R
income (expense) for the year PEE ()2 1,042,268 (13,747)
Net cash inflow (outflow) from LETEENIESIRA
operating activities (7 ) 548 977,816 (251,875)
Net cash (outflow) inflow from REES 2B ORE)
financing activities MAFRE (1,120,000) 400,000
Net cash (outflow) inflow Be Ot mAFE (142,184) 148,125
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

46. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

PRk MY

46.

AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

e
4
b3
o]
at
a
B
alj

2R\ 2 B AR O A
E G

2020
—2-%F

2019
—T-NF
HK$’000
T

HK$’000
FET

Non-current assets ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries R B AR ZIEE 1,690,578 1,509,805
Amounts due from subsidiaries A NG E e 24,500,488 12,688,306
Equity instruments at fair value BATEFABR =LA
through profit or loss 1,586,733 421,230
Debt instruments at fair value BAHERF AL MEE
through other comprehensive income Wz ESTIA - 749,610
27,777,799 15,368,951
Current assets MENVE E
Other receivables HAb U AR TR 189,470 211,700
Amounts due from subsidiaries A NGRS 7,440,000 22,209,678
Equity instruments at fair value BATEFABR =LA
through profit or loss 56,095 123,346
Bank balances RITHERR 57,407 108,863
7,742,972 22,653,587
Current liabilities BB E
Other payables H A FERTAR R 1,801,349 1,069,551
Amounts due to subsidiaries FERTBT B~ B FRIE 1,189,000 12,278,341
Bank borrowings — amount due within one year $R7T/&E — —FEREF|H 2 %18 4,000,000 3,283,550
6,990,349 16,631,442
Net current assets MEEEFE 752,623 6,022,145

—EoEsss EE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RARMEE

46. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 46. XA T Z BB R KB
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY R EEY

(continued)

2020 2019
—ECEF —E—NF
HK$’°000 HK$’000
FH&T T4
Total assets less current liabilities AEHEERREAR 28,530,422 21,391,096
Non-current liabilities SEmMEBIAE
Bank borrowings — amount due after one year  $RT{EE — — 14 5| Hl 2 I8 6,755,555 12,355,555
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEH B A R FIE 15,029,497 2,229,499
21,785,052 14,585,054
6,745,370 6,806,042
Capital and reserves AR EE
Share capital R 110,579 110,576
Reserves (Note) (MR 6,634,791 6,695,466
6,745,370 6,806,042
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

46. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

PRk MY

(continued)

Note:

Share
premium

RADB{E
HK$'000
BT

Capital
redemption
reserve
=%
e
HK$'000
I

. AR
ﬁﬁ%

Share-
based
payments
reserve
BARBH R
e
HK$'000

(&)

Investment
revaluation
reserve
RE
EftRE
HK$'000

Retained
profits

RERA
HK$’000
THT

4
b
J
at
@
B3
il

7] Z B F AR O %

Total

st
HK$'000
BT

Balance at 1 January 2019 —T-NE-A-BIEH® 6,074,903 1,911 - (90,402) 174067 6,160,479
Profit for the year FREF - - - - 1,087,781 1,087,781
Net changes arising from BATEF AR M2 EREER

debt instruments through BETAEL 2 ZEFE(HEa)

at FVTOC (Note ) - - - 54,990 - 54,990
Total comprehensive income REEPENGLHE

for the year - - - 54,990 1,087,781 1,092,771
Issue of new shares from 1T B AR M 3 T H AR (D

exercise of share options 517,105 - (107,134) - - 409,971
Recognition of equity-settled AUEREE RO T

share-based payments - - 132,625 - - 132,625
Final dividend for the year ended HE-T-\F+=ZA=+—H

31 December 2018 \HEEY RERE - - - — (758207)  (758,207)
Interim dividend for the year ended HE_T-NF+-RA=1+—H

31 December 2019 HFE RS - - - - (303,206) (303,206)
Repurchase and cancellation of RO Rt g @R (sEst)

ordinary shares (Note 31) (25,156) (13,811) - - - (38,967)

491,949 (13,811) 25,491 — (1,061,413 (557,784
=443 I
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE M RARMEE

46. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

Note: (continued)

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

46. ZIS%\EZEM%MR&{%

Capital

Share redemption

premium

RADE{E
HK$'000

BT

reserve

-2
BRI
HK$'000

e
87T

(#8)

BiRE : (B

Share-
based
payments
reserve
BARBH R
EA: 1
HK$'000
TET

Investment
revaluation
reserve
RE
EftRE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT FHT BIT

Retained

profits Total

REEF a5t

Balance at 31 December 2019 NIE-NE+-F=+—HHES 6,566,852 (11,900) 25,491 (35,412 150,435 6,695,466
Profit for the year FREF - - - - 1,427,081 1,427,081
Net changes arising from BATEF AR M2 E KSR

debt instruments through BETAEL 2 ZEFE(HEa)

at FVTOCI (Note 2) - - - 35,412 - 35,412
Total comprehensive income REEPENGLHE

for the year - - - 35,412 1,427,081 1,462,493
Issue of new shares from RITEEREM B THRN

exercise of share options 57,505 - (11,914) - - 45,591
Final dividend for the year ended HE-Z-NF+ZA=+—H

31 December 2019 FFEZRBBRE - - - - (662,430) (662,430)
Special final dividend for the year BE2_ZT-NhF+-A=1+—-H

ended 31 December 2019 HFE 2 FRIRBRE - - - - (652,025) (552,025)
Interim dividend for the year ended HE_Z-ZF+-A=1+-H

31 December 2020 HFE RS - - - - (309,618) (309,618)
Repurchase and cancellation of O R g mmR (isEst)

ordinary shares (Note 31) (58,497) 13,811 - - - (44,686)

(992 13,811 (11,914) - (1,524,073) (1,523,168)
Balance at 31 December 2020 RIZ-TE+-_B=+—HZ&# 6,565,860 1,911 13,577 - 53,443 6,634,791
Note: Bt 5T
(a) Net change arising from debt instruments through at FVTOCI represents (a) WAFEFAEMEEBENEREL

gain on fair value in debt instruments amounting to HK$35,412,000 (2019:

HK$54,990,000).
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Bl

INFORMATION ON THE GROUP’S PROPERTIES
KEYREFR

The following tables set out the Group’s material properties held for REETEHEREMEIINTE
investment:

Group’s interest

GFA (m?) rEEEFERER
Location Existing use Tenure BIEMEEE 2020 2019
ih B HEAZ Fizk:t (EFHXK) =B-BF ZTNF
% %
Delta House, 3 On Yiu Street, Shek Mun,  Office Medium term lease 33,000 100% 100%
Shatin, New Territories, Hong Kong B¥E R HAFE B

FRMAY A APILBRAIREENE

Oversea Trust Bank Building Office Medium term lease 2,000 100% 100%
5-7/F, No. 160 Gloucester Road, BT R HAFE A
Hong Kong

EBETITE16058IMET
SRITRES-7HE

Oversea Trust Bank Building Office Medium term lease 4,000 100% 100%
9-14/F, No. 160 Gloucester Road, BTiE R HAFE A
Hong Kong

EBETITE16058IME7T
SRITRE- 1442

Oversea Trust Bank Building Office Medium term lease 1,800 73% 69%
23/F, 26/F, 27/F, and Parking Space ~ 2F1& R ERFE ER
No. 9 and No. 10 on 2nd Floor,
No. 160 Gloucester Road, Hong Kong
RS TITE1605 MR
RITRE231E - 261 - 278 |

2129 N 105% BB L

One Aldgate, No. 1 Aldgate, London, Office Freehold 5,000 100% 100%
EC3N1AA, United Kingdom BTE KA EERE

88 to 93 Fenchurch Street, Office Freehold 8,000 73% 69%
5 and 7 Carlisle Avenue and Part of BEIE KAERE

Saracens Head Yard, London,
EC3M 4ST, United Kingdom

Moor Place, Fore Street, Office Freehold 21,500 100% 100%
London EC2Y 5BJ, United Kingdom BYIE KAERE

—E-TFEFR
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INFORMATION ON THE GROUP’S PROPERTIES

The following tables set out the Group’s material properties held for NEETFEHELEMEINTE : (8B)
investment: (continued)

Group’s interest

GFA (m?) rEERE#ER
Location Existing use Tenure BIEMEEE 2020 2019
ith 2 B AR HH (FHK) Z—B-BE —TNF
% %
Shanghai Modern Plaza, Office Medium term lease 17,000 100% 100%
369 Xian Xia Road, Changning District, % F1& AR HRFEHER

Shanghai, the PRC*
FE EEmRERIIERI69%

EERRES
Guangzhou Dongzhao Building, Shop, Office Medium term lease 91,000 100% 100%
No. 515 Dong Feng Central Road, i BFE FRHRFEHA

Yuexiu District, Guangzhou,
Guangdong Province, the PRC*

F IR BN T LTS [ R R A X 51657
BMERKE

Zhanfeng Commercial Building, Shop, Office Medium term lease 72,000 100% 100%
Zhujiang New Town 11-3, i BFE AR HRFEHA
Tianhe District, Guangzhou,
Guangdong Province, the PRC*
H B R B T KO (&
BRLETN-SHI R I R K E

Shanghai Kingboard Plaza Phase |, Shop, Office Medium term lease 297,000 100% 100%
224 Xin Jing Road, Changning District, 4 @ BFi# R ERFE AR
Shanghai, the PRC*

B TR ERITCE22458
EEREES

Huagiao Kingboard Plaza Phase |, Shop, Office Medium term lease 178,000 100% 100%
Kunshan City, Jiangsu Province, SOHO & Hotel A HAFHHER
the PRC* B BFE

AR I#RE LT SOHO KB I

TEfREES M
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Bl

INFORMATION ON THE GROUP’S PROPERTIES
SEYMEER

The following table sets out the Group’s material properties held for RNEBFBEFERMEINATE
development:

Approximate
percentage of
completion as Year of
at the date expected Gross floor Group’s interest

of thisreport  completion area (m? rEEBERES
Location BEERRERS S #EEERE Expected use 2020 2019
o ERRBRAER T RIEE (FHX) HEAR “E-EF  —TNE

% % %

Kingboard Qianhai Building, 7% 2023 88,000  Commercial 100% 100%
Neighbourhood 5, Area 4, GRS
Guiwan District, Shen Gang
Xian Dai Services Cooperation
District, Qianhai, Shenzhen
City,Guangdong Province,
the PRC*
HREERE AR RBRAREE
AEER A BRI TR R
AERE

Kunshan Centre 25% 2021-2028 1,111,000  Shops, Office & SOHO 75% 75%
South of Zhong Hua, % - =72 MSOHO
Yuan Road, West of
Huang Shan Road,
Development District, Kunshan City,
Jiangsu Province, the PRC*
HEIEHERILMHAER
HEREEAELEAGR LR

Lujia Kingboard Yu Garden, 94% 2021 299,000  Residential 100% 100%
West of Furong Road, IE=c
South of Nan Wei Road,
Lujia Town, Jiangsu Province,
the PRC*
hETEEERERREEE
EREARERREREE

Huagiao Kingboard Yu Garden Phase 6, 94% 2022 171,000  Residential 100% 100%
West of Yuan Guo Road, iz
North of Jin Song Road,

Huagiao Development District,

Jiangsu Province, the PRC*
HETHAERRARE  RERAMN

MBI AR REHRIER

* denotes English translation of Chinese addresses in the PRC for identification * FRED Y% 7 SO BN E B R i
purposes only
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276 KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
M=

RESULTS ¥E

Year ended 31 December
BE+=-A=1t—HILEFE
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
ZE—RF ZZT—tF ZZE-NF = —E-EHF

HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

T THETT THETT THETT FHET
(Restated) (RES EIEN))
(s &=3h) (e Eut)

Revenue e 36,103,078 43,371,270 45,994,419 41,160,851 43,510,274
Profit before taxation R A A 7,237,226 8,365,361 9,121,910 5,122,913 7,936,416
Income tax expense s> (1,075,209)  (1,531,177)  (2,051,710)  (1,353,933)  (2,108,063)
Profit for the year F Nz F) 6,162,017 6,834,184 7,070,200 3,768,980 5,828,353
Attributable to: AT ALEMLDEE :
Owners of the Company AR &E#HAF A 5,026,831 5,593,434 6,075,760 3,094,421 4,702,884
Non-controlling interests FEFE R RE A 1,135,186 1,240,750 994,440 674,559 1,125,469

6,162,017 6,834,184 7,070,200 3,768,980 5,828,353

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEEREE

At 31 December
R+=—A=t+-—8
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

T—R"F ZT—+tF ZT—)N\F ZT-NF ZBEHF
HK$ 000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

TR TR TR THTT FHET
Total assets BEME 76,420,563 88,294,383 94,430,339 97,035,126 93,249,138
Total liabilities BEEE (32,467,881) (34,570,663) (39,797,068) (39,065,476) (32,450,432)

43,962,672 53,723,720 54,633,271 57,969,650 60,798,706

Equity attributable to ViN/NCIE= =N
owners of the Company FE(G MR 37,687,004 46,039,519 47,332,985 50,188,565 55,864,903
Non-controlling interests eI M A 6,365,668 7,684,201 7,300,286 7,781,085 4,933,803
43,962,672 53,723,720 54,633,271 57,969,650 60,798,706
Note:  Interest income from debt instruments and dividend income from equity instruments MisE © DAEEFAEHMIEA - W R EBHERTAEZF
which were previously included in other income, gains and losses have been aqw\mgﬁglﬂzﬂ BWACDEFOIEELE
reclassified to revenue to conform with presentation in 2018. B UARAZZE—N\FZ220ARK -
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KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

23/F, Delta House, 3 On Yiu Street, Shek Mun, Shatin, N.T., Hong Kong
EEFAVHAMTRE=REEAE_1+=&

Tel B35 : (852) 2605 6493 Fax {85 : (852) 2691 5245

E-mail EE : enquiry@kingboard.com Web site #8311t : http://www.kingboard.com
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